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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Nt
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 5 B 22

HIGHLIGHTS B
For the year ended 31 March
MEZHAZ=Z+—HIREE
2017 2016
SEobE EOAE %
HK$°000 HK$°000 Change
o0 Tt ST
Operations B 2-gii
Revenue g 220,853 189,958 16.3%
Gross profit EF| 157,121 147,002 6.9%
EBIT (Note 1) EBIT (Fff5E1) 16,416 15,280 7.4%
Profit for the year attributable to: DU A BEAS 4R i A
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIE ZEDN 12,746 10,421 22.3%
Non-controlling interests FEFE A 25 (923) - 100.0%
11,823 10,421 13.5%
Earnings per share attributable to owners AN FVHEAT N REAG 45 1 21
of the Company (expressed in HK cents) (DAUSAL{H)
Basic HA 24 2.0 20.0%
Diluted s 24 2.0 20.0%
Note: B -
1. EBIT represents earnings before finance costs and taxation. 1. EBITHE 113 Rl i A B B0 I8 Aif i A1) o
As at 31 March
R=E=H=1+—H
2017 2016
—EF—LE RN %
HK$°000 HK$°000 Change
T#0 Tt )
Financial position RV
Total assets P 266,084 234,460 13.5%
Shareholders’ equity & A 4 212,044 179,380 18.2%
Net assets value per share (HKS$) B 0 E VRHE (M) 0.40 0.35 14.3%
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SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size

INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

4,000 shares

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2017:

*  Shares outstanding

*  Market capitalisation

*  Closing share price

¢ Earnings per share (basic)
e Interim:
e Final:

KEY DATES

* Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2017 annual general meeting

e Closure of register for 2017 annual general meeting

* 2017 annual general meeting

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Address 27/F., The Galaxy
313 Castle Peak Road
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2297 0000
Fax (852) 2755 9999
E-mail ir@royalmedic.com.hk
Website www.royalmedic.com

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

528,600,000 shares
HK$2,373,414,000
HK$4.49

HK cents

1.4

2.4

4:30 pm, 25 August 2017

28 —31 August 2017

31 August 2017

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of name
or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in writing

to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax (852) 2810 8185
E-mail is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
o el

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of RM Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), I would like to announce the annual results of

the Group.

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR

Though both of the turnover and profits were decreased during the first half of
the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (“FY2016/17”), with the efforts of all
dedicated staffs, the total revenue of the Group for FY2016/17 has achieved to
HKD220.9 million, representing an increase of 16.3% over last financial year. The
increase in turnover is mainly due to increase in revenue generated from private
label brand health supplements as well as more trading activities are engaged by

the Group. The net profits attributable to owners of the Company also increased to
HKD12.7 million from HKD10.4 million in 2015/16.

The Group’s overall gross profit margin for FY2016/17 decreased by 6.3% to
71.1% (2016: 77.4%) owing to the change of product mix.

DEDICATED FOCUS

Health is the foundation of wealth. Unfortunately, people in Hong Kong are
preoccupied with making a living and tend to neglect their well-being. True to the
“Royal Medic” mission of being the guardian of your health, we have consistently

developed and produced high-quality and high-efficacy health supplements.

PROSPECTS

In view of the continuous weak performance of Hong Kong’s retail market, in
addition to expanding the local sales platform through utilizing various media
and channels, the Group will also actively expand the retail market in other
Asia regions to increase its market share. To enhance the competitiveness of the
Group, the Group will continue to seek cooperation opportunities with different
organizations for research and development, so as to introduce more diverse and

well-structured products and further promote a healthy living culture.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Despite the unsatisfactory economic environment in Hong Kong in recent years,
the Group remains optimistic about its business development. During the reporting
period, the Group expanded into advertising business and participated in the
operation of gd.qq.com in Hong Kong through its subsidiary, through which the
Group not only expanded more product marketing channels to make its products
more widely known, but also practiced sustainable development, expanded its core
business and developed other revenue and cash flow sources, which is believed to
have a positive impact on the Group’s profitability. In view of the fast-developing
tendency of internet economy nowadays, the Group is highly optimistic about the
business development prospect of Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com (the “Hong
Kong station of gd.qq.com”). With the rising popularity of gd.qq.com in Mainland
China and Macau, together with various long-term plans established by the Group
and the Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com, the Group believes that the Hong Kong
station of gd.qq.com will be able to catch up with the pace of development of the
Mainland station and Macau station of gd.qq.com in the near future, thus to extend
the strengths of gd.qq.com in the Mainland to Hong Kong. The Group will continue
to devote more resources to develop the Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com to further
broaden the content of the website, with the aim of attracting advertising clients
from more regions, further enrich the Group’s diversified businesses and win the

best long-term interests for its shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
We wish to express our appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and
suppliers for their support during the year. We would like to thank our dedicated

staff to their contributions to the success of the Group.

By order of the Board

Chan Yan Tak
Chairman
Hong Kong

28 June 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong Kong,
the PRC and Taiwan. During the year under review, the Group exercised strategy
adjustment, and revoked the distributors’ sole distributorship agreement for the
PRC market, resulting in the substantial decrease of the business operation in the
PRC, and the Group is exploring other business models, distribution channels and
opportunities to develop the business and intends to expand the business in other
Asian regions. On the other hand, due to the continuously weak performance of
the retail sector in Hong Kong, the Group endeavored to enhance the turnover
and therefore caused more costs. Faced with various uncertain factors, the Group
actively expanded the sales and marketing channels of products in order to increase
the market share and enlarge existing core business to maintain the sustainable
development of the Group. In April 2017, the Group participated in the operation of
gd.qq.com in Hong Kong through its subsidiary Tenfok Asia to enter into the Hong
Kong and PRC online information and advertising business. The Group believes
that apart from the positive impact on the Company’s profit, the new business will
also bring the new opportunity to the Group amid the sluggish condition of retail

sector in Hong Kong.

The following table sets forth the revenue generated from new products introduced

by the Group during the two years ended 31 March 2017:

S5 o] g

AL EZRAEE - HE KRBT -
JBE B B gy DR AR 7 i DA B SR A i B i
A P [0 R A o SEICm 0e BE > BEL G 7 T
ARG O o R T A A B R A USSP R A8
B R > ACHE [ A Ak = 41 H Al i SE A
A~ 7 B SR T b R e S I ) 4
SR A L8 R P SE S 5 S — T AR S
TR > AEEBOMETI BB R A
PRI A7 T 40 o T A5 RS W B PR 2R > AR AR
ROk 11 J 2 i ) B A IR AR - AR R T 5 1 A
DA B B R BLUREAZ 00 2675 - (R4 S P P AR VE R o
SR BAEI A AR G 2 A R 2 ) A
ZHEH « KEFERFHKEE  EEFE LT
B A R B R S o AR BRI
R R A R W2 20 AR A TR
Fo IR ASE B A A -

MRS EZE - EEEA = H R m A
JRE AR 52 0 A A 0B E T BB AN B i

For the year ended 31 March
BEZN=1—HILEE

2017 2016
“E SENE
Number of Number of
new products new products
introduced Revenue introduced Revenue
BT e HUBTE i
Wi Weds i g
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THTT
Health supplements: PRAERE M -
Proprietary brands LU 8 1,551 2 3,261
Private label brands H % 7 5,278 3 3,960
Trading of goods MEE 14 10,719 8 128
29 17,548 13 7,349
Beauty supplements and products: SR Ak B i
Proprietary brands HUA B 2 44 1 5,258
Private label brands EPL = = - -
Trading of goods wmEE - - - -
2 44 1 5,258
Total st 31 17,592 14 12,607
8 Annual Report 2016/2017 4E R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2017, the Group sold and distributed 38 (2016: 34) health
supplements and 9 (2016: 9) beauty supplements and products under its proprietary
brands; 49 (2016: 41) health supplements and 6 (2016: 8) beauty supplements
and products under the Distribution Facilitator’s private label brands; 20 (2016:
15) health supplements and Nil (2016: 1) beauty supplements and products under
trading of goods.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue — Business segments
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by business

segments for the two years ended 31 March 2017:

o B i 52 43 e

N E-LEZA = A HE S8
38 B IRAF 3450 BLA i MR 1 E i 9Kk
(=754 9FK) Bl RS2 25l i B e & 5 49
TN T 4130 o B ACER A B 5 R f
FE b Je 6K (B NAE ¢ 83K) r 8 AR K G
i A A B i 5 200K (B —ONAF L 150 T
i BB A PR AR T R R (RN AR O B
B LM R o

S 755 el R

Wtk — S8 53K

TR E = F—LE=A =+ H WA
T 445 43 0 53 7 S 3 19 ST

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZH=1—HILEE

2017 2016
e SENE
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HKS$’000 revenue
Tl W fh AR R
T [EFid’a THIT Bt
Business segments Ewr T
Health supplements PR AR i 179,844 81.4% 160,870 84.7%
Beauty supplements and products T i TR 26,481 12.0% 27,484 14.5%
Others HoAth 14,528 6.6% 1,604 0.8%
Total HEE 220,853 100.0% 189,958 100.0%

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$220.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$190.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$30.9 million or 16.3% over the last year. The Group’s revenue
attributable to health supplements increased by approximately HK$18.9 million
or 11.7% to HK$179.8 million (2016: HK$160.9 million), while its revenue
attributable to beauty supplements and products decreased by approximately
HK$1.0 million or 3.6% to HK$26.5 million (2016: HK$27.5 million), for the year
ended 31 March 2017. Revenue attributable to others increased by approximately
HK$12.9 million or 9 times over the last year to HK$14.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$1.6 million).

WEZE—LEZA = —HIEEE s REFN
Wiz 25 14 90 4930,900,000 7 7T 2 %7220,900,000 5 7T
(= FE—754F 1 190,000,000% 70) > [A] Hb 25 4F 14 g
163% - BME_F—LFE=H=Z1T—HILFE
A A5 ) R Ak 7 M AL A 45 38 0 44 18,900,000 5
JC % 179,800,000 %% 76 ( —ZF — 75 4E 160,900,000
W5I0) o AR 11.7% - T S 2548 dh B s B A i 25
AL 72 £91,000,000 # JC & 26,500,000 % 96 (%
— 754 27,500,000 00) > WIE3.6% - BE E
— A= H = H R AR R Al A i 2R
A3 4 12,900,000 7T 5L 9F% % 14,500,000 5 JC
(T F—754F ¢ 1,600,000%5C) o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group’s top 4 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed to
approximately HK$78.6 million or 35.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group’s top 4 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed to
approximately HK$73.1 million or 38.5% of the Group’s total revenue.

Proprietary brands health supplements

The Group’s revenue attributable to proprietary brands health supplements
decreased by approximately HK$6.1 million or 5.7% to HK$101.8 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$107.9 million). The decrease in revenue was
attributable to different scheduling of one day special promotion event of health

supplements being held during the year.

Private label brands health supplements

Revenue attributable to private label brands health supplements increased by
approximately HK$9.4 million or 18.1% to HK$61.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2017 (2016: HK$52.0 million). The increase in revenue attributable to
the first time engaging a brand ambassador to promote the private brand health
supplements in Hong Kong and also because more new products were launched for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

Trading of health supplements

Revenue attributable to trading of health supplements increased by approximately
HKS$15.7 million to HK$16.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016:
HK$1.0 million). It was due to the introduction of certain new trading products in

the health supplement market.

Beauty supplements and products

Revenue attributable to beauty supplements and products decreased marginally by
approximately HK$1.0 million or 3.6% to HK$26.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2017 (2016: HK$27.5 million).

10 Annual Report 2016/2017 4E R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Others

Revenue attributable to others increased by approximately HK$12.9 million or
9 times to HK$14.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$1.6
million). The incremental portion mainly represents provision of health food

processing services.

Revenue - Sales and distribution
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
distribution channels for the two years ended 31 March 2017:

o B i 52 43 e

HAl
BEZEZ—LEZA = IR HAREL,
Wi 2 B 149 12,900,000 9 JT B9 A% % 14,500,000 7
TG (U —NAF 1 1,600,000 70) o B4y 42 5
Ty PR AR A 5 m AR -

Wi — 898 Mo &
TREHIEE T CEZA =+ LW RS
JEE 253 SR A B Jp AR SR B AR A 20

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z+—HIELGE

2017 2016
e S w2 ZERF
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$°000 revenue
gstien e

T#IT [ERg:e THET (e

Shelves in the Distribution A EHACHLE &l B 248

Facilitator’s stores 125,419 56.8% 116,071 61.1%
SDCs located in the Distribution A B A Bl 10 45 1 48 e A A

Facilitator’s stores 68,095 30.8% 50,715 26.7%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) Hofth - S8 U278 (K 3E1) 16,140 7.3% 11,436 6.0%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo kT e 10,131 4.6% 10,132 5.3%
Others (Note 2) HoAth (Fff5E2) 1,068 0.5% 1,604 0.9%
Total st 220,853 100.0% 189,958 100.0%

Note 1: “Other distribution channels” includes a distribution facilitator in Taiwan and the PRC, the
Wisdom Club, wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics.

Note 2: “Others” mainly includes service income generated by Royal Medic Chinese Medicine

Clinics.

BREREL + TECA T 9 3R2E | A0S & i R b B 2 7 s AU - it
B~ LB S A B gy

WFRE2 + [l ) R E R A e 5 v 8 rp 3 B 2 IRBEA o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 17 (2016: 17) Royal Medic SDCs and 20
(2016: 20) Health Proof SDCs in the Distribution Facilitator’s stores in Hong
Kong.

Revenue — Geographical segments
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by geographic
segments for the two years ended 31 March 2017:

ATE-LHEZAZt—H > AEBR AR
B B R O A R LT (T R4 171 12
R TIE B ML 2208 (= F—7R4F - 2010 FRE
R 1 4 RE HEAE @

Wedt — Mo fas 73
TREFIRE T LEZA =T HIEWEE
JEE 43 30 0 43 S P 65 19 4B

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1—HILEE

2017 2016
e S i ZERAE
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$’000 revenue
Al B8 W 75 f AU 2

T8 [ifigae Tk T [Ey:4

Hong Kong s 220,620 99.9% 178,936 94.2%
The PRC e - - 10,559 5.6%
Taiwan =2 233 0.1% 463 0.2%
Total HEr 220,853 100.0% 189,958 100.0%
Cost of sales B B A

The Group’s cost of sales primarily comprises of cost of raw materials and
packaging materials, labour costs related to production and/or packaging of the
Group’s products, write down of inventories, provision for goods return and

subcontracting or contract manufacturing costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B 2L i B

Gross profit and gross profit margin eV ESYIES

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s gross profit and gross ~ F XN EE —F—L4E=H =1+—H IEWR4E
profit margin by operating segments for the two years ended 31 March 2017: AT S84 Ay R BN 4y AL B B A S B Z A AT

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z+—H IS

2017 2016
L L
HK$°000 % HK$°000 %
T [Ep:dA T [Epinia
Health supplements: PR A i -

Proprietary brands B 5 76,308 74.9 % 83,201 77.1%
Private label brands e 51,328 83.7% 44,559 85.7%
Trading of goods HamEE 7,428 44.6 % 548 55.8%
135,064 75.1% 128,308 79.8%

Beauty supplements and products: LA o L
Proprietary brands HA AR 18,425 70.2% 17,225 65.1%
Private label brands EPT 106 48.4% 69 7.0%
Trading of goods s EE - - 27 54.6%
18,531 70.0 % 17,321 63.0%
Others HiAh 3,526 24.3% 1,373 85.6%
Total st 157,121 71.1% 147,002 77.4%
Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$157.1 #E _F—tLFE=H =+—HILFE » EFH

million (2016: HK$147.0 million), representing an increase of approximately 157,100,000 #5 G ( & — 75 4F 147,000,000 #5
6.9% over last year. The gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31  JC) » [a] Lk L F IR /5 406.9% - #E & — L4
March 2017 was approximately 71.1% (2016: 77.4%), representing a decrease of ~ — H =+ — H IL4EE > AEEEFRHL71.1%
approximately 6.3% over last year, which was mainly due to the change of product ~ ( ~ZE—7X4F 1 77.4%) > [A] lb X480 416.3% »

mix. T ph 7 A B I A AL TR o

RM Group Holdings Limited 7815 3% 55 8 5 1 G R 2 =]

13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

Other revenue and other net loss

The Group’s other revenue and other net loss was HK$0.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$0.2 million). The Group’s other revenue and
other net loss primarily comprised of sales of packaging materials, exchange
gain, bank interest income, net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and disposal of subsidiaries. During the year ended 31 March 2017, no other loss
arising from the disposal of subsidiary included in the Group’s other revenue and
other net loss (2016: HK$0.9 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses principally consist of (i) advertising
and promotion expenses on advertisements through various channels including TV
media, printed media, outdoor advertising and digital media as well as engagement
of artistes as brand ambassadors to endorse the Group’s products; (ii) commission
paid to sales promoters; and (iii) exhibition expenses. The following table sets forth
the breakdown of the major items of the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
for the two years ended 31 March 2017:

Al W e Al s 4R Y A
BE-EZ-LHE =A==+ —HI4EE > AR
) At g A S JEC At s 48 A 4% 200,000 7T ( %
—75AF 1 200,000%5 9T ) o A< 4 [ At i g A A
PR A A I S A R~ BB - 4R
TIRLEUEA ~ HEWE - RE Rl X & it
BAFRKEER - 8E X —-LE=H=+—H
TRAFERE > A [0 EL b Ui 25 B ELAth s 18 3% A8 816 41 f
o b B e A D E AR ) H A IR (N AR
900,000 75 o

SH s B A B BH

A% B2 [ 1) 6 B S 1 B S T LA () 18 4R AN [R] 42
AR B - BRI T AN E S R T
A AT 5 (0 B B R B S DA R TR BT
AR A5 B EE G 09 BT K8 5 (i) A 85 B 9 R Al
o RGi)REEH - TRENEE-F—L
B = H b A A A B B R A 6 B
ST

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z+—HILGE

2017 2016
—F L4 TR

HK$°000 % HK$’000 %

T#T FfiEari T b EA L

Advertising and promotion expenses AR AR B 32 24,627 56.1% 22,765 56.5%
Commission charges A E= 16,607 37.9% 14,087 35.0%
Exhibition expenses JESH e B 1,548 3.5% 1,860 4.6%
Others HoAth 1,091 2.5% 1,581 3.9%
Total Ml 43,873 100.0% 40,293 100.0%

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately HK$3.6
million or 8.9% to HK$43.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016:
HK$40.3 million). It was attributable to more advertising and promotion expenses

incurred during the year in order to enhance the sales performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses mainly consist of salaries and staff related costs for
administrative personnel (including the Directors), rent for SDCs, consultancy fees
and research and development costs. The following table sets forth a breakdown of

the major items of the Group’s administrative expenses for the two years ended 31

March 2017:

o B i 52 43 e

FTBLBA S

AT S E R AARATEO B (G5 #H5) %4
B TAHBE A ~ el 6 e AR 4 ~ R 22 DA %
WA « FRESIBE " F—ELHE A =1+~
FI L ] 4 S AR A2 94 = A7 BB S 0E A 43 #r

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=1T—HILEE

2017 2016
L e
HK$°000 %o HK$°000 %

T#T T T Al

Salaries Wi 31,273 32.2% 29,748 32.5%
Rent for SDCs il 9 7 HE LA < 31,128 32.1% 25,504 27.8%
Legal and professional fees Y X 4,228 4.4% 6,960 7.6%
Directors’ emoluments B 6,922 7.1% 5,121 5.6%
Operating lease charges: KOETHER S -

minimum lease payments AR 4 1,388 1.9% 3,181 3.5%
Depreciation e 4,002 4.1% 2,551 2.8%
Contributions to defined contribution E RN FORRFT # AR B

retirement plans and other staff benefits HoAth B TAzF| 2,610 2.7% 2,435 2.6%
Research and development costs kg A 3,073 3.2% 2,131 2.3%
Impairment loss on property, W2~ WU K E TR

plant and equipment - - 1,271 1.4%
Donation EEEd 42 0.1% 1,009 1.1%
Others HoAt 11,875 122% 11,722 12.8%
Total st 97,041 100.0 % 91,633 100.0%

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$5.4 million
or 5.9% to HK$97.0 million for the years ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$91.6
million). It was primarily attributable to increase in (i) director’s emolument and
salaries costs because of increase in headcounts to cope with business expansion,
(ii) rent for SDCs due to increase in revenue derived from SDCs, (iii) research and

development costs and (iv) depreciation.

BEZ—CLFE =A==+ —HIMEE > AEMN
A7 BB 32 48 0 495,400,000 7T 2 97,000,000 7 I
(ZF—754F 1 91,600,000%570) > HIE5.9% » It
T E Bl ) FE S G IR R AR I 0 B T A B
T 25 5505 S P < BB W AR 34 0 > (i) R il 9 o
V7 A 2 i s B SO Pl e M AR 4 3
(i) AP A 18 0 B Giv) BT 8 16 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

Equity-settled share-based payments
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group recognised no expense (2016:
Nil) in relation to the Share Options granted by the Company.

Profit before taxation
The Group’s profit before taxation increased by approximately HK$0.9 million to
HK$15.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$14.7 million).

Taxation

Taxation for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$3.8 million
(2016: HK$4.3 million). The tax effects on (i) non-deductible expenses and (ii) tax
losses not recognised, have contributed to the extent of taxation incurred in the year

under review.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s net profit increased by
approximately HK$1.4 million to HK$11.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2017 (2016: HK$10.4 million). The Group’s net profit attributable to the owners of
the Company increased by approximately HK$2.3 million to HK$12.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$10.4 million).

Inventories

The inventories increased by approximately HK$6.9 million or 34.0% to HK$27.2
million as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$20.3 million), which was due to (i)
increase in the number of new products and (ii) a one day special promotion event
taken place immediately after the year end date. The Group’s total inventory
turnover days decreased to 136 days for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016:
155 days), which was primarily owing to the inventory turnover days of trading of

goods were shorter.

Trade and other receivables

The current portion of trade and other receivables increased by approximately
HK$20.6 million or 41.6% to HK$70.1 million as at 31 March 2017 (2016:
HK$49.5 million). Of which, trade receivables increased by approximately HK$6.7
million or 19.2% to HK$41.6 million as at 31 March 2017 due to two times of one
day special promotion events were taken place in March 2017 (2016: HK$34.9
million). The Group’s total receivable turnover days decreased to 63 days for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 79 days), which was due to credit terms for new

customers are tightened and also last year has more overdue balances.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables increased by approximately HK$0.6 million or 3.8% to
HK$16.6 million as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$16.0 million). Of which, trade
payables decreased by approximately HK$0.6 million or 16.2% to HK$3.1 million
as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$3.7 million). The Group’s total payable turnover
days decreased to 20 days for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 42 days). It was
primarily due to shorter credit terms are given by certain new suppliers engaged

during the year.

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138, the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance. Any claim made by those
products has not been subject to evaluation for such registration. Those products

are not intended to diagnose, treat or prevent any disease.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2017, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$110.2 million (2016: HK$102.1 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 4.1 times as at
31 March 2017 (2016: 3.2 times). The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total
borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately 14.9% as at 31 March
2017 (2016: 20.6%). The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily due to decrease
in mortgage bank loans for the Group’s property. In view of the Group’s current
level of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations and
the unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the Group
will have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its operations. As at 31
March 2017, the Group has unutilised general banking facilities of approximately
HK$5.9 million (2016: HK$10.6 million).

o B i 52 43 e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and
appropriate. The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year of review.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 169 (2016: 157) employees. For the
year ended 31 March 2017, staff costs including directors’ remuneration was
approximately HK$61.2 million (2016: HK$54.3 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operation of the Group. The Group regularly reviews
and determines the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s
Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other things, market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of

the Group’s Directors and the performance of the Group.

18 Annual Report 2016/2017 4&$i

BEAR

T IRE A A 2 H R iR AR BT
A REA $2 SR A A SR R AR A - FIRA R
AL AR SR 45 B - 1 o BRORA A 2 [l i e K
A o A BI85 AR B B B A R A A B
ZEBE o A E AL o AR > AR E R
ORI A RO E Y BB IRE BT CERAT LA K
BEAT T U [ BUA (B PR E A
o 7S I % RO R L R R A AT B
F2 o ZAR AR [ 11 R L SR 7 A DR 4F BE MRS A5 o

& B & Bl

RoFE—EEZA=+—H > REERNEB A
169N (ZF—7R4F 1 157 N) - BE _F—L4F
ZAZF—HIREE s BTHEA (B HEFME)
%9 F561,200,000%5 70 ( —ZF — 754 54,300,000
JB) °

B B BOR

G T o A T DL AR R
TETE AL AR - 58225 AT L4 28 W) T 32 A
M #r: ~ BRI AR IR B E - AEM
I R AST A 288 A v A 5 1 AR S AT A B AR 4
V| SE5 ) B B R 7 AR L SRS BB S o AR 2
% (H BL AR ) Al HL s 4 W) BTS20 09 7T 3 38 B K
-~ AL EE S AR LA LR
E S ol o T A A O o v A L Y 38
LBl -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Hong Kong Market

During the year under review, the retail sector has been greatly affected by China’s
economic slowdown as well as the decrease of Mainland tourists visiting Hong
Kong, resulting in the weak growth of sales in the retail sector. In order to maintain
the stable development of product sales and increase the market share, the Group
will continue to expand the local sales platform, enhance the distribution network
and broaden the customer base; on the other hand, the Group will advertise and
promote its products through diversified media and channels so as to improve the

competitive advantages of the Group in the market.

To enhance the quality standard and image, the Group is planning to apply quality
management accreditation like ISO22000 and Hazard Analysis and Critical
Control Point (“HACCP”) for its food factory in Hong Kong as well as upgrading
its own Chinese medicine plant from packaging-mainly to include the full
production. The upgraded plant is expected to commence operation in the financial
year ended March 2018 and as a result, the Group expects to reduce part of the

existing subcontracting costs.

Overseas markets

The Group will continue to explore the retail market in other regions in Asia.
To expand its Taiwan market, the Group has signed a new contract with a new
non-exclusive distributor with extensive network in drug chain stores that may
potentially and possibly expand our sales network. In addition to the traditional
drug chain stores, the Group is also positively developing its e-commerce sales
network. The goods are already on both shelf online and offline in April 2017. But
as mentioned in the interim report, the slowdown of the Taiwan economy forced
the Group to adopt a more prudent approach in its expansion plan in the past, and

also in the coming few years.

On 22 November 2016, the Group disposed 40% of an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary together with a shareholder’s loan due to the Group on a pro rata basis
for an aggregate consideration of HK$4.5 million. The subsidiary concerned is
principally engaged in the distribution of health and beauty supplements in the
PRC. The Directors consider such disposal presents a good opportunity for the
Company to engage a new strategic business and investment partner for potential

and possible enhancement of the Group’s product distribution business in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GCEVERE L i

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited

The Group signed a memorandum of understanding with CUCAMed Company
Limited (“CUCAMed”) in October 2016 to establish a jointly owned laboratory in
Hong Kong to research and develop new Chinese medicines and health products
and will commence trial run in the second half of 2017. As mentioned in the interim
report, the pace of launching of new products under “LEGEND” brand has been
much slower than what the Group has anticipated originally. During the year, no
new product under the “LEGEND” brand was launched.

Developing Online Information and Advertising Business in Hong
Kong and China

In consideration of the weak performance of retail sector and uncertain economic
environment in Hong Kong in recent years, the Group has been seeking after
different potential business opportunities in the market to develop diversified
businesses. In 2017, the Group participated in the operation of gd.qq.com in Hong
Kong through its subsidiary company Tenfok Asia, became its unique advertising
business partner and content operator, and successfully marched into the online
information and advertising business in Hong Kong and China. By virtue of
this platform gd.qq.com, the Group can, on one hand, further introduce health
supplements into domestic market through the enormous advertising marketing
network; on the other hand, the Group can expand its core business and develop
other income sources by operating Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com, and achieve

sustainable development through diversified businesses.

During the initial launch period, Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com mainly
comprises six business modules of entertainment, property and finance, sports,
tourism, pets and education. Within the shortly 4 months, it has been rapidly
increased to 10 modules, including health, fashion, infant care and E-sports. The
Group will continue investing resources to improve the website content, and
aim to expand the website into 30 modules. By absorbing the huge user volume
from extensive user facets, we believe our advertising revenues will be increased
greatly. In terms of the entertainment and catering module, Hong Kong station of
gd.qq.com has invited Mr. Ho Lai Chuen, a seasoned media executive, to act as a
leader in an attempt to establish the local strongest catering information website,

which will be presented in the second half of 2017 as planned.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As the only inter-network information website in Mainland China, Hong Kong
station of gd.qq.com can directly resort to the tremendous domestic website traffic
of Tencent, adapt the advertising clients in Hong Kong to Tencent’s advertising
platform, and make the advertising message delivered easily to customers
nationwide. Hong Kong station of gd.qq.com further introduces the live streaming
event of hot issues, such as large-scale boxing matches and singing contests with
higher audience rating in Mainland China, and develop more and more diversified
online promotion methods. In the Group’s opinion, the monthly views of Hong
Kong station of gd.qq.com will be expected to increase, and more advertising
clients from Southeast Asia will be attracted to further boost the increase of

advertising revenues.

On the basis of the rising popularity of gd.qq.com in Mainland China and Macau,
together with the fast-developing tendency of internet economy nowadays, the
Group is highly optimistic about the business development prospect of Hong
Kong station of gd.qq.com, and will continue to discuss with Tencent about more
profound cooperation in future, such as participating in WeChat, WeChat payment,
etc., and enhance the website competence by virtue of brand effect. The Group
will pay close attention to market development of advertising agency business,
further increase the market share, and meanwhile keep an eye on the opportunity to

develop and expand other businesses.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, there was no other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,

associated companies and joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2016 and 2017, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 30(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2016 and 2017.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and cash balances that
are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to
manage and minimize the foreign currency risk, the management will continue to
manage and monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measure

are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

o B i 52 43 e

A T R I — T B 4 68D 19 AR AR 0ty > K B
A LT | O G WL PR R A o A A HE Y R
W B R T B o B EUE S R
REIHERE o KEH  FHE LA B E%
ELFE R R 22U FORR - TR SRR SR AH SE Y RIS HE 2
& RAFEZCAL M AR BT 3 o AR I T
KEHE - FERE ARG LT WREHT
51 2 R B TR - R TR T
JE A o

R o A A T R IR PR AT T A
SR TN A I A A O v R B
ES S ESPNES O Y S R SR e i
TBL > AR o M A LG T 78 ol SR R Ui A
80 2 BLRAE - DA SO S5 5 B e
PTG W) o A T B 2 ) ) T AR
HSEBS T 888 » o — TS5 A > ] F
BAUH AR - BT R e

B R WO ok i 4

WA A B e 4 B M 28 PP 96 41
WE=F—LE=A =t H LI BT
PG 2 7~ R 28 ) S 2 S TR i

Ao
=

D RA=L
RO AERCELEZAST R A%
PRI 4 S s 4 2 6 o

& AN R I

R T A AE A R A £ B T TR R 30(a) R
Sho B NER BB
245 I 40 T ] K AR RS o

B R J K

T I 7 S 9 S 0 A 4 L, o B 36 9 B © AR SR
W ot 7 2 R DR AR A T B PR T AR
DA (B (B LL 5 758 4 ) 2 A 0 LA 68 W st
D) F19 B Wi % B AoF 3 I e B < 4 0 T 80 = S0
IR JE e ) B T2 A SR ([ 960t )) R AR (T A
B D) o J i B S A AR AN By - A B
A T B AN IR o AR IR A AR
B i

RM Group Holdings Limited 7815 3% 55 8 5 1 G R 2 =] 21



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

A&

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had secured bank loans of approximately HK$30.6 ~ j* =& —~tH =H =+—H > REHFHHIK
million (2016: HK$36.9 million). The banking facilities are secured by the Group’s I $8 17 & FKX 47 5 30,600,000 % 7T ( — & — /N4 -

land and buildings, having carrying amount of approximately HK$43.2 million as 36,900,000 % JC )

at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$44.6 million).

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND USE OF

PROCEEDS

o

FZERATE R AVE O b A AR
B b AT > IR (E R —F — L=
A=+ —H % 543,200,000 70 ( —F — N4 ¢
44,600,000 7C)

05 H B R Ak E A i

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress 375 H £2 Sl 8 PR 26 755 4 2 A0 Lh g

An analysis comparing the business objectives as stated in the Prospectus of the — AAFA “FE—=4FLH =+ H &=k ([ A
Company dated 30 September 2013 (the “Prospectus™) with the Group’s actual B2 |) 51 3605 H A B AL [B]jA — & — F 4R H
business progress for the period from 1 April 2015 onwards is set out as below: — F L ) R S A SR 1) E R A ATk B

Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015
onwards as stated in the Prospectus

BEZEBRKIm - F—HENA—H B HY
EBHE

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2017

HECF-LFE=ZA=1—HWEBERER

Expansion of distribution network
Set up about 2-4 new SDCs

Employ more promoters

BERA2 A R I 95 R A

4 I Z 46 B

The Group continues to identify suitable stores of the Distribution
Facilitator to set up SDCs. 2 Health Proof SDCs was set up during the
year ended 31 March 2017. The Group had 37 SDCs including 17 Royal
Medic SDCs and 20 Health Proof SDCs as at 31 March 2017.

The Group continues to employ promoters and employed 93 promoters as
at 31 March 2017 (As at 31 March 2016: 91).

A AR T A 2 ) (T 14 2 G O D SRR L R M o R
T bE A =t BRI OO S R R I f A o R
F—LHFE=H=r—H  REEAITAFEHEEMEN - Eham7
A0 60 22 e 1 1 MBS B 20181 5 T JE 455 T 4 RE HELASE o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015

onwards as stated in the Prospectus (Continued)

P 5 BEAR BT th R — JAE Y ] — HOR I A 3E B H
B (A1)

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2017

HEZZ-BEEA=Z1HEBRERER

Collaboration with CUCAMed to develop products
Launch more new health supplements under the brand of

“LEGEND”

Engaging brand ambassadors to promote the products

Strengthen the Group's branding and marketing strategies

through various media and channels

B A b B GERL 1 1 B 2
INICIPNGE CVIREY S i 2 e e

TR it R T SRR e B

AR AN [ B SR LA A i A P W B T 35 4 B R
W

No new product under “LEGEND” brand was launched for the year ended
31 March 2017.

The contract of a brand ambassador to promote the products under
“LEGEND” expired in May 2016.

The Group continues to promote its products launched under “LEGEND”
through various media and channels, such as television commercials and

printed media in Hong Kong.

The Group has signed a memorandum of understanding with CUCAMed
in October 2016 to establish a jointly owned laboratory in Hong Kong to

research and develop new Chinese medicines and health products.

The Group collaborated with a university, conducted two scientific
researches for the purpose of the development of new health supplements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015

onwards as stated in the Prospectus (Continued)

Wi 5 BEAR BT th R — JAR Y ] — HR IR R 3E B H
B ()

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2017

HEZF-LHEZA=H—HWEEEEE R

Expanding overseas markets

Engaging brand ambassadors in Taiwan

Recruiting more promoters and strengthen the Group’s
branding and marketing strategies through various media

and channels in Taiwan

Continue to explore the opportunities in other overseas

markets

i fE A T Yy
IN=R EN LI P SN

TR A 8 B S0 o AN ] LR S SR AE DU R A L e &
R I it R T 3 O SR

R A i A1 i 355 8 4 e

After the expiry of the contract of a brand ambassador in Taiwan, the
Group began to promote the Group’s products in Taiwan using the same

brand ambassadors as used in Hong Kong.

The Group has signed a new contract with a new non-exclusive
distributor, whose extensive network in drug chain stores may potentially
and possibly expand our sales network after the group discontinued its
cooperation with the existing distributor by the end of November 2016.
In addition to the traditional drug chain stores, the Group is positively

developing its e-commerce sales network.

The Group has obtained the HALAL certification recently, which enables

the Group to sell certain of its products in most of the Southeast Asia.

On 22 November 2016, the Group disposed 40% of an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary together with a shareholder’s loan due to the Group on
a pro rata basis for an aggregate consideration of HK$4.5 million. The
Directors consider that the disposal presents a good opportunity for the
Company to engage a new strategic business and investment partner for
potential and possible enhancement of the Group’s product distribution in
the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation of future market conditions and development made by the Group at the
time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied in accordance
with the actual development of the market. During the period from 1 April 2016 to
31 March 2017, the net proceeds from issuance of new shares of the Company by

way of placing had been applied as follows:

o B i 52 43 e

i 5 R 0T 57 T A5 TR B S T A T R A AR 4 A
A e T 45 e R 3B OR AR T DL % o R Y B AR A R
PR > TR IRF BT A5 3RH AR5 11 3% 1 B P 8 e i
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= H R > AR R DU TR B AT R A A
BT FCH R R A B MR DT

Planned use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
ik LB iR Pk T B8

Change in
use of

proceeds Total

during amount

the year Use of 11 October 1 April utilised

As stated ended proceeds 2013 to 2016 to up to

inthe 31 March after 31 March 31 March 31 March

Prospectus 2017 change 2016 2017 2017
B

—FbE C St NS wE
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HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$’000
T T T T T T

Expansion of distribution network N F kS 5,950 - 5,950 048 4,277 5,225
Collaboration with CUCAMed to SLrpOR R R B R
develop products B 47,600 (25,000) 22,600 6,289 2,081 8,370
Expanding overseas markets RS i 41,650 (25,000) 16,650 1,558 1215 2,773
Enhancing the Group’s marketing and  Jill 5 75 45 [ it & 1)
promotion activities in Hong Kong & #§ K JfE & 15 B 13,090 - 13,090 13,090 - 13,090
Acquisition of Star Root Limited i Star Root Limited - 50,000 50,000 - 5,000 5,000
General working capital — g 4 10,710 - 10,710 10,710 - 10,710
119,000 - 119,000 32,595 12,573 45,168
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS

Reference to the announcement dated 9 January 2017 and 18 April 2017. As at 31
March 2017, the Company utilised HK$5.0 million out of the unutilised proceeds
concerning product development and expansion of overseas market as part of the

consideration of the acquisition of 100% equity interest of Star Root Limited.

Subsequent to the year end date on 13 April 2017, a sum of HK$45.0 million was

paid upon completion.
Possible change in use of proceeds

Unutilised Net Proceeds from Listing

The net proceeds from the placing of the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 11 October
2013 (the “Listing”) were approximately HK$119.0 million after deducting listing
related expenses. As at 31 March 2017, approximately HK$45.2 million out of
such net proceeds from the Listing has been utilized according to the business
plans as depicted in the Prospectus of the Company and the announcement dated 9
January 2017 and approximately HK$73.8 million out of such net proceeds remain

unutilised mainly due to

1. the slowdown of the Taiwan economy forced the Group to adopt a more
prudent expansion plan including engaging local distributors rather than
establishing its own sales team and to engage the ambassador as in Hong
Kong after the expiry of the contract terms with the ambassador in Taiwan;

and

2. the pace of launching of new products under the “LEGEND” brand has been

much slower than what the Group has anticipated originally.

Possible Change in Use of Net Proceeds

Owing to the weak performance of the retail sector in Hong Kong, the Directors
have been carefully evaluating the circumstances and exploring other opportunities
to increase the profitability of the Group amid the weakened retail sales, which may
involve reallocating the net proceeds from the Listing to other future plans and/or
to new projects of the Group, including but not limited to, acquiring new profitable
businesses as long as the Directors consider such acquisitions to be in the interests

of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

26 Annual Report 2016/2017 4E R

058 Py 15k JE L 38

R A A —F— LA JLH R =F—LF
WA NHZAME - RoFE—LHFE=H=1—
H o AR 28 il B 58 K1 41 10 35 40 J ot R B
BT A5 3K H 195,000,000 4 6 A A 32 A5 Uil Star
Root Limited 2 B BERE 1) FROTACAE -

EHEBBRN F—-CEEWA+ =08 > T
45,000,000% JCA% 5C AU o

] R A B Ak L i

AR 7 P K T
ARANFE T — =+ H+— HRNF B A
A2 5 B AT BR S ) A 3R LB &5 O X BT (T #% -
i 1) o FNBRAHBE b B S0 L # 5 49119,000,000
WICIY TS ETE R - R — L= =1 —
H > &% bl i 15 3K JH 1 85 P 945,200,000 0 2
RPEA A AR IR S A & —bE— L
H 2 A 0 Tt S0 51 304 A > TR AT 5% A
4:4973,800,000% 0 > EEH 7

1 BRI A8 (AR G T BRI L L
BEREFTE] o GLE A BT AR
SR EBR o B B N il RO {5 [ 30
WAE > W5 AU RHIR] B9 SR 5 &

2. AfEH T AR OR A BE R R i 1 2 R
AL AR T 4 1 -

1] it 2 5 Iy 1k JE 1 1 78

P o e 2 TG 5 R SR B 5 A T
o /NGRS E UL AT REEE S At LU
AR B AMAEST - H AT AE ELA E T Bl
TP AR R AR PR A AR R Y A R A
R,/ S A H > GHEE N R TR 58 2 A Bl
WA AN ) Je B BOR A 38 < T UL > A
TLFIRE J1 O 2E TS



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company shall not exclude the possibility of applying the net proceeds to the
possible acquisition as indicated in the announcement of the Company dated 11
April 2017 in relation to a memorandum of understanding with potential vendors
concerning the possible acquisition of all or part of the issued share capital in
a company with its subsidiaries principally engaging in the business of service
provision of the WeChat Pay Cross-Border Solutions to Tenpay, an integrated

online payment platform, and the retail merchants in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not yet identified any new acquisition
targets nor entered into any agreements with any third parties in relation to such
expansion plans. If there are any material developments with respect to such
expansion plans, the Company will make further announcement(s) in accordance

with the Listing Rules as and when appropriate and necessary.

Further announcement(s) in respect of any possible change in use of net proceeds

will be made by the Company as and when appropriate and necessary.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of the

possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered that the

most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes in
regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of food and
health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal ingredients may
be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in the coming years.
Significant effect may impact on the future development of health supplements
as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up and comply with these

changes, such factors would affect the Group’s success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever changing operating environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s business is closely related to the economic conditions of Hong
Kong. Slowing economic growth or a recession may affect consumer preferences
and spending which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s

business, operational results and financial conditions.

In response to these challenges, the Group will actively implement effective cost
control measures, including reduction of administration costs, bargaining with
suppliers for a better pricing as well as establishing its own facilities to reduce
subcontracting costs. The Group will also continue to roll out more new products
and open up more distribution channels, and plan to further expand its business

outside Hong Kong.

Failure to introduce successful new products

Owing to the rapid changing nature of the health and beauty supplements products
markets in Hong Kong, if the Group fails to anticipate market trends and develop
new products to respond to such trends in a timely manner, it will adversely affect

its business in the long term.

In addition to the Group’s own product development and collaboration with
external research partners, such as with CUCAMed to promote and sell products
developed by CUCAMed under the brand “LEGEND”, the Group is also actively
looking for opportunities to collaborate with different reputable universities
to conduct researches for the purpose of developing new products. Besides
researches, the Group also will continue to place strong emphasis on a multifaceted
market strategy through utilising various media and channels to promote its brands

and products.

28 Annual Report 2016/2017 4E R

FRABIRET T W

A T 1 S 5 BELAE s KBRS S R AT o A4
TR s 2 SR EFIERIYIRE &
ARETIT S A A I P SE R - AR A I I BUIR L I
HRAFIGERE -

SHEFE A PRER > AR B RN AT A 00 AR 4
il > LS R ARAT BOURA + B S IO
BB AR M TR ST RO LR AR o AR [
I A A AT O R O B BN R 2 2 B U -
At B — 2 T A T 45 LA SN S

TG4 L I
FE 5 1 R 0 A 5 i 7 1355
S o (B S B s Y TR 5 A TR
T 353 A o DR T A - A S ) R
TR ERAFIBE -

BT AR SR [ AT B R A i S SO F TR A A A
G B R e SR A SR L B 4 1B R
[k i BE AR |0 A 2 i o - AR IR T )
AR SR [] 3 4 R B IRETTOESE > DABH 3
L i o BR T RSN - ARSE BN e AR AUE
AT 4 S5 e SR 5 2 5 T 14 T 355 4 R SR LA
HE B L it it 2



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”), aged 48, is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company as well as a director of most subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as a director
of the Company (“Director”) on 5 December 2011. Mr. Chan is responsible
for the overall management and strategic development of the Group. Mr. Chan
possesses over 13 years of experience in the health food and pharmaceutical trading
businesses with extensive experience in product development, materials sourcing,
branding-building, advertising, marketing and retail networking. Mr. Chan has
acted as the honorary president of the Federation of Beauty Industry (H.K.). He
has been a member of the Association of Hong Kong and Kowloon Practitioners
of Chinese Medicine Limited since 2004 and was then appointed as the advisor
of the abovementioned association in 2008. Mr. Chan is currently a director of
and holds entirely interests in Able Island Group Limited (“Able Island”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, details of which are disclosed in the
Report of the Director under this report. Mr. Chan is the spouse of Madam Tsang
Pui Man, a former non-executive Director resigned on 24 October 2016, and the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, an executive Director, a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company, and the chief financial officer of the

Group.

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, aged 56, is an executive Director, a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company and the chief financial officer
of the Group. Mr. Lim joined the Group as treasurer in August 2014 and was
then appointed as executive Director on 1 January 2016. On 31 May 2016, he
was appointed as chief financial officer and he is primarily responsible for the
overall accounting, tax, finance and treasury functions of the Group. Mr. Lim has
over 20 years of experience in financial and management accounting. He was
awarded a professional diploma in management accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (previously known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in 1985
and he obtained his master degree in business administration from Heriot-Watt
University, United Kingdom in 1999. Mr. Lim is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Lim is the brother-in-law of Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer, an executive Director and the controlling

shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
o 5 B AR P i R A

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 53, is an executive Director and compliance
officer of the Company. He joined the Group since July 2014 acting as a director
of a subsidiary of the Group and was appointed as an executive Director and
the compliance officer of the Company on 20 January 2016. Mr. Lee has been
primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate strategy and legal matters of the
Group. Mr. Lee was employed by the Group from 1 March 2013 to 1 November
2013, responsible for business development. Mr. Lee was a director of Wisdom
Come Medical Group Limited (“Wisdom Come”), a subsidiary of the Group from
2010 till 2012. Mr. Lee was also subscriber and nominee shareholder of Wisdom
Come and subscriber of Hong Kong and Macau Chinese Medicine Innovative
Institute Co., Ltd. (formerly named “M2C Natural Health Limited”), another
subsidiary of the Group, and transferred his shares in these two companies to
the Group on 1 November 2005 and 19 May 2006, respectively. Mr. Lee has
been a solicitor in practice in Hong Kong since August 2000. Mr. Lee graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in business
administration in 1986, and later also graduated from the Manchester Metropolitan
University in the United Kingdom with a bachelor degree in laws in 1999. After
obtaining the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws issued by University of Hong Kong,
he was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2000. Before practising as a
solicitor, Mr. Lee was employed with senior management positions in various retail
enterprises in Hong Kong. From 1995 till 1997 he was employed as a director and
deputy general manager of Chinese Arts & Crafts (H.K.) Limited, a retail group of
companies in Hong Kong. He is currently the sole proprietor of Sidney Lee & Co.,
Solicitors, a law firm established in Hong Kong since July 2008, which provided
legal services to the Group till 19 January 2016. Mr. Lee has been an elected
member of the Central and Western District Council since 2006 with his current
term of office ending on 31 December 2019. Mr. Lee has been providing voluntary
services to the public on an ongoing basis and was appointed by the government as

a member of various advisory boards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu, aged 54, is an executive Director. He joined the Company on
20 June 2016. He is primarily responsible for expanding the distribution network
of the Group in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in strategic
marketing and property leasing. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong was an
associate director at a property consultancy firm Kencon Property Consultants,
providing property acquisition planning and development advice to his clients. Mr.
Wong has been a Salesperson’s Licence holder duly issued by the Estate Agents
Authority of Hong Kong since 2013.

Mr. Wang Xihua, aged 50, is an executive Director. He joined the Company
on 24 October 2016. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of commercial experience in
business development and enterprise management in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and 5 years of teaching experience in the chemical engineering
profession. Mr. Wang graduated from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at i
8 S22 [5¢ (Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan University
of Science and Technology) in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed a graduate
program in business administration from the Guanghua School of Management
of Peking University in 2003. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for exploring
investment opportunities to expand the business of the Group. Mr. Wang was an
executive director and non-executive director of Elife Holdings Limited (Former
name: Sino Resources Group Limited) (“Elife Holdings”) (Stock Code: 223)
shares of the company listed on the main board of the stock Exchange from 11
March 2013 to 31 January 2014 and 1 February 2014 to 22 September 2015
respectively. Mr. Wang is currently the managing director of SRG Capital Limited,
a company in which Elife Holdings holds less than 10% equity interest. Mr. Wang
was an executive director of Fortis Mining (Hong Kong) Limited from 1 February
2014 to 23 May 2015, a Hong Kong subsidiary of Kazakhstan Potash Corporation
Limited, a company listed in the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX
code: KPC).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director,
a member of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. She joined the Company on 15 April 2016. Ms. Szeto is a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England
and Wales. She is currently the sole practitioner of Szeto Virginia & Co, Solicitors.
Ms. Szeto holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree from Oxford Brookes University and
a Master of Science Degree in Criminal Justice Policy from The London School
of Economics and Political Science. She is currently the chairman, non-executive
director and member of audit committee of Larry Jewelry International Company
Limited (Stock Code: 8351) from 3 October 2016, shares of the company listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, and an independent non-
executive director of Shaw Brothers Holdings Limited (Formerly Known as Meike
International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0953), from 29 January 2016, and was
an executive Director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1106), from
19 March 2015 to 4 July 2016. Shares of these two companies listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Szeto was also the Head of Legal Department
of New World Development Company Limited (stock code: 0017) from 20 March
1998 to 31 July 2002.

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 31, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of audit committee, a member of nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 24 October
2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit committee on 6 December
2016. Mr. Leung is currently the financial controller of Tan-Eu Capital Limited,
an international investment management company focusing on the market of
the Greater China. Mr. Leung has worked for different international audit firms
including KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past seven years from
October 2008. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting
and Finance) from Monash University in Australia in 2008 and has been a member
of the CPA Australia since 2011.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tam Kin Yip, aged 43, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of nomination committee and remuneration committee and a member
of audit committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 7 March 2017.
Mr. Tam is a practicing Barrister-At-Law in Hong Kong and has over 13 years’
experience in litigation. Mr. Tam served as independent non-executive director
of Zhi Cheng Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8130), from 16 February 2012 to
3 July 2015, Gold Tat Group International Limited (Stock Code: 8266), from 3
March 2015 to 1 March 2016, shares of these two companies listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, China Solar Energy Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 155) from 21 October 2014 to 15 May 2015, shares of this company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yan Tat Ming, aged 53, is the chief production officer of the Group. Mr.
Yan joined the Group in January 2012. He is primarily responsible for the
production and quality assurance functions of the Group. Mr. Yan has more than
15 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is experienced in the
areas of production and quality assurance and familiar with production with GMP
standard. Mr. Yan obtained his bachelor’s degree in pharmacy from Robert Gordon
Institute of Technology, Aberdeen, United Kingdom in 1991. He is registered as a
pharmaceutical chemist and is a member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of
Great Britain since 1992. He is also admitted as a pharmacist in accordance to the
Pharmacy and Poisons Ordinance (Chapter 138, the Laws of Hong Kong) in 1992.
Mr. Yan was elected as the committee member and deputy secretary-general of the
Hong Kong Chinese Prepared Medicine Traders Association in 2004 and 2006,
respectively.

Ms. Wong Chui Lan, aged 45, is the general manager of the Group. Ms. Wong is
responsible for sales department including the supervision of the sales promoter
team of the Group and also acts as the person-in-charge of the customer services
and member club functions of the Group. She joined the Group in 2004 as a senior
manager and was subsequently promoted to the deputy general manager in 2010,
sales controller in 2011 and general manager in 2016. Ms. Wong possesses more
than 11 years of working experience in the retail marketing specialising in selling
and distribution of PCM health supplements and beauty supplements and products.
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Mr. Wong Kui Tong, aged 36, is the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Company in December
2016. Mr. Wong has over 14 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and he is
also a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Wong held the position of Finance Manager and Company Secretary in China
Lumena New Materials Corp. (Stock Code: 67) from 2009 and 2010 to 2016
respectively and worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree and a Master of Corporate

Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chui Pak Shing, aged 49, is the chief strategy officer of the Group. Mr.
Chui joined the Group in December 2015. Mr. Chui was the company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company from 25 January 2016 to 6
December 2016. Mr. Chui has over 20 years of working experience in accounting
and financial management, company secretarial work and served as executive
director and financial controller of several Hong Kong listed companies in various
industries, before joining the Company. Mr. Chui holds a Bachelor Degree in
Commerce from University of Wollongong, Australia and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from University of Portsmouth, the United Kingdom. He
is a fellow of CPA Australia and of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

Ms. Ko Yuen Man, Winnie, aged 46, was appointed as general manager,
marketing and business development of the Group since 2016 January. Ms. Ko is
responsible for the overall marketing strategy and corporate brand management
as well as overseas commercial business development, Ms. Ko has over 17 years
of working experience in pharmaceutical, consumer healthcare and fast moving
customer goods of several Hong Kong, PRC, United States of America and
European corporate groups. Ms. Ko holds a bachelor of Hospitality & Catering

Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Yuen Yee Han, Ady, aged 56, is the administration controller of the Group. AN &+ > 5658 » AANE BT HALE: o i+
Ms. Yuen is responsible for the human resources management, administrative & EARE FH A S G - 178~ EMAH K
function, products compliance and logistics aspects of the Group. Ms. Yuen joined — #J3i%5 TAFE o Pt it —F——4F+ A I AASE
the Group in October 2011. Ms. Yuen possesses more than 23 years of working o WL LN FAE ] B 5 2E s AR 234 TAF
experience in the retail and trading businesses specialising in the human resources, — #8B# » BTN A S &R ~ 470 ~ 859l A K A SL B
administration, training and public relations and customer services aspects. She  {RF1% 5 AR T o R — LU S ERHE R R AL 50
holds a diploma on foreign trade awarded by the University of International — ¥[/MEHEZ 5 K EL A BE I 4N 5 S0l -

Business and Economics in Beijing, the PRC, in 1996.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER HHEE
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 53, is the compliance officer of the Company.  ZEME A > 5358 - AAANFINEGHR T - HH

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section for his i ifE— L34 » SR BAM [PiTES | — K -

further details.

RM Group Holdings Limited 1% % £ M #2 % A FR 2 W) 35



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR
ERFHEE

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) herein present their report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the business of formulation, marketing, sales
and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong
Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. There was no significant change in nature of the

Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year as required by the Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely
future development of the Group’s business, the material factors underlying its
results and financial position are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” from
pages 6 to 7 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 8 to 28,
particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2017, if any, can also be found
in the abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout this
Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement” of this Annual Report, all

these sections form part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 are set out in

note 34 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the profit, the results and the state of affairs of
the Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report on pages 89 to 183.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For Attendance of 2017 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 28 August
2017 to Thursday, 31 August 2017 (both dates inclusive), for the purpose of
determining the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) eligibility to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 31 August 2017 (the “2017 AGM”) and during which no transfer of
shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance of
the 2017 AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 25 August
2017.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past 5
financial years is set out on page 184 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group in this

annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 25(b) to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

Details of Share Options (defined below) are set out under the section headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME?”, to this report and in note 32 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016:
Nil).
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the year, save for the Share
Options (defined below) which were under the section of “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME?” in this report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the audited consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
92 and note 25(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, amounted to approximately HK$180.1 million (2016: HK$153.3

million).

PARTICULARS OF BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2017
are set out in notes 21 and 22 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (Chief financial officer)

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (appointed on 20 June 2016)

Mr. Wang Xihua (appointed on 24 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (appointed on 15 April 2016)
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (appointed on 24 October 2016)
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (appointed on 7 March 2017)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Former Directors
Executive Director
Mr. Wong Mau Tai (retired on 5 April 2017)

Non-executive Director
Madam Tsang Pui Man (resigned on 24 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Ng Ka Ming (resigned on 7 March 2017)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (resigned on 6 December 2016)

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 29 to 35 of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS ROTATION

Messrs. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney and Lim Ming Shing, Tony, being executive
Directors, have entered into service agreements with the Company for a term of
three years from the dates of their appointment, subject to retirement from the
Board at the conclusion of the 2017 AGM by rotation and then being eligible,
offer themselves, except of Lim Ming Shing, Tony, for re-election as Director
by the Shareholders in the same meeting in accordance with article 84(1) of our
Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles of Association”) and the Listing
Rules.

Mr. Wang Xihua, as executive Director, and Messrs. Leung Winson Kwan Yau
and Tam Kin Yip, as independent non-executive Directors, who were appointed
by the Board, respectively, during the year and entered into service agreements
with the Company for three years from the dates of their appointment, respectively,
shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after their
appointments and then being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Director
by the Shareholders in the same meeting in accordance with the Articles of

Association and the Listing Rules.
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RESIGNATIONS OF DIRECTOR

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul and Professor Ng Ka Ming tendered their resignations
as independent non-executive Director as well as the chairman and/or members in
the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committees of the

Company during the year due to their focus on other commitments.

Madam Tsang Pui Man tendered her resignation as a non-executive Director during

the year due to her personal reasons.

Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired from his position as executive Director on 5 April 2017.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received written confirmations of independence from all three
independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Szeto Wing Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung
Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Tam Kin Yip respectively pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The Board and the nomination committee of the Company considered and
agreed all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS® AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest
emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively, are set out in
note 9 to 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are set out
under paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section headed “Board

Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Director and independent non-executive Director for a term of three years from
the dates of appointment or re-election, respectively. Their terms of office are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of

the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2017 AGM has a service contract

with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during

the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Particulars of share options of the Company (the “Share Option”) and details of
movements in the Share Options during the year are set out in note 32 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2017, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which
(i) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company
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Note: This represents the shares of the Company held by Able Island Group Limited (“Able

Island”), a company is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Chan and he is the sole
director of Able Island, therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 269,100,000 shares of
the Company under the SFO. As at the date of this report, Able Island held 190,304,000
(36.00%) shares of the Company.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2017 (i.e. 528,600,000 shares).

Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under section headed
“DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below,
as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (i) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2017, the number of outstanding Option Shares granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (“Share
Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code is set out in the note 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2017
was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2017, according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the

Company were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Note: The entire issued share capital of Able Island is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr.

Chan. Subsequent to the reporting date on 27 and 28 April 2017, Able Island has disposed
an aggregate of 78,796,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 14.91% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the dates of the disposal. As at the date of this
report, Able Island held 190,304,000 (36.00%) shares of the Company.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2017 (i.e. 528,600,000 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Directors were not aware of any business
or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective close
associates that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any

other conflict of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able Island,
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 24 September 2013 (“Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for each of its
subsidiaries). For details of the deed of non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Non-Competition Undertakings” in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 September 2013. Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed that none
of them is engaged in, or interested in any business (other than the Group) which,
directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of the Group
during the financial year. The independent non-executive Directors have also
reviewed the status of compliance and the written confirmation from each of the

controlling shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year and up to the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares

as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of
the Company and the Companies Law (2012 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata

basis to the existing Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM PLACING

Details of the net proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares at the time
of its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 11 October 2013 and the
movement during the year are set out in the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” from pages 25 to 27 in this annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 64.0% (2016: 67.0%) of the
total sales and the aggregate sales attributable to the largest customer included

therein accounted for approximately 56.8% (2016: 61.1%) of the total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 45.1% (2016: 51.6%)
of the total purchases and the aggregate purchases attributable to the largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 16.1% (2016: 24.7%) of the

total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor
those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION” in
this report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party during the

year.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All the
Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2017. Employees of the
Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information,

have been requested to comply with provisions of the Model Code.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to approximately
HK$42,000.
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INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISERS

The term of appointment of WAG Worldsec Corporate Finance Limited (“WAG”)
as the Compliance Adviser of the Company was ended 9 August 2016 (the “Last
Date”) in compliance with GEM Listing Rule 6A.19.

As confirmed by WAG, neither WAG nor its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or any member of
the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such securities) as at the Last
Date.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules
and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group. The
Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and

relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the Company has complied with the requirements under the
memorandum of association and articles of association of the Company, the
Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands
and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s compliance
with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate

Governance Report” from pages 48 to 70 of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
During the year, there were no transactions which need to be disclosed as

connected transaction or continuing connected transaction in accordance with the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 31 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified against
all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their duties.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.
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STAFF

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had approximately 169 employees. Salaries
of employee and directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and bonus
are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance, medical cover, subsidized educational and training programmes as well

as the Share Option Scheme.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions to Hong
Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare fund
respectively. Details of which are set out in note 14 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting date are set out in note 37

to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited ("CCIF”) has merged its business with PCP CPA
Limited to form a new company operated under the name of Crowe Horwath (HK)
CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath (HK)”), the Board considered that it is in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole if the auditor is
able to continue to serve the Company under the more internationally renowned
name of Crowe Horwath (HK), a member firm in Hong Kong of Crowe Horwath
International. Therefore, the Board agreed and approved the appointment of the
Crowe Horwath (HK) as auditor of the Company in place of the resignation of
CCIF as auditor of the Company with effect on 7 March 2017.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 were audited by Crowe
Horwath (HK) and a resolution of re-appointment of Crowe Horwath (HK) as

auditor of the Company for the coming year would be proposed.

On behalf of the Board
RM Group Holdings Limited

Chan Yan Tak
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in the Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Throughout the year ended
31 March 2017, the Company has complied with the Code provisions as set out in
the Code the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rule except the deviation from the Code
provision A.2.1, which stipulate that the roles of chairman of the board of directors
of the Company (“Board”) and chief executive officer of the Company should be
separated. Detail of the deviation is elaborated below under the paragraph headed

“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company, the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the Securities and Future Ordinance and the Listing Rules as well as other

law applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties in
accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) approach to the continuous professional
development of directors of the Company (“Directors”) and senior management of
the Company; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and (iv) the compliance with the Code and disclosure in this report,
are adequate and appropriate for the Company in light of its current corporate
strategy. The Company did and will review of its corporate governance duties in
light of the changing legal and regulatory requirements as well as the Code from

time to time.

48

Annual Report 2016/2017 4§t

1oE F= TR Y

AR TR W R A A SR TR S AR 8 R SR AR 0
B WU S R E VA AR o L B A
B o A0 R B BRI AR s T 22 2 B A R )
(1622 e 1) st o L T RS0 (T kv B 1) ek -1l
114 4 253 < ) B < B ST (RER R T T
W e WE2—F—EHE=A=1+—HIEFE,
A ) A b AR BB s U < B ST R
3C > Mifw BESF A SCA 2.1 > ZIRBLE AL R
& (THdE ) WAL FATBERE N A O A
T84 o A Bl i Bl 19 7 S [ 08 AT BR8] —
Bt -

AN T CLRE ST A AR A A A T AL A e A A
A~ PR RES AR (CF—REBFTR) k5
Be S B A A9 % b 1l R DA B A 8 A A A W 2
R

R B RO O ST AT SR AR
7 w8 R AR 2y B ) AR B IR BB RH B 5 (i) 2
ANFES((EF]) LmfE AR LR
SEBRRIN T 1) 5 (i) B RSP IA M AR E Y
BOR B R R 5 F (iv) ST ST U RO AR 4t A7 H 4
B o PIC R BATE A I BURE I A S o
T B L AN Y RIRRHE T > AR A2
AR SR IR A AT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

Board Composition

i gk i

A
HEHE AR

The Board currently comprises eight (8) Directors, all with professional #FH & HH N\ L EFAN > WEHEHEDS 7
backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and oversight of the — } /53 A< £ [#] iY 51 25 5 W TAE S AL AR/ 5
Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. The current composition of — [i] il B 2847 W g B2E 05k - EHE WAL TEE
the Board comprises the following Directors together with the Directors resigned (3% A 4F A BT I I ) 4L ¢

during the year:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (Chief financial officer)

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (appointed on 20 June 2016)

Mr. Wang Xihua (appointed on 24 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (appointed on 15 April 2016)
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (appointed on 24 October 2016)
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (appointed on 7 March 2017)

Former Directors
Executive Director
Mr. Wong Mau Tai (retired on 5 April 2017)

Non-executive Director
Madam Tsang Pui Man (resigned on 24 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Ng Ka Ming (resigned on 7 March 2017)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (resigned on 6 December 2016)

BICHF

HATHEH

R B St (I RATECA#)

MERIEA (BB )

B
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FIBEB I D 4 (= F AN 1 HH#EZE(T)
QG O ZFE—NAE T Z A H AT
RS (R ZF— L= L HEETF)

HI L
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WA (R = F LA H i HABA(T)
HBITES

WS Lt (8 =N AE A H AP H BHE)
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R BIT (E F—LAE =L HFHE)
SRR Rz S e (1 =3 — N 4E N HBHE)

The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on the — ZAS/\ Fl42 44 25 B & F WG o o F e 4 - &85 -

Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to ensure  ${BEF1if ~ EA% KL il » DIMEREF G T8
that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep knowledge A ¥ A4E [HH B AT ARBRNZ O E Z4b > IR
of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse  fE /il AT 55 =5 /4 25 35 & 215 2 0 151 B A0 S [R] 1) &8

experiences to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report. A list of Directors identifying their
roles, functions and titles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.royalmedic.com).

Save as Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the chairman of the Board, is (1) the spouse of Madam
Tsang Pui Man, a former non-executive Director resigned on 24 October 2016; and
(2) the brother-in-law of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, a current executive Director
and the chief financial officer of the Group, together with other information
disclosed in Report of Directors in this annual report, if any, there is no financial,
business, family or other material and/or relevant relationship between the Board

members.

The Board complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to (i) the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise; (ii) independent non-executive Director
representing at least one-third of the Board; and (iii) audit committee of the
Company should has at least three independent non-executive Directors, save
for the period from 2 February 2016 to 14 April 2016, the Company failed to
meet the above three requirements under the Listing Rules after Mr. Wei Jianan,
acted as independent non-executive Director, member of the audit committee and
chairman of each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company, passed away on 2 February 2016. On 15 April 2016, all of the above
non-compliance were remedied, as Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and member of each audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company, in place of
Mr. Wei Jianan, all with effect on 15 April 2016.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation and each Director shall be
subject to retirement at annual general meetings of the Company at least once every
three year under the Listing Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-elections in the annual
general meeting of the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
is subject to re-election at the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment by the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Company’s

articles of association.
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Messrs. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney and Lim Ming Shing, Tony, executive Directors,
have been the longest in office among the Directors since their last re-elections,
they are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting of
the Company to be held on Thursday, 31 August 2017 (the “2017 AGM”) in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. Mr. Wang Xihua,
as executive Director, Messrs. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Tam Kin Yip as
independent non-executive Directors, who were appointed by the Board on 24
October 2016, 24 October 2016 and 7 March 2017 respectively, shall retire
from Board in accordance with the articles of association of the Company at the
forthcoming general meeting of the Company. All of the retiring Directors, being
eligible, offer themselves, with the exception of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony for re-
election as Director in the 2017 AGM.

For independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for more
than nine years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at
the annual general meeting and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying
that resolution will include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still

independent and should be re-elected under the Listing Rules.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for
a term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (1)
retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the conclusion of annual
general meeting; (2) at least one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of annual general meeting; and (3)
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of the Company and then be re-elected at the same meeting
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and/or the Listing
Rules.

Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company’s business to the senior management of the Company and
the delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised and periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions, arrangements and/or contracts entered into by the senior
management of the Company. The Board focuses its attention on matters affecting
the Company’s overall strategic policies, corporate governance, finances and the
Shareholders, including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
in accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts, strategies
for future growth, major financing arrangements and major investments, corporate
governance functions, risk management system, treasury policies and fare
structures. The Board has the full support of its senior management to discharge its

responsibilities.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Chan Yan Tak is the chairman of the Board and the chief executive

officer of the Company.

Mr. Chan currently provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing
policies, strategies, business directions and development and ensures that the Board

discharges its responsibilities.

Mr. Chan has been responsible for the overall management and strategic
development of the Group since 2005. He is also responsible for formulating,
approving, organising and implementing the Group’s strategy. His expert
knowledges in the areas of development and retail marketing of health and beauty
supplement products has assisted the Group to grow substantially over the past
ten years. The Board therefore agreed that it is beneficial to and in the best interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as the whole for Mr. Chan to continue with

his roles as the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings
and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of strategies and
policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board committee of the Company
comprising all independent non-executive Directors has formed and will be formed
to advise the independent Shareholders on those connected transactions to be
approved by the independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are also members of
various Board Committees and devote sufficient amount of time and attention to

the affairs of the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction programme
for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and understanding of the
key areas of business operations and practices of the Group as well as the general
and specific responsibilities and duties of Directors under the Company’s articles
of association, the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in Cayman Islands

and Hong Kong.
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An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group structure,
Board procedures, business management and operation of the Company, duties
under the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as the
essence of corporate governance and the trends in these areas, were therefore
arranged for Mr. Wang Xihua as executive Director and Messrs. Leung Winson
Kwan Yau and Tam Kin Yip as independent non-executive Director respectively,
when they joined the Board in October 2016 and March 2017, respectively.

Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge. The
company secretary regularly circulates information and materials related to roles,
functions and duties of listed company directors, economic, environmental and
social topics to the Directors: Mr. Chan Yan Tak, Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, Mr.
Lim Ming Shing, Tony, Mr. Wong Ping Yiu, Mr. Wang Xihua, Ms. Szeto Wai
Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr, Tam Kin Yip, all current
Directors, as well as the past Directors, Madam Tsang Pui Man, Mr. Cheng Kwok
Kin Paul and Professor Ng Ka Ming resigned during the year, and Mr. Wong
Mau Tai, retired on 5 April 2017. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant

training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s expense.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for regular review by the nomination committee of the Company. The
training records of the Directors were reviewed by the nomination committee of the
Company in June 2017.

Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and all Directors have full and
timely access to relevant information of the Company and may take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the

approved procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board Committee(s)”)

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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The draft agenda for regular Board and Board Committees meetings is prepared
by the company secretary and approved by the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees. Directors are advised to inform the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees or the company secretary not less than one week before the relevant
Board and Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda
of the meeting. The agenda together with Board and Board Committees papers are
sent at least three days before the intended date of the Board and Board Committees
meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors and Committee
members are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the

company secretary when required.

The chairman of the Board has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholder as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.
Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly defined

objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests of
the Company and have particular regard to the interest of the Shareholders as a
whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent
of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract or other proposal
to be considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless specifically permitted by
the articles of association of the Company, a Director cannot cast a vote on any
contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any

of his/her close associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by the
company secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the development of
the Company. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also prepared for the Board
and Board Committees, to ensure that the Directors and member of the Board
Committees are supplied with all the requested information in a timely and

appropriate manner.
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Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as well

as the annual general meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 March

5 R ki #k

WEZE-CEZA S —HIREE - KHERN
il AR R AR A R 2 A A T Bk

2017 is as follows: =W -
Attendance/Number
of meetings during
the Directors’ tenure of office
HR RS WSR3
Annual
general meeting Board
JBe SR ABSE R HHE
Number of Meeting(s) EERIR B 1 15
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak RS 1/1 15/15
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony MRERTR A /1 15/15
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney BN = et 1/1 15/15
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu' PSR 1/1 13/13
Mr. Wang Xihua? TG HE S N/A 10/10
Mr. Wong Mau Tai® AR e 1/1 15/15
Non-executive Director FEHfTHEE
Madam Tsang Pui Man* B il Sl £ o /1 4/5
Independent Non-executive Directors IR TEF
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia® A A s 1/ 15/15
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau® IS o N/A 10/10
Mr. Tam Kin Yip’ ELRiEE sta N/A 1/1
Professor Ng Ka Ming® U T 1/1 14/14
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul’ Uil 5z 58 0 1/1 10/10
Notes: gz
1. Mr. Wong Ping Yiu was appointed on 20 June 2016 1 B AE I R NN H o I RAT
2. Mr. Wang Xihua was appointed on 24 October 2016 2 EPGHESE A T F I RFE ] AT A ERAL
3. Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired on 5 April 2017 3 HORAR AN F— LR A FH R
4. Madam Tsang Pui Man resigned on 24 October 2016 4. RS A N AR I H B
5. Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia was appointed on 15 April 2016 5. AIEH B LR N EN A R AR
6. Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016 6 REHE e = F—NE ] A HERAT
7. Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed on 7 March 2017 7 AN R —LE = L AT
8. Professor Ng Ka Ming resigned on 7 March 2017 8 RPN —F—LE=H L HBHTE
9. Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul resigned on 6 December 2016 9 UR R 7 e i AR T H N B BHE

RM Group Holdings Limited 8% % 4 [ ¥ it A R 23 7]
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Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention to performing their
duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance record at the
Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year ended 31 March 2017,
which was reviewed by the nomination committee of the Company in June 2017,

demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared by
the company secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and
Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views expressed (if
any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the Board and Board

committees for their comment within a reasonable time after the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written confirmation of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The nomination committee of the Company has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
within the definition of the Listing Rules and continues to consider each of them to

be independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensures that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. The chairman of the Board held a meeting

with the non-executive Directors during the year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all
Directors have agreed to disclose their Commitments to the Company in a timely
manner and confirm his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests

to the Company twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc.. The Company has
conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against other similar

policies purchase by other companies.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they has fully complied with
the Model Code under the Listing Rules, and there is no event of non-compliance.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company, have been requested to comply with the

provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and for
facilitating information flows and communications among the Directors as well
as with the Shareholders and management. Mr. Chui Pak Shing was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 25 January 2016. On 6 December 2016,
Mr. Wong Kui Tong was appointed as the company secretary of the Company in
place of Mr. Chui Pak Shing as the company secretary of the Company. Please refer
to the section “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” for details of Mr. Wong’s professional qualifications.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed by its respective
terms of reference (amended from time to time) which are available on the
websites of both the Company (www.royalmedic.com) and the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee currently consists of three members, they are all independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, Mr. Tam Kin Yip
and Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia. Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau is the chairman

of the audit committee of the Company.

The chairman of the audit committee possesses the appropriate accounting and
financial management expertise as required under the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the audit committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing

external auditor.
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Duties of Audit Committee

HFHZHTWE

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things, are to make %2 B & 00 3 EHEE £ (PR 1m) 8 35 &t
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of  #MNEUZ ST AG 208 - 00 & R R s = R s

the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if any) 2§ [ BB H 28 SOk B 55 B ¥ 35 o 42 of) o B 8 i
in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control system and risk ({04 ) ;5 b B BEAC N ) A o0 B 42 2R 40 M Jo o 8 T

management system of the Company.

Work Performed by Audit Committee

HFHZ R G EAT LA

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the audit committee held three 3)  #i & - —btHE=H=+—H I MEFEE > #FZ

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows: Z B EAT SRR - S A R e R e R
I
Attendance/

No. of meetings during
the members tenure

of office

GiYiale v

Name of members B k44 B EL A P TR B
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau e ek

(appointed as chairman on 6 December 2016) (R BN H N HIEZATE L) 2/2

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AlfE R At

(appointed on 15 April 2016) (R == N4 ] 7 H#EZEAT) 3/3
Mr. Tam Kin Yip A 2R

(appointed on 7 March 2017) (R —FE—EF=HLHEZT) N/A
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul W B 5z 55 A

(resigned on 6 December 2016) (BN A H N HFHT) 212
Professor Ng Ka Ming LS 22 i

(resigned on 7 March 2017) (= FE—LAFE = H A HEHE) 3/3

In accordance with its terms of reference, the audit committee performed, inter alia, —# % ~F—L4E=H =+—H IMEE M E AW
the following work during the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of this 45 H}] > #IE IR - FR T A G Y BT

report:

(ELAE FoAtL) AN TAF

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited annual report and 1. 7E 171) 95 S S A 4t 5 G LI AR AL oM AT

unaudited interim reported, the interim and final dividend (if any) and the
draft results announcements of the Company, including any changes in
accounting policies and practices; major judgmental areas; compliance
with accounting and auditing standards; and compliance with the listing
requirements on the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to

financial reporting prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

TR L R AR 2 ] I KR AL AR
5 BOR RS IS 8 ORI RS
() AR SERR A w0 AR > S0t e B3R
B LA R R AR A AE TSRS 5 T
ZORIE RIS Tt R IR
ST _E TR R e A R B i PR AR E

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the evaluation 2. 7E [i] # 3G 2 Ak B = R DU S HERT

of the internal control system and the risk management system of the

Group and the relevant report prior to recommending them to the Board for

approval.
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3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the

Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the re-appointment and remuneration

of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, approved and recommended the change in external auditor.

6. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting

function and their training programmes and budget.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee currently consists of four members, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip, Ms. Szeto Wai
Ling, Virginia and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and one executive Director
namely Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony. Mr. Tam Kin Yip is the chairman of the

remuneration committee.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
the Directors and senior management of the Group; review performance based
remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
The remuneration committee also administers and makes recommendation to the
Board with respect to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. When the
remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such Director will

abstain from voting.
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Work Performed by Remuneration Committee

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration committee held

six (6) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

FZ R 7P AT L AE
WEZF-LE=ZA =+ HIEMBEERE - HimE
BT NG o A A I RCESIIT

o

Attendance/
No. of meetings during

the members’ tenure

of office

HE s

Name of members BB £ 7% AR OB R
Mr. Tam Kin Yip A RS

(appointed as chairman on 7 March 2017) (R ZFE—LaF=/ L HEL TR N/A

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER L

(appointed on 15 April 2016) (22— PG H A H HHEZEAT) 5/5
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PRE e

(appointed on 24 October 2016) (P ZF— N4 A H#EZAT) 2/2

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony MRER S 6/6
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B iz e A

(resigned on 6 December 2016) (== H N HBHE) 4/4
Professor Ng Ka Ming AL R

(resigned on 7 March 2017) (= FE—t4F = Ht HEHAT) 6/6

In accordance with its terms of reference, the remuneration committee performed,

inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the

date of this report:

1. reviewed, commented and approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management.

2. reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.

3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages of all

Directors and the senior management and/or other matters.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service
agreement.
5. considered, approved and recommended the salary package of newly

appointed Director, senior management and the company secretary of the

Company.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set
out in note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
In addition, pursuant to the Code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
senior management of the Group by bands for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set

out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
o FERIE: 8

BETE LA = B IR IR
T TN AF R AC A A 5 IS BRI 589 » 1
Ab o AREESF MG SCEEB. LS IR > R —F—LE=
H=A— HIRAEE A G M i S TG 2 4F BE 3
P2 S5 SRS IR

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands Fi AR 43 2 A L T 4 N
HKS$1 to HK$500,000 135 76 2 500,000% 7T 2
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001%#%7C % 1,000,000%% 7€ 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %% 7T %£1,500,000% 7 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 %% 7T %£2,000,0007 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 76 % 2,500,000 7T 1
Nomination Committee REZEY

The nomination committee currently consists of three members, they are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wai Ling, Virginia and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau. Mr. Tam Kin Yip is the

chairman of the nomination committee.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the nomination committee is to make recommendations
to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies

on the Board and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive

Directors.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) since 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of Board members. The objective
of the Diversity Policy stated that selection of candidates be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and

length of service, the summary of which are set out below:

(a)

Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element

in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the

REZEEBH =F BN - WERE L
TTEE e IR 2E Se A ~ mlfE R 2o+ Rk
B o ESESE IR BRI -

Tam Kin Yip, Ms. Szeto

WEZHEWE

R % B E I TR R R AT R % R
S i ) T R A R B D T
SEIHATIE AL

ANTFH T ZERNE SR Z T L EOR
(ZRALBOR ) > EHRIEBGER G A L T
LTtk o 2 JUALBOR B 75wl W B8 1 738 A 4%
— RN Z T FEG AN o AR ER R A
EES UL RBE R R - MR - HERE - 5
AE ~ R B IR AR o RZBORH ST

FIEBCT RS . AN FIHEE
g W H 852 oAb 2 SR O BB B AR
B Mefr Al R AR BRI B s T R -

(a)
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(b)  In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service.

(c)  All Board appointments did and will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and will be considered against objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The nominations committee is required to give consideration to the Diversity
Policy when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the
Board. The ultimate decision did and will be based on merit and contribution that

the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the nomination committee held six

(6) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

(b) TEREEFGRAMAGE > GRZ MW
FEERGNAZ et > BEEARBE
Al AEE S UL BB R MR - H3E
KRB~ Hong ~ Rk SUIRBS AT

(c)  FEFEIARALHC I AMEA R
A Sl 2 R B N IR LU B
B % T B 2 e i

E e

184 Z B G hrRAIT A

MEZZ—LHE=H = —HIEMBUERE - 124
ZH G BTN AR o A A R RS SR
T

Attendance/
No. of meetings during

the member’s tenure

of office

B R

Name of members EASEL BB AT Rk
Mr. Tam Kin Yip AR

(appointed as chairman on 7 March 2017) (R =FE—FE=H L AEZEL T N/A

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AfEE S A

(appointed on 15 April 2016) (P =N ] 7 H#EZAT) 5/5
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PREE e

(appointed on 24 October 2016) (=N H A H 25T ) 212
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul U 5z S e

(resigned on 6 December 2016) (P =N H N HEHE) 4/4
Professor Ng Ka Ming LS 2% cd

(resigned on 7 March 2017) (= FE—LFE = H A HEHE) 6/6
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In accordance with its terms of reference, the nomination committee performed the
following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date
of this report:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the nomination
of Directors.

2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members.

4. approved and recommended to the Board the appointments, resignations and

the retirements in Directors.
5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation and
then be re-elected as Directors in the 2017 AGM in accordance with the

articles of association of the Company and the Listing Rules.

6. reviewed and assessed the nomination procedures, process and criteria.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017. The accounts
are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of the Group’s
profit and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing the accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2017, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and, apart from those new and amended accounting policies as disclosed
in the notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017, have applied them
consistently with previous financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been
made that are prudent and reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external

auditor are set out on pages 82 to 88 of this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequate and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “System”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and to
minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses. The
Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of objectives, budgets
and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of financial information, in
particular, the tracking of deviations between actual performances and budgets/
targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the establishment of clear lines of

accountability; and review and evaluation of the Systems.

On behalf of the Board, the audit committee has reviewed the report prepared by
external independent professional firm in respect of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the System of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017, including the
reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, effectiveness of risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and budget. This is achieved primarily through approving the scope of the annual
internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of internal audit work, the annual and
interim financial statements, and the nature, scope of work, and report of the
external independent professional firm. Base on the results of the annual review
by the Audit Committee, the Board considered that the Systems are effective
and adequate. There is no significant change in the nature and extent of risks
and the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external

environment since the last annual review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management and
internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the internal
audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control systems and
risk management system to identify the potential risks which may arise in the
operation and financial of the Group’s business for implementation of appropriate
measures and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit
programme of external audit company, which are formulated based on a risk
assessment approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are approved by the Audit Committee at the end of the preceding financial year
in conjunction with the management. The external audit company executes their
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These
reports are submitted to the management, the Board and the Audit Committee for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on

an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and

Futures Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures
for handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to ensure
that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in
equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The inside information should remain confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information
is efficiently and consistently made. Disclosure must be made in a manner that the
public can have an equal, timely and effective access to the information available

through Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to meet
with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their questions about the
Group and its business. The chairman of the Board, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings of the

Company along with the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ questions.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general meeting

can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting.

The Company did and will send the notice of the annual general meeting to
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general meeting. The
Company did and would send meeting notice to Shareholders not less than 10 clear

business days before any extraordinary general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders are invited to ask questions related to the business of the Company.
Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the Board has proposed
general mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of the

Company.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting will
be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together with annual
report and posted on the website of the Company (www.royalmedic.com) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All resolutions be passed by way of
a poll conducted and verified by the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results of each
of the proposed resolutions to the Board be published on the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s websites (www.royalmedic.com) shortly
after annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held.
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CORPORATE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely, Tricor

Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax (852) 2810 8185
E-mail is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website http://www.tricoris.com
Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and members of the investor community are welcome to send their

enquiries to the Board and the company secretary as follows:

RM Group Holdings Limited

Address 27/F., The Galaxy,
313 Castle Peak Road
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2297 0000
Fax (852) 2755 9999
E-mail ir@royalmedic.com.hk
Website www.royalmedic.com

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the

extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the “Requisition”) to
require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called by the Board

for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered office of

the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address:  27/F, The Galaxy

313 Castle Peak Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Address:  Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KYI1-1111 Cayman Island

Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s consideration
at the general meetings can send their proposals to the company secretary at the

principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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CORPORATE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship programme
to enable Shareholders and investors to better understand the Group’s business,
the Company has established various channels of communication with the

Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and future

directions of the Company with the directors at the annual general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation to
the results announcements, at which the chairman of the Board and/or the
executive Directors are available to answer questions regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.royalmedic.com contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as announcements
and circulars issued by the Company to enable the Shareholders and the
investor community to have timely access to updated information about the

Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy since
2013 and has reviewed and will review it on a regular basis to ensure its

effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association of
the Company on the Company’s website at www.royalmedic.com and the

Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited ("CCIF”) has merged its business with PCP CPA
Limited to form a new company operated under the name of Crowe Horwath (HK)
CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath (HK)”), the Board considered that it is in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole if the auditor is
able to continue to serve the Company under the more internationally renowned
name of Crowe Horwath (HK), a member firm in Hong Kong of Crowe Horwath
International. Therefore, the Board agreed and approved the appointment of the
Crowe Horwath (HK) as auditor of the Company in place of the resignation of
CCIF as auditor of the Company with effect on 7 March 2017 (“the Change”).
Crowe Horwath (HK) holds office until the conclusion of 2017 AGM on which a
resolution of re-appointment of Crowe Horwath (HK) as auditor of the Company
for the coming year would be proposed. The audit committee of the Company

agreed and approved the Change and the Re-appointment.

In order to maintain Crowe Horwath (HK)’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the audit
committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Crowe Horwath (HK)
and discusses with Crowe Horwath (HK) the nature and scope of their audit and

reporting obligations.

The audit committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Crowe
Horwath (HK) to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal

requirements.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, Crowe Horwath (HK)
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70

Annual Report 2016/2017 4§t



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”)
prepared by the Group to communicate our efforts in sustainability developments
and our contributions to customers, the community and the environment for the
financial year 2016/17.

The reporting framework of this report is in accordance with the disclosures
requirements as set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” under Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG Guide”). A separate Corporate
Governance Report adhering to the requirements of Appendix 14 to the Main
Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited is also
incorporated in our 2016/17 Annual Report.

This report covers our Hong Kong operations only as we operate mainly in Hong

Kong.

OUR BACKGROUND

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we focus our business in traditional Chinese
medicine and health supplements which are developed in a professional and
attentive way. With strong backups and authentication by experts, we uphold our
core value in improving customers’ well-being by launching quality guaranteed
and effective health supplements. New elements and ideas, including modern
scientific research technology and modified formulations, are infused into the
manufacture of traditional Chinese medicine.

OUR PHILOSOPHY

Reacting to our researches on the Asian’s common symptoms for insomnia,
constipation, overweight and nervousness from anxiety, we formulate innovative
products and deliver them in an easily accessible and fashionable way aiming to
relieve people from the aforementioned symptoms. This statement reflects our
mission to be the guardian of customers’ health. We target to assist customers in
relieving pressure, staying healthy and living longer.

We flourish our business and extend access to our innovative product profile,
ensuring our sustainable growth as well as improving people’s health, creating
value for our stakeholders and benefiting the community. To achieve this, we have
continuously been cooperating with renowned universities in launching various

new and innovative products using the intellectual knowledge base of academia.

In the last decade, we have launched innovative products like Royal Medic No. 1
Chinese Cs-4 in addressing the aforesaid symptoms as the center of our business
approach. Our Royal Medic No. 1 Chinese Cs-4 product has continuously been
ranked as “Number One” sales for 8 consecutive years in Hong Kong which proves
that our approach is welcomed by customers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

B A R AR

BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

While developing the sustainability of our business, we have taken into careful
considerations the overall welfare of our products, our customers, our community
and our environment.

We have dedicated our efforts in responsible operations and products, and we
have contributed in addressing the healthcare challenges in Asia. Understanding
customers’ concern on the pricing of healthcare products, we have also taken
thoughtful and responsible approaches such as collaborating with our Distribution
Facilitator to launch more one day special promotion events.

We believe that colleagues are a crucial element to sustain our business. With our
responsible operating and human resources strategies, our ability to attract talents
is enhanced. To nurture and retain these talents, we devote efforts to provide on-
the-job coaching as well as encourage them to participate in professional and
management trainings.

Our care for the community is shone through our passionate colleagues in
organizing and participating in charitable activities which are fully supported by
the management.

As our operations are comparatively straight forward with a corporate office,
several warehouses and a small packaging plant, we have put in continuous
efforts to strengthen the awareness of colleagues the importance of environmental
protection. We have also promoted environmental friendly policies in our offices,
such as using LED lighting for the new offices, implementing procedures for using
less electricity and fuel as much as possible and proper waste management.

In summary, we definitely support the Environment and Social moves, aiming to
ensure our business and the environment that we live in are sustainable.

OUR APPROACH

Being a commercially successful and responsible operating organization, we aim
at assisting people in improving their health while creating values for shareholders
and the community.

This report provides a performance update on our missions across four facets:

. Our behavior — our responsibility for products and customers’ satisfactions
. Our talent — our attraction and retention of people

. Our community — our dedication to the community and

. Our environment — our awareness for a green environment
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
PRIORITIES
Our corporate responsibility priorities are the results of collective insights from our

stakeholders aligned to formulate our business strategies.

We established our priorities through a comprehensive materiality assessment,
identifying the areas that are most important to our stakeholders and have
substantial impact on our business success. Our Board then formulated directions
and set priorities in the environment, social and governance facets considering our

industry, size of business, staff and communities.

Stakeholders’ Engagement

For the financial year 2016/17, we started to engage our stakeholders including
employees’ feedback, distributors’ and investors’ insights via various sources. We
also conducted in-depth interviews with representatives of our key stakeholder

groups including investors and academia.
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BRE - g REREN

Channels for Engaging Stakeholders

Stakeholders LT Rl & 1 2 BURE
Suppliers I R P v Site inspections
B
(4 Supply chain management system
HL IS4 B R S
Regulatory Authorities B 4 Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
SN AR R v A B
Media i) v Interviews
IR

We have evaluated all material issues by considering the importance to
stakeholders and the impact on our business success and have identified the
following factors that are of high priorities:

a. Product innovation

b. Product safety, quality and supply

c. Sales and marketing practices and pricing
d. Intellectual properties

e. Talent attraction and retention and

f. Anti-bribery and corruption
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OVERVIEW OF OUR CONTINUOUS EFFORTS
IN DEVELOPING SUSTAINABILITY OF OUR
BUSINESS

Guardian of your Health

We aim at developing innovative health products that are affordable and improving
the accessibility of health supplements for consumers in Asia. Though our business
focus is currently in Hong Kong, we have future business plans to address the Asian

markets.

Our Behavior - our responsibility for Products and Customers’
Satisfactions

We embed our values throughout the business, formulating ways to research,
develop, market and promote our products. As recognition of our efforts, both our
Royal Medic Cs-4 and RM Broken Ganoderma Spore are being awarded as quality
products under the “A-Mark Quality Chinese Medicines Authentication Scheme”
of Hong Kong Chinese Medicine Authentication Centre (HKCMAC) during the

reporting year.

Responsible Supply Chain Management

We place strong emphasis on the quality, stability and safety of all our products and
we have diversified sources of suppliers. Our suppliers are from different countries
and cities, including China, Hong Kong, Japan, Malaysia, Taiwan, Australia, New
Zealand and USA.

We implement quality control procedures from the procurement of raw materials
and intermediates, selection of suppliers and subcontractors to production,

packaging and labeling.

Selection of our suppliers and subcontracting manufacturers are based on various
factors including their production capacity, product quality, quality control and
production environments. Potential suppliers are required to obtain certifications
such as Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point, Good Manufacturing Practices
and International Organization for Stardarization. Suppliers will have to provide
quality check certificates and/or product analysis or send samples for laboratory
testing before the raw materials/intermediates are shipped out. Upon engagement,
the procurement team would work with quality assurance staff to evaluate the
suppliers based on procurement procedures, after-sales service and food safety.
Moreover, we conduct site audits on selected suppliers from time to time and check

whether their committed quality standard is maintained.

Quality assurance is essential to protect customers and win their confidence.
During the reporting period, we have complied with the relevant laws and

regulations in relation to the health and safety requirements of our products.
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BB~ g RBREN

To accomplish these compliance requirements, we have stringent quality control
measures to ensure highest standard of product quality. Experienced management
team is actively involved in setting internal quality control policies and monitoring

the product quality control process. Major quality control measures include:

1. Establishing and implementing a quality management system to monitor and

inspect on environment and hygiene of in-house food packaging premises.

2. Having standard operation guidelines for handling materials to ensure that

they are properly received, stored and delivered to prevent contamination.

3. Having food safety procedures and measures to control the hygiene of

equipment and premises.

4. Requesting suppliers to provide a certificate of analysis prepared by them
and/or a lab test report prepared by an independent testing center in the

relevant jurisdiction of the Group when delivering the raw materials/

intermediates.

5. Carrying out quality checks on raw materials, intermediates and finished
products.

6. Co-operating with well-known universities or their authorized organizations

to conduct testing and accreditation on products, such as clinical trials to

ensure safety and efficacy of products.

7. Appointing third-party independent testing agencies accredited with
Hong Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme to perform safety testing
on Traditional Chinese Medicine and health supplement products before
launching to the market, including heavy metals, pesticide residues and

microbial counts.

8. Applying and outsourcing the latest testing and technologies to enhance
quality control, such as High Performance Liquid Chromatography, DNA
fingerprinting in herbs and Thin-Layer Chromatography.

In view of our support for an environmental friendly supplier, we will formally
prepare policy and questionnaires for new and existing suppliers to raise and
assess their awareness in managing the environmental and social risk in their own
jurisdictions from 2017. Although we have selected suppliers with environmental
care criteria, we do not have formal documentation on such suppliers in the past

years.
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Adbvertising and labelling

We ensure that the advertisements and the product labellings are in compliance
with relevant requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong
and overseas, including the Trade Descriptions Ordinance, Undesirable Medical
Advertisements Ordinance, Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling)

Regulations, Chinese Medicine Ordinance, with the following measures:

1. Checking all advertising and labelling materials by quality assurance team

and legal adviser before releasing to the market.

2. Continuously updating on any new requirements of relevant laws and

regulations.

Aside from ensuring safety in our packing, a very factual advertising of our

products’ contents is provided to allow a clear understanding of our products.

During the reporting period, there is no reported case of non-compliance of relevant

laws and regulations relating to advertisements and product labellings.

Safeguarding Customers’ Satisfaction

We have placed high priority for customers’ satisfaction. Customers are
encouraged to join our Wisdom Club where better pricing and deals are offered to
members from time to time. In order to ensure that customers’ personal data and
needs are being attended to promptly, a customer service department is designated
to handle feedbacks received from customers and related matters. We have also

observed the data privacy regulations on data collected from customers.

If products need to be returned, customers can contact our customer service via
service hotline where our colleagues will attend to their needs. Customers can
return the products via our Distribution Facilitator and apply for a refund of the

purchased price.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

We have shown continuous support for innovative Chinese medicine by
collaborating with several universities to carry out researches on innovative
products. One of the launched product is the “Bone Enhancement” with the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Though many of our products are generic,
we have strived to protect our uniqueness from other similar products while not
infringing the rights of others. We commercialized those valuable research findings
in our innovative products and marketed them under our brand. This corporate
strategy proves to be effective in brand management with the conferment of our
brand as the “2016 Top Brand Ten Year Achievement Award” winner and shows

the well acceptance of customers.

During the reporting period, there is no reported case of infringement of relevant

laws and regulations relating to intellectual properties.
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Our Talent - our attraction and retention of People
As of 31 March 2017, we have an engaging team of 169 employees, mostly located
in Hong Kong.

Understanding that people in the Group are essential to sustain our business
development, we allocate the necessary resources to facilitate an inspiring team

with a supportive work environment.

Employment and Labour Practices
We share our support as an equal opportunity employer and we hire employees

according to their capabilities without being affected by their social identity.

We have formulated a set of human resources policies in our Staff Handbook. This
Staff Handbook includes guidelines on recruitment, termination, record of working
hours and staff benefits which are fully implemented during the reporting period.
From time to time, the Human Resources Department will review and revise these

guidelines to comply with the current law and regulations in Hong Kong.

We encourage our employees to foster their capabilities. Annual appraisals are

performed and promotions are based on achievements and competencies.

Undoubtedly, it is not lawful to hire child labor and forced labor as defined under

the labour law.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any non-compliance with the

relevant Hong Kong labour laws and regulations.

Retention of Talent — Training

We provide our colleagues with a reasonable remuneration package and we always
encourage them to advance themselves by joining professional development
training, seminars and conferences. For non-professional staff and promoters, the
Human Resources colleagues and sales controller will share up-to-date knowledge

via internal training sessions according to their respective competency levels.

During the reporting period, we have organized an outward bound training for
office staff and promoters, and five internal training sessions on marketing skills
for promoters. Directors, professional and managerial staff have been sponsored to

participate in various knowledge based training or management skills training.
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Health and safety — Our safe and environmental friendly working environment
Our new office design has installed LED lightings to provide a safe and eco-
friendly work environment for the employees. Policy is formulated to ensure
efficient use of resources such as electricity, computers, air-conditioners, paper and
stationeries.

During the reporting period, there is no work related fatal case reported and we
have not observed any material non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to

occupational health and safety.

Anti-bribery and corruption

The overall sustainability of the Group depends notably on the integrity of our
people and awareness of this essential value is promoted by our periodic invitation
of ICAC officers to share their views and cases. In addition, a “Code of Ethics” is

prepared by the Group as internal guidelines for our colleagues to follow.

For proper monitoring of control, we also engage external auditors to carry out
annual internal audit by which the corporate governance and control systems are
assessed and reported to the management. Colleagues are encouraged to report
suspected bribery or corruption cases via our whistleblowing policy. Various
channels are available for reporting which will be followed up by the management

team.

During the reporting period, there is no reported case of non-compliance with the

anti-corruption rules and regulations.

Our Community — our dedication to the Community
We are strongly committed to the overall wellbeing of the community and we
endeavor our efforts to contribute to a healthier and happier society with our

products and activities.

Caring company

We have been awarded the Caring Company Logo for three Consecutive Years
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of our outstanding
performance and commitment in corporate social responsibility and community

work.

Support Given to the Needy
We are committed to helping those in need in the Community and during the
reporting period, we have made monthly donations to a food bank and other

charitable organizations.
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Colleagues’ commitment in volunteer services

We care and support volunteer services and we have enthusiastic colleagues who
are committed to participate. During the reporting period, monthly visit were
jointly organized with some charitable organizations to distribute free lunch boxes
to the needy. Soup packs and health supplements are provided to them from time to
time, aiming to improve their health. During the mid-Autumn Festival in 2016, we

have also shared our love for the elderlies in certain care homes with moon cakes.

Our Environment — our awareness for a green environment
We support all environmental friendly activities that facilitate the development of a
sustainable world while also accomplish our mission in safeguarding health for all

in the community.

The chance of creating material greenhouse emission in our business is low as our
business operation only involves a corporate office, several warehouses and a small
packaging plant which has relatively little impact on environment. In addition,
research and development are mainly collaborations with external professional

parties.

We are affirmative of the importance of environmental protection. We have
therefore, during the reporting period, managed the environmental impacts of our
operations and products across their life cycle to reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
water usage and waste as much as possible. Actions that we have carried out

include:

1. Enhancing the management of product turnaround time and optimizing
product sales life cycle to avoid wastage.

2. Handling hazardous and non-hazardous wastes in a professional manner by
outsourcing to chemical waste collector, minimizing the adverse impact on
the environment. We have also obtained registration of waste producer.

3. Encouraging consolidated package for bulk purchase of 6 to 24 bottles to

reduce packing materials used.

4. Implementing energy saving measures and policies on the use of air-
conditioning and energy in our office.

We have also designed our workplace, distribution network and packaging plant in
accordance with the relevant laws and legislations in Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, we have commenced to develop our environmental
policy, identify key performance indicators, and collect corresponding data. In
the upcoming year, we will formulate further environmental strategies to reduce
emissions, handle hazardous and non-hazardous wastes and enhance the efficiency

of use of resources for sustaining the environment.
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GOING FORWARD

We will continue to uphold our philosophy across these facets of our business:
products, customers, people, community and environment as we proceed with our
journey in developing a sustainable business while maintaining an eco-friendly

environment.

Every attempt will be used to advocate eco-friendly concepts within the
organization and embed in our business priorities. With the enduring support from
all our colleagues in sharing the social and environmental responsibilities, we are
confident that the “Guardian of your Health” concept will channel through our
top management to the entire organization and eventually influence our suppliers
and customers. Our commitment to serve is absolute and we aspire to actualize
our mission with all our stakeholders and contribute our share towards building a

healthier green environment for the future community.
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A\ Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RM GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RM Group Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
89 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

33 37 A S e
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were  [§ B 5T HIE 2 AR PR IAM 0 B 2EHI B - R HEA
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the — WI&7 & MBS E N F5t ik A4 EHEAEIE o S
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  JE 2 7F Jo A" 8¢ 5t 45 8 43 45 WA $  Je iy EL & RLUIRR
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, AT BEIMY o FRAM S € H 73 So 3 TE 4R (L BB 19 &

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

REER

o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FA 7 G-l o e B o O

Impairment of inventories
B

Refer to Note 2(i) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note 5(v)
“Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SR GG MR E MR 20) FEEFHEOR ]~ WEEs(v)l B &
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As at 31 March 2017, the Group had total net carrying value of
inventories of HK$27,183,000 which were after the provision
of HK$3,983,000 and accounted for approximately 10% of the
Group’s total assets. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value (“NRV”). The cost of inventories may not be
recoverable if those inventories are aged and damaged, or if their
selling prices have declined due to changes in market condition.
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Management determines the lower of cost and NRV of inventories
by considering condition of the individual inventory items, their
ageing profile and their estimated selling price.
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We focused on this area as the inventories as at 31 March 2017
were significant and the management’s estimation of impairment
provision for inventories involves significant judgement and various
uncertainties as a result of changing customers’ preferences, market
condition and competitors’ actions.
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following
procedures:

SHEE — B AT I > RIMCETU N ¢

e Understood and validated the control procedures performed by
management in estimating the NRV of the inventories;

. TT_%&IJ‘EEFJ L ki A BT A B R AT 10 4 o R
T

e Observed client’s inventory counts to ascertain the condition of
the inventories as at the year end;

o BUERFHEARRER > fERAEIE A EHRI

e Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile
of individual inventory items by checking to the underlying
procurement documents and invoices;

o BB A BRGSO KR > B BIHE AL D
1 HE B PR AEEA T H R

* Tested on a sample basis, the NRV of selected inventory
items, by comparing the selling price subsequent to the year
end against its carrying value. Where the subsequent selling
prices are lower than the carrying value, we assessed whether
impairment has been properly calculated and accounted for;

o IEBIEBUERRN S EES BIRTE » B E 7 HIHE
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e Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent usage/sales of selected
inventory items. Where there are no significant subsequent
usage/sales of the respective items after the year end, we
discussed with management its assessment on estimated future
utilisation/sale quantities and the estimated selling prices,
corroborating explanations with the results of our NRV test,
the ageing profile, sales orders received, historical margins and
estimated market condition.
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Based on the procedures described, we found the estimations of
management in relation to the impairment provision for inventories
were supportable by available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

RE e

o 3 7 Wt 2 0H (4)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

A 7 - o B %

Impairment of receivables

JRE WAL ML ok

Refer to Note 2(h)(i) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note 5(iv)
“Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 18 “Trade and other

receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 March 2017, gross trade receivables of the Group amounted
to HK$41,810,000, which accounted for approximately 16% of
the Group’s total assets. The provision for impairment of trade
receivables amounted to HK$162,000, all of which was attributable

to customers located in Hong Kong.
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Management performed periodic credit monitoring, which
included the review of customers’ credit worthiness, collection of
outstanding balances and individual credit terms. If there is indicator
that the receivables are impaired, management would make
specific provision against individual balances with reference to the

recoverable amount.
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We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the receivables and
the estimation and judgement involved in the determination of the

recoverable amounts of trade receivables.
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:
SPEPE BB AR IE - RIMCEST LIRS

¢ Understood and validated the credit control procedures performed
by management, including its procedures on periodic review
on aged receivables and assessment on recoverability of these

receivables;

o HRANSRAEE LB MATAVE N BT > SR R
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e Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile on trade

receivables by checking to the underlying sales invoices; and

o EHMARE AR EN E HEEE » DUMhAR Oy QIR R S R A 2
TerE s R

¢ Tested subsequent settlement of trade receivables balances.
Where settlement had not been received subsequent to the year
end for those unprovided aged receivables beyond the credit
period as at year end, we obtained management’s assessment on
the recoverability of these debts and corroborated explanations
with historical settlement pattern and underlying correspondence

with the relevant customers.
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Based upon the above, we found that the estimation and judgement
made by management in respect of the impairment provision for

receivables were supportable by the available evidence.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 A% L e o

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 A% L e o

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 2 R R 2 5 A MBS R R A
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EHAE(H)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those ¢ ELZEA% 2 B & i@ M IE P > FRAM A E MFLL =R
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial — JH¥FASHAZ: & BB MR A0 B wl fe £y B2 > [KI1f #fE
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We i BASE#F5H T IH o FoAM e A% BT rp it s
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes — ZJH > BRIEEBERAN TN B FR G Lo IH »
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we  BUZE M35 28 FLAG S LT - 4050 4 20 7 300 76 T A ¥
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 8 F i %8 3 25 TE 3 1 10 B T 7% S 88 3 28 A2 10 0
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the — FJ 25 » FoA e E A MELEH AL 1% 0 IE o

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report  H} B 7 J8 37 4% BT 15 B9 B 51 VE B 58 A\ 5 ki

is Kwok Cheuk Yuen. i o

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited [ B kA (F ) e st i B A R A
Certified Public Accountants HEEFhT

Hong Kong H

28 June 2017 Y e AN

Kwok Cheuk Yuen =119 G

Practising Certificate Number P02412 RS H R EP02412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LLOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ao 1 48 A B Ll 2 iy W i

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #( % — & —LE=H =+ —H L4

2017 2016
= e
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
(i Tt T
REVENUE & 6 220,853 189,958
Cost of sales PH A (63,732) (42,956)
GROSS PROFIT EF 157,121 147,002
Other revenue and other net loss At i 5 B G Ath s 48 1 A 7 209 204
Selling and distribution expenses S8 S B 7 (43,873) (40,293)
Administrative expenses ATELBH (97,041) (91,633)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS RS- gl 16,416 15,280
Finance costs Pl A 8(c) (776) (545)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION K Bt i i ) 8 15,640 14,735
Taxation FiIE 11 (3,817) (4,314)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR P i) 11,823 10,421
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Ho At 21 5 1R
Item that may be reclassified A pER R A R R ZHA
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of B HMER SE TS 5 TR IR A T S8 7 B
financial statements of foreign operations (504) (358)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AR P 2T I RS SR
FOR THE YEAR 11,319 10,063
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o B 4H 2 S B At 4 v Wi s R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — L4 =H =+ —H (L4 5

2017 2016
R RN
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
(i Tt THETT
Profit for the year attributable to: VLR N HEAG AR 5 )
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE7 XS DN 12,746 10,421
Non-controlling interests FEVE MO HE £ (923) -
11,823 10,421
Total comprehensive income attributable to: DL N AL 2 Th e 2 4E 3 -
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE ZEDN 12,208 10,063
Non-controlling interests FEVE M HE £ (889) -
11,319 10,063
Earnings per share attributable to AR BB N AL 47 1A 1 JBE 28R
owners of the Company for the year (DA 2 9 I B AT )
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— basic — K 13(a) 2.4 2.0
— diluted — W 13(b) 24 2.0

The notes on pages 95 to 183 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to profit for the

year are set out in note 12.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o IR DL &

As at 31 March 2017 A —Z—t4E=H=+—H

2017 2016
SFLE CE AR
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
(i Tt AR
Non-current assets I &
Property, plant and equipment LE Y & ] 15 54,314 54,382
Intangible assets MY A 16 2,752 695
Prepayments and deposits TEAS B R % 4 18 707 2,422
57,773 57,499
Current assets i
Inventories ey 17 27,183 20,309
Trade and other receivables TRE A B 3 Bz LAt FE A sk TR 18 70,146 49,536
Cash and cash equivalents B KB E 19 110,218 91,958
Bank deposits with maturity greater S H Z 0 =8 H B ERATAER
than three months 19 - 10,156
Tax recoverable B g [ o TE 764 5,002
208,311 176,961
Current liabilities TR
Trade and other payables JEASH Rk B HoAth FE A5} 3T 20 16,632 15,985
Bank loans and overdrafts SRAT BRSO L 22 30,565 36,898
Tax payable JREAS B IE 2,129 -
Provisions A 23 1,345 1,571
50,671 54,454
Non-current liabilities JEmmh £
Deferred tax liabilities 05 SIE ol T A 24 589 626
Amount due to a non-controlling interest JREAST I 2 IR HE 5 K T 21 1,200 -
1,789 626
Net assets B R 213,624 179,380
EQUITY o
Equity attributable to owners of the Company WN/NCIE YN A
Share capital HEAS 25(b) 5,286 5,163
Reserves it 206,758 174,217
212,044 179,380
Non-controlling interests FE P R 4 1,580 -
TOTAL EQUITY i AR 213,624 179,380
The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 183 were approved and 2589 FH £ 183 H M4 S MBI F N —F — LN

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2017 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Chan Yan Tak

B L
Director

e

The notes on pages 95 to 183 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

22 /S
i

2558 B

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

Attributable to owners of the Company

AR MEL
PRC Share Non-
Share Share  Merger  statutory Translation option  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total  interests Equity
Tt B E ik
Bk WEE ARG B HORE WRERG  REEA #it [ e
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tér  T#x  T#xr  TEx  TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx
(note 25 (note 25 (note 25 (note 25 (note 25
() (i) (c)iv)) (clv) (e)(vi)
(Wtos  (Mtos  (WRE2s  (WREDS  (WEREDS
@0 (i) (©)(iv) (©)) (©)(vi))
At 1 April 2015 R-F—AFLA—H 5,155 123,890 (10) - (161) 8,161 43878 180913 - 180913
Changes in equity for 2016: % aud Tl K
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - 10,421 10,421 - 10,421
Other comprehensive loss: 2R -
Exchange differences on translation BN %
of financial statements of B RY
foreign operations EREH - - - - (358) - - (358) - (358)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 %2 i 43 44 - - - - (338) - 10421 10,063 - 10,063
Share options lapsed TR - - - - - (1075) 1075 - - -
Shares issued under share option scheme U B AR R BB 1A
(note 25(b)(i)) (zE25(0)(0)) 8 1,526 - - - (222) - 1312 - 1312
Dividends approved in respect of the DR R &
previous year (nofe 12) (Hf3E12) - - - - - - (12908)  (12.908) - (1908
Appropriation to PRC statutory reserve B % i 2 - - - 70 - - (770) - - -
At31 March 2016 and 1 Apil 2016 RoF-AEZAZH-AR
ZF-NEf B 5163 125416 (10) 70 (519) 6,864 41,69 179,380 - 179380
Changes in equity for 2017: “R-thEEREY:
Profit/(loss) for the year R/ (B8 - - - - - - 12,746 12,746 923 1823
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome; b2 (BE) /i -
Exchange differences on translation BN
of financial statements of B
foreign operations EREH - - - - (538) - - (538) Rl (504)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4N 2T I A4 - - - - (538) - 12,746 12,208 (889) 1319
Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary &I /> a4 &
without losing control (note 28) Bk LR AR Z
IR (HE8 ) = = = (308) 365 = 774 831 2469 3300
Transaction costs attributable to the disposal 1 &— R s b 45
of partial interest in a subsidiary (note 28)  FERGAY7C 5 ik (Jff428) - - - - - - (547) (547) = (547)
Shares issued under share option scheme  HRIGREL AT /B 171
(note 25(b) (i) (725 b)) 13 23468 - - - (3419) - 0,172 - 2,172
Share options lapsed BRI - - - - - (3,445) 3445 = = =
At31 March 2017 REF—tE=A=+—H 5,286 148,884 (10) 462 (692) - 58,114 212,044 1,580 213,64

The notes on pages 95 to 183 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

JASH FLOWS
AT Bl i AR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% ~ZF—LFE=H =1 —H IEFE

2017 2016
e S s TN
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
i Tt THsTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R RS
Profit before taxation BB i s 15,640 14,735
Adjustments for: AR & TP /E i
Finance costs il A 8(¢c) 776 545
Write-down of inventories ok 1 & 17(b) 4,961 4,386
Reversal of write-down of inventories RO AT 4 ] 17(b) (2,012) (1,609)
Depreciation on property, plant and W~ W BT
equipment 15 4,633 3,015
Amortisation of intangible assets T 7 16 143 134
Impairment loss of trade receivables JE SRR A s 18 18(b) 23 42
Reversal of impairment loss of trade 1 o] e sR B OIR S (E S 18
receivables recognised 18(b) - 5)
Impairment loss of property, plant and Y2~ W M A R 1
equipment 15 - 1,271
Waiver of accruals HoAh R I A 7 - (29)
Bank interest income SRAT AR 7 (43) (106)
Net loss on disposal of property, LBV B KGR
plant and equipment I 15 7 230 82
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries H A R 2 D 1 e 18 A 7 = 919
Provisions for goods return B 23 932 1,947
25,283 25,327
Changes in working capital BB SEE)
Increase in inventories e (9,823) (6,943)
(Increase)/decrease in trade R M iR 2 e A B i 3k T
and other receivables (3 (13,918) 15,077
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JREASF B S At JRE A5F 3¢
other payables 1m /() 647 (2,910
Utilisation of provisions for goods return BB A 23 (1,158) (1,888)
CASH GENERATED FROM R R B B4
OPERATIONS 1,031 28,663
Hong Kong Profits Tax refund CIB B RS 3,930 9
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid TR RIS (879) (10,871)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid 40 B A S P AR (519) (2,358)
Net cash generated from operating activities 5K 5 84 25 1Y Bl & 540 3,563 15,443
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEHE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment =R/ E I S & ] 15 (4,798) (7,623)
Proceeds from sale of property, W ~ R K
plant and equipment UEEE el 2 46
Purchase of intangible assets i g% 16 (2,200) (200)
Bank interest received E R T AL 7 43 106
Withdrawal/(placement) of bank deposits with — $2H " (££5%) F W H £ A =18 A
maturity greater than three months HISRAT A7 3K 10,156 (68)
Deposits paid for potential acquisition bEZ R TR DR (5,000) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of Wk B R B 2 ) T I AR Y
cash acquired B 27 - (19,323)
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed of  H B Bft J& /> 7] T & A= 19 15 Bl 4 i 29(b) - 878
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS
Fr o Bl | %

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

2017 2016
R .
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
BE 5T T#T THTT
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING PR $ 45 Bl 1 B 4 13
ACTIVITIES (1,797) (26,184)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il )
Repayment of bank loans T RERAT Y (30,209) (20,644)
Proceeds from new bank loans Hr %ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ Fﬁ' EEel 25,513 36,720
Interest paid ELATFLE 3(c) (776) (545)
Proceeds from shares issued under share *ﬁ?ﬂ%‘: i PR ) A T I
option scheme RS 25(b) 20,172 1,312
Proceeds from partial disposal of equity interest 54 H B — ] b J&§ 28 =) i 2.
in a subsidiary, net of transaction costs FIrfS3IH > FNBREE 5 AR 28 2,753 -
Proceeds from assignment of shareholder’s loan {6 JIi B 45 0438 7 JF 28 IS4 25 19
to a non-controlling interest Fr 5 37 JE 28 1,200 -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company RENEN/N j%ﬁ AN REE 12 - (12,908)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM 2 OB Y B VA
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 18,653 3,935
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH B4 M BL&%E i, (s ) 54
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20,419 (6,800)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [T 256 53 ) ) 5 2 (522) (443)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR B 4 % B 4 S
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 90,321 97,570
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR H B4 KB4 SE
AT END OF YEAR 19 110,218 90,321
The notes on pages 95 to 183 form an integral part of these financial statements. 595 256183 L MY I 218 A< AT 3 F i — B o o

94 Annual Report 2016/2017 4E R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —&—LAFE=H =+ —H IL4F

CORPORATE INFORMATION

RM Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and
domiciled in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap. 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company has established
a principal place of business in Hong Kong at 27/F, The Galaxy, 313 Castle
Peak Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong and has been registered as a non-
Hong Kong company under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance on 5
April 2012. The Company’s issued shares have been listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since 11 October 2013. On 20 November 2015, the
listing of the shares of the Company has been transferred from the GEM to
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (“Transfer of Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products
in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
The Group’s products are mainly sold and distributed under its proprietary
brand names of the companies within the Group and the private label brands
specifically developed for and owned by a renowned chain of health and

beauty products in Hong Kong and Macau (the “Distribution Facilitator”).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed

below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 17 WA 005 e Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share data.
HKD is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have a significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —&—LAFE=H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other

parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the

definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2,

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in the relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and

no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to the financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any

accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using

the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is

depreciated over the unexpired term of lease;

— buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion;

— Leasehold improvements 20% per annum or over the

lease term, if shorter

— Plant and machinery 30%-33% per annum

- Furniture, fixtures and 20%-33% per annum
equipment
— Motor vehicles 20% per annum
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both

the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

®

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful
lives are as follows:

— Product development rights 7 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so

that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

—  how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

(2

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is
any indication that the club membership has suffered an impairment
loss.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the
legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer to the
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the
following exception:

—  land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 H R I

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2, FEEFFHER(HE)
(CONTINUED)
(g) Leased assets (Continued) (g) HME&EE
(ii)  Operating lease charges (i) AEMELH

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased assets. Lease incentives received are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged as expenses in

the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings held for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of

the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a

finance lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of assets

(i)  Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the

Group about one or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

—  significant changes in the technological, market,

economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not
been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively

are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit

risk characteristics similar to the collective group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

@)

Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been determined had

no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade receivables included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to
that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss

previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—_ intangible assets; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement

of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually

whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-

generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
amount of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if

determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

@

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the

financial year (see notes 2(h)(i) and (ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

(k)

()

(m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less

allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the

effective interest method.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the

consolidated statement of cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(n) Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment

or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)  Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to eligible employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase
in share option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the trinominal option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options, the total estimated fair value of

the share options is spread over the vesting period, taking into

account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the

expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option

reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(0)

(p)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payments

of termination benefits.

Equity-settled share-based payments for share options
granted to eligible participant other than employees

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the
fair values of the services received, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when
the counterparties render services, unless the services qualify for

recognition as assets.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a

period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future or, in the case of deductible

differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are not discounted.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is

recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

—  in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group or the Company issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables. The fair
value of financial guarantees issued at the time of issuance is
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length
transaction for similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by reference to interest
rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates
of such information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense

is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any

deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with note
2(q)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group or the Company
under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group or the Company is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other payables in respect of that

guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated

amortisation.
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

(r)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits

will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the profit or loss as

follows:

@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risk
and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recognised after value-
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts and net of sales return.

Provision of Chinese medical consultation services
Income from provision of Chinese medical consultation
services is recognised when services are provided.

Provision of health food processing services
Income from provision of health food processing services is
recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the translation

reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to

profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Annual Report 2016/2017 4§t

2.

FERFETBOR (H)

(s)

i
AR LI SN S 5y 58 By H Y BEE 4
B o DASNE & 00 B W B
BRSO B BEE A AT o [ S 8 MR
1R 4 RS -

LASNH 22 1B S A R JF O
FARMENZES W EFRRE o LS
Wt PERHE ) JE B Bl
{50 FHY 76 52 2 PR H Y R SR

AN ERS 2 SERR A 5y HETT 2
A1 HEE RE < 4 2 MES I S T © B
B IR D2 2 THH 49 Wity IR 2 Wi B
FRE Ty HETT o UL AR 2 M 52270
i JFC A 2 T WS 4 AR - S BRI R
foli 5 < Wi h BT -

H B i 1S IRE (R L B A4 i A
W < v - WRAREHE S
SIS I BT 2 R4 I RE RS R~ R
FS 2t A ] 5 Y AP SE RS 9 i
O3 F O HE S (PR A M i 18020 B 5
FE)) > BRARS F A AN IEAG % S T
REFARESE 2 BT A NE SLZERR - & ET
g EXCE

BEAh - A BR RO R LB I AP SE RS 2
Wi Jo 2 WELAS 5| B0AR B 1 % 2 3 i
Jig o F) 2 EEIRE > Ul B oA 2 B
AT HE e 22 T B 0 R A A
T A7 A7 R 2 PR AR o LT AT A 7
oy B (BB 23 6 B o W E R 5
BOAEMARZEREEIME - 1%
EO 3 A 2 2R T M 5 2 B R 0

A o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

complete.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)
(b)

Related parties (Continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

®

(i)

(ii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”) for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be

aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first

effective for the current accounting period of the Group. None of these

developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and

financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or

presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet

effective for the current accounting period.
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4.

120

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

B 75 oL ok 5 L % A 8

(a) Financial instruments by categories (a) MBELTHSHE
2017 2016
R o E TR RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Financial assets BB
Financial assets included in BT I AR R B A i B ] 1)

“trade and other receivables” BB e 45,972 38,845
Cash and cash equivalents e M &5 EY 110,218 91,958
Bank deposits with maturity greater FNHH 2% =00 H B 8RAT A7

than three months - 10,156
Loans and receivables R S IE 156,190 140,959
Financial liabilities R
Financial liabilities included in GIA T AT B B AR R | /Y

“trade and other payables” B A 16,632 15,985
Bank loans and overdrafts SRATE R B L 30,565 36,898
Amount due to a non-controlling interest A I 14 B 25 2T 1,200 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost FR BB AN T A A TS £ 48,397 52,883

(b)

Financial risk management and policies

The Group has exposure to the credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk and currency risk arising from financial instruments. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies
and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of merely dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to minimise
risk, the management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations of the financial position and condition
of the customers and debtors of the Group are performed on all
customers and debtors requiring credit over a certain amount.
Debtors with overdue balances, which will be reviewed on
a case-by-case basis, are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)
(i)

(i)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has certain concentrations of credit risk of 55% (2016:
54%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and 57% (2016: 65%) of the total
trade and other receivables due from the Group’s five largest
customers respectively.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure of credit risk arising from trade and other receivables
are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to Board approval.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The Group relies on its liquid funds and bank
borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. As at 31 March
2017, the Group has available un-utilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$5,900,000 (2016: HK$10,562,000).

The following table set out the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. s B AR BE R B A 1 8% (4)
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) B IR B4 B R BOSR (48)
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) JEEE B ()
Specifically, for bank loans which contain a repayment on BT E o B B T R RAT
demand clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole e Y I AT T A R 2R R
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the ) ?Eﬁ%ﬁ ’ ﬁl?ﬁﬁﬂ‘}ﬂ’iﬂ
earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, i.e. E‘é R ?E f Jac 100 1 B A £
if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call ?k A Bt ﬁfﬁ Eji R A it T!%
the loans with immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other R B £ E,%Ez\ )‘ 2R flt
bank borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled repayment > AR ERLIEI AL
A U4 T 2 K H 4 3
dates.
As at 31 March 2017 W ZE—EFE=ZH=1—H
Total
contractual
Within ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year lyear  cash flows amount
BRIARMEB
Blgiig
JEE R —EN BR—E sk T e
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T TH#L TH#L TH#L TH#L
Trade and other payables B o MR B LA R AT 0 - 16,632 - 16,632 16,632
Secured bank loans HIRIHITER 30,565 - - 30,565 30,565
Amount due to a non-controlling JREASS R P A I
interest - - 1,200 1,200 1,200
30,565 16,632 1,200 48,397 48,397
As at 31 March 2016 R oE A=A = —H
Total
contractual
Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
BHRRGB
Bz
JEE K B VN F 3 B MR
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk
Trade and other payables JEE BN R LA AR - 15,985 - 15,985 15,985
Secured bank loans HARARAT R 35,261 - - 35,261 35,261
Secured bank overdrafts AHIERATIE S 1,637 - - 1,637 1,637
36,898 15,985 - 52,883 52,883
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(ii)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. w5 LB A BE B B A b o (4)
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) A R a4 B K BOR (48)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) IRBE LB ()
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of T A 5] B A I SR 0 K A R
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed FA $RAT B2 AR ML IR K I o T
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The ) T 7 7 K IR M) 2R 1 1 04 31 30
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual HAor T o A B 3 a 54 1 A
rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than the amounts #R) R G WA R AT K.
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity I WSS B A
analysis. Taking into account of the Group’s financial position, S b TR SR IR [ 4 R A B
the directors of the Company do not consider it probable that TE I AR o BEFT B AR [ 1) B
the bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate HRDAR » RN AIEHFE R
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such AT AT A 75 SR B0 R 22 K 14 1 19
bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled PIATREPEAS K o A2 A) # AR
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. 15 > A RBATEFO g RE &
Sl e T S 1) T 2R K H AE
o

Maturity Analysis — Term Loans (excluding bank FHH 507 — #9524 50 ]
overdrafts) subject to a repayment on demand clause based FE 32 WP HE B2 SR 28 3R sk 9

on scheduled repayments B (N EERITEL)
More than More than Total
lyearbut 2 years but contractual
On Within less than less than More than  undiscounted
demand 1year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows
ARFMH
AE-EE EBmAEE BaiR
JEZk —HER NS AR A ki)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
31 March 2017 ~F—tEZAS R i 3795 3795 11,384 15,051 34,025
31 March 2016 ZE-AE=AETH - 6,778 3710 11,309 17,031 38,888
RM Group Holdings Limited 71 4% %5 £ M 2 % A R 2 W) 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Interest rate risk

$ 55 D o A B % A e % ()

(b) SRS B s B R BOOR (4
(iii)  FFE fE

(i) Interest rate profile i) FIEMU
The following table details the interest rate profile of the T AR A A AR T Y
Group’s assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting L % R R G A
period: T
2017 2016
S L
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T Tt
Fixed interest rates: ER
Financial assets P
Bank deposits with maturity greater N H 274 = H 1
than three months SRITAFK - 10,156
Net FE - 10,156
2017 2016
—E L TN
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x THETT
Variable interest rates: #A
Financial assets o
Cash at bank WITH & 110,139 91,882
110,139 91,882
Financial liabilities AR
Bank loans and overdrafts SRATE I MBS 30,565 36,898
30,565 36,398
Net FE 79,574 54,984
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) R T

At 31 March 2017, if interest rates had been 100 basis
point higher with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax would have increased by
HK$673,000 (2016: HK$455,000).

At 31 March 2017, if interest rate had been 100 basis
point lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax would have decreased by
HK$673,000 (2016: HK$455,000).
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iv)
(0)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The increased/decreased in profit after tax results mainly
from higher/lower interest income from cash at bank
and higher/lower interest expense on bank loan and
overdrafts. Other components of equity would not be

significantly affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end

of the reporting period.

Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy
with respect to the foreign exchange exposure. The
Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables
and payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Renminbi
(“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”).

In order to manage and minimize the foreign currency
risk, the management will continue to manage and
monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.
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4.

126

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(b)

(iv)

Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong

dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end

4.

$ 55 D o A B % AR e % ()

(b) B IR B4 B R BOSR (48)
(iv) B b (4E)

G)  RZEWE R (4
S AR SR R
SIS A LA AR B 2 e
BN R EHEN S
il 8 B R T E
PR R B e L B T 7R S
e BEESIT S > AR
UL RS - A %

date.

AF&G H A RUIRE R -

Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

it e 32 B W IR (DAY C R )
2017 2016
S S

USD RMB HK$ USD RMB HK$

FL N T ESTv NG T

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T#T T#T T#T T Tt T

Cash and cash equivalents Bla LB EEEY 117 204 1,158 46 249 1,710

Trade and other receivables B M R B A RE S S 41 = = 1,954 - -

Trade and other payables REASF B e At JRE A} 0 (1,303) (7) - (2,957) - -
Net exposure arising from O ERR G 7 I 1

recognised assets and liabilities A 1) B 1 AR (1,145) 197 1,158 (957) 249 1,710
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% ~F—tHF=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
SAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(iv)  Currency risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it
is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong
dollar and the United States dollar would be materially

P At

4. W )EE

I

B R A 1 % (7))

(b) S IR B S B ()
(iv)  FEHRBR (4)

(i)

TR IMT

N AR AR I BR B AR
i (% PR G i ) R E
A G B RO R A E
K e B 2 A1 HE FEE % 4 7
W% H B ) i A R
B R 58 A8l (I R T A L A
JEVB PR 3R MR N5 3
AT 3 S SIS

unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the TG [H] 2 140 65 BE SRR g 37
United States dollar against other currencies. 2 70 b8 H At & W 2 A8 (E
SR AR AT AL BT &
2017 2016
L e
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease)  Effect on profit (decrease) Effect on profit
in foreign after tax and in foreign after tax and
exchange rates  retained earnings exchange rates  retained earnings
AMRIER  BERBUREA R SR HERBLR A R
LI/ (PR RERAZ R B REERZ R
HK$’000 HK$°000
TH#T T
RMB ARH 5% 8 5% 10
(5%) ® (5%) (10)
HKS$ T 5% 58 5% 64
(5%) (58) (5%) (64)
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4.

128

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(iv)  Currency risk (Continued)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit/loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong Dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation

purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2016.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing

debt as it sees fit and appropriate.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/
(cash) is calculated as total borrowings (including amount due to a
non-controlling interest and secured bank loans and overdrafts (as
detailed in note 21 and 22 respectively)) less cash and bank balances.
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated

statement of financial position plus net debt, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% ~F—tHF=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.
JAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Capital management (Continued)

The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2017 are

S 5 L i 4 L % A 9 o (4

(o)

BAE B ()
RoZ—RER-F—LEZHA

as follows: =+—H o AREENFEEAMBILR
L/ N

2017 2016

—F b TR RN

HK$°000 HKS$’000

F#oT Fisoc

Debts (&5 31,765 36,898
Less: Cash and bank balances (note 19) W BA ARAT AR (B EE19) (110,218) (102,114)
Net cash BTN REiE | (78,453) (65,216)
Total capital B 213,624 179,380
Net gearing ratio WEE AR N/A N/A

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at

cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair value

as at 31 March 2016 and 2017.

RM Group Holdings Limited 1% % £ M #2 % A FR 2 W)

(d)

AR R AT AT g 2w ¥4 B R <y
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130

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(U]

(i)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of similar nature and functions. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation and amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been

abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing its value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which
requires significant judgement relating to level of revenue and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact
on the carrying amounts of the assets and could result in additional

impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —&—LAFE=H =+ —H IL4F

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

»)

Impairment of intangible assets with finite useful lives

The Group tests whether the intangible assets which have finite useful
lives have suffered any impairment whenever there is any indication
that the intangible assets have been impaired. The Group has made
estimations and assumptions in relation to the potential future cash
flows of identifiable intangible assets. This assessment involves
estimations and assumptions relating to potential future revenues,
appropriate discount rates and the useful lives of such assets. The
recoverable amounts of these intangible assets have been determined
based on the value-in-use calculations, which have been estimated
using discounted cash flow method. The directors consider that the
recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the intangible

assets and no impairment was recognised during the year.

Impairment of receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
resulting from the inability of the customers and other debtors to make
the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on the ageing
of the receivable balance, debtors’ credit-worthiness, and historical
write-off experience. If the financial condition of the customers and
debtors were to deteriorate, actual impairment losses would be higher

than estimated.

Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end of
each reporting period and write down inventories to net realisable
value. Management estimates the net realisable value for such items
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period and make

allowance for obsolete items.

[o# 3¢ & WAl st (A8)

P FEAS W PR R A AR ()
(i) BAHE AR T 5 D e

(iv)

v)

il A7 A A0 5 S U T 7 (L
A A g Tt B A R T 4R 00 2 B
AT AT A fR B o ARSE F
T Tl | AR TR VA R R e U i A
AR B R % o LLEFAE W R ik S
FE 2B R AR ~ 0 R B R Al
AR Al R - % T
2 T[] < A R O B B O
BT R AR A R - EHR
K > TR WA 2 AT T s AR e R LR
TI{E > #AF TR (E -

JE A ST 1 5 e

AHE B TR 5 B A A S N A A
S A A R SR E R o A
42 B P M WSRO 2 Ml ~ AR S
NGB BB A Mo e B et —
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EiP N

FE M
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

[3H 3¢ & 5 Al st (A8
R NLESE SRR A

Current taxation and deferred taxation

Judgement is required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination are made.

Deferred taxation relating to certain temporary differences and tax
losses are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred taxation in the periods in which such estimate

is changed.

Provisions for goods return

The Group makes provisions for goods return based on a percentage
of sales and information on actual consumer returns of goods to
estimate return percentages. The provision is calculated based on
these factors and is adjusted for any fluctuations in the returns
estimated by management as of the end of each reporting period.
The estimate has been made on the basis of historical trends of
return and may vary as a result of new product components, altered
manufacturing process, other events affecting product quality or

change in consumer behavior.

In evaluating the adequacy of the provision, the Group prepares an
analysis to determine the reasons for unutilised provisions. If the
analysis determines that some carry forward provision amounts were
no longer appropriate based on actual claims experience, proper

adjustments will be made to release the over-accrued portion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

REVENUE 6. Wk
The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution AREEFEREW - B8P R
of health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong Kong, B SN B o B O R EE A DA R SR A MG b
Taiwan and the PRC. The products are mainly sold and distributed under the EE G o AREE G EEIARE T & A
proprietary brand names of the companies within the Group and the private A SR R4 R AR B A HL Ay A LT
label brands specifically designated for the Distribution Facilitator. R E K S LT R B o
Revenue represents the invoiced value of sales of health and beauty Wi 4 4 PR A E b DA S 5 28 Al ol B E 1) B
supplements and products, less sales returns and discounts and value-added BEETRAE - BRI B B R ] R T n K B
tax and other sales taxes for the year. An analysis of revenue is as follows: {EBL S HALSE ERBL o s R -
2017 2016
e S S TR R
HK$°000 HK$’000
T# Tt
Health supplements R A 179,844 160,870
Beauty supplements and products LA B 26,481 27,484
Others HoAth 14,528 1,604
220,853 189,958

"/

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSS 7. AR B Gt fes B 3 A

2017 2016
22—t TR IR
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Other revenue H Al g
Bank interest income SRATFLE YA 43 106
Total interest income on financial assets not at 3 JF 4% 23F{E £8 48 5 A MR
fair value through profit or loss TS 1 R IR A KR 43 106
Sundry income METE A 211 889
Waiver of accruals HoAh FEFT 2 8 = 29
254 1,024
Other net loss H At e 18 v
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries L O IR D £ e 1 A
(note 29(a) & (b)) (B3E29(a) K (b)) = (919)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant YIS - W IR e 1R AR
and equipment (230) (82)
Exchange gain, net W So, i 4 - VRAE 185 181
45) (820)
209 204
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

8.

134

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the followings:

8. Brbi il i A

BB T3 B J5 A A0BR 7 (FFA) LT £ T 4%

[EEi
2017 2016
e Sl ot RN
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#IT THsoT
(a) Staff costs: (a) HIHA:
Salaries, allowances, and other benefits B HAh M At AE A
(including directors’ emoluments (B HG M4 (KHEE9))
(note 9)) 58,982 52,257
Contributions to defined contribution TE R ORI EE kK
retirement plans 2,176 2,043
61,158 54,300
(b) Other items: (b) HAhEH :
Auditors’ remuneration % BRI 4 1,239 1,090
Cost of inventories TFElA
(notes (i) below and 17(b)) (5L SRR G) KB 5E17(b)) 63,732 42,956
Depreciation on property, W~ W KT
plant and equipment 4,633 3,015
Amortisation of intangible assets W 5 e i 8 143 134
Provisions for goods returns B B 932 1,947
Operating lease charges: minimum RETHER - mRHE
lease payments 1,888 3,181
Research and development costs WFEE A
(other than amortisation costs) (B89 AR A1) 3,073 2,131
Impairment loss on trade receivables JRE WA B ek (s 4R 23 42
Reversal of impairment loss on 5 1] R SR Dol (L M 1
trade receivables - Q)
Impairment loss on property, Wi > W B A e i 1R
plant and equipment - 1,271
Rent for special designated counters i BI85 E HE A FH 4 31,128 25,504
() Finance costs: () RhERA
Bank overdraft interest fﬁﬁ?ﬁfiﬂ 3 8
Interest on bank loans SRATEEN *'J 773 537
Total interest expenses on financial St IE LA A 3 4 A HRAY
liabilities not at fair value through TS AR RSB S KR
profit or loss 776 545
Note: =g
(i) For the year ended 31 March 2017, cost of inventories includes HK$5,309,000 (i) WE-E—-LEZH= + HIF4ERE > (71

(2016: HK$5,322,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and provision for goods

return, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above for each of these types of expenses.

Annual Report 2016/2017 4&$i

ﬁk/!w*—&s 309,000 70 (%

— 784 5,322,000

WoT) o BE TURA ~ P ROR A B o
A B B R R SO B AR G AR B SR

AN -



9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 H R I

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% ~F—tHF=H =+—H IL4FE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9.
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

P RAT BN &

HREEF I F R 1

383 ()M M Al (P&

B G R L) B AR R

B

BEZZ-LFEEA=ZTHILEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind  contributions Total
Hra o R Y N
M dx A ek At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T
Chairman, chief executive officer and T Jii ~ f7E A%
executive director HITHEH
Mr. Chan Yan Tak BRI - 1,800 18 1,818
Executive directors HAITHF
Mr. Wong Mau Tai (Note xiii) AR A (W sExiii) - 941 18 959
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony MREETIEAE - 941 18 959
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney B Ep e - 1,200 18 1,218
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (Note v) FOPRR SR (M) - 468 14 482
Mr. Wang Xihua (Note vi) FPgHESEE (iEvi) - 526 9 535
Non-executive director FHATHF
Madam Tsang Pui Man (Note vii) B S 4 F (B &Evii) 135 = = 135
Independent non-executive directors ¥ JEB f7#F
Professor Ng Ka Ming (Note viii) LR A EAE (I Eviii) 281 - - 281
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Note ix)  MPBI% o (Ffitix) 205 = = 205
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (Note x) )& S5 4+ (FfiEx) 283 - - 283
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Note xi) F#HEEE (K zkxi) 126 = = 126
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Note xii) A SE S (P Exdi) 16 = = 16
1,046 5,876 95 7,017
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — L= H =+ —H L4

9.

136

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. FHLITHAEKME(H)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE R —-ANEEA=ZT—HIEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
B o H R RIRFH
Mg jegEeyil k3K st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TT T T BRI
Chairman, chief executive officer and TJf ~ {THAI#
executive director HrEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak Bl LS - 1,800 18 1,818
Executive directors BfTEFE
Mr. Wong Mau Tai FORREE - 916 18 934
Mr. Foo Chi Ming (Note i) AR B SEAE (Wfak) - 900 14 914
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (Note i)~ FR&&siIEAE (Fi5Eii) - 235 240
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney (Note iii) 2518 625 (Fif5Eiii) - 239 241
Non-executive director FHfTHEE
Madam Tsang Pui Man St 240 - - 240
Independent non-executive directors W1 FEB f7#F
Mr. Wei Jianan (Note iv) TR (B5Eiv) 231 - - 231
Professor Ng Ka Ming RELHIR 280 - - 280
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul W v e 280 - - 280
1,031 4,090 57 5,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

Mr. Foo Chi Ming resigned as the executive director of the Company on 1 January
2016.

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony was appointed as the executive director of the Company
on | January 2016.

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney was appointed as the executive director of the Company
on 20 January 2016.

Mr. Wei Jianan deceased on 2 February 2016.

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu was appointed as the executive director of the Company on
20 June 2016.

Mr. Wang Xihua was appointed as the executive director of the Company on
24 October 2016.

Madam Tsang Pui Man resigned as the non-executive director of the Company on 24
October 2016.

Professor Ng Ka Ming resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2017.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 6 December 2016.

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 15 April 2016.

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2017.

Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired as the executive director of the Company on 5 April 2017.

During the year, no director of the Company has waived any emoluments

and no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the directors

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for

loss of office.

RM Group Holdings Limited 1% % £ M #2 % A FR 2 W)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

10.

138

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals

10. mEHAL

1) 1.4 fi i 3 A\ (RLA 8 o R CHAB AR 5

(including directors and other employees) are as follows: I SCAT B REE R
2017 2016
R4 TR
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T
Salaries and other emoluments 4 S HAb I 4 8,094 7,066
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme — HAHF 51 # {13k 90 90
8,184 7,156
Number of directors EE- YN 1 2
Number of employees =P 4 3
5 5

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and other employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation of loss of office and no bonus was paid
or payable by the Group to the five highest paid individuals based on the

performance of the Group.

The emoluments of the 4 (2016: 3) individuals other than directors with the

highest emoluments are within the following bands:

AR > Slf S ) A% e R N (L
FFCABAR B ) SOOI B A J i A AR S5 1 11 48
JE BV 5 | I A A S [ ) 8 i s A
I AR 42 A% S O 1) S 29T 14 4% e 1R B
S BT TEAL -

IR AN (R4 36 Ak (AR
TR S IS F T SUALA -

2017 2016

e T

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N N

HK$1,000,001 upto HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 76 %% 1,500,000 7T 2

1,500,001 7G %£.2,000,000% JC
2,000,001 7T %2,500,000%5 7T

HK$1,500,001 upto HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 upto HK$2,500,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

11. TAXATION 11.

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

FRAT R R AR TR BLLE

2017 2016
“R b RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Current taxation PP 35 1

Hong Kong Profits Tax T A 3,281 2,613
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rh A SE T AT 573 1,441

Deferred taxation (note 24) IRIERLIE (Ff5E24)
(Reversal)/origination of temporary differences BT SRR (B A (37) 260
3,817 4314

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) is calculated at
the standard rate of 25% (2016: 25%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of the PRC.

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”), Malaysia, Macau and Taiwan have been made as the Group has no
income or profit assessable for tax in these jurisdictions for the years ended
31 March 2016 and 2017.

AR 2 T s R A B0 B A 5 A w R R B
HEA16.5%(—F—754F 1 16.5%) 5154 -

AR 2 v A FE TR (T AR )
B8 T Hi AR v 0 A 2 T AT B R A9 A
FH R SRR I A 1 BE UE R 38 25% ( —F — N
1 25%)FHE -

MR AEEREE —F-ANEL-F L
=R = Bk AR T B2
B R GRER ([ RBELHE]D - 1§
APYEE ~ T I B T B A AT AT R RRBL I
sl A > T S U A D VA RE R 4 R A5
BLIEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

11. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 11. BeIE (%)
Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at the applicable Tt T B Sl B 47 B 28 S 1 8w e R Y
tax rates: FHEW T -
2017 2016
L =
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x T
Profit before taxation IS AT ¥4 A 15,640 14,735
Notional tax on profit before taxation, A0 1 s A1 ) BEEmALIE > 440365 A FE 9
calculated at the rates applicable to profits 2 e R E) A E I Y B RS
in the tax jurisdictions concerned 2,408 2,876
Tax effect on non-taxable income PRI A BTG R 4) (396)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses ASE] 0 BE S A0 R A 2 501 2,207
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARl R L e 1 P B 2 427 370
Tax effect of temporary differences recognised C R Y W A R B i 19 (8)
Special tax deduction FRPRBUHS 7L (109) (120)
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised 8} Fl il 1 A 2 Bi T 5 18 (453) (641)
Others HoAh 1,028 26
Actual tax expense B PRBLIE S 3,817 4,314
12. DIVIDENDS 12. B
At a meeting held on 19 June 2015, the Board recommended the payment EoF—HENATILHM—REH® L

140

of a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per ordinary share of the Company
(totalling HK$12,907,500) for the year ended 31 March 2015 (“2015 Final
Dividend”), which was then approved by the shareholders of the Company

in the annual general meeting held on 4 August 2015. The 2015 Final

Dividend was paid and reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings

during the year ended 31 March 2016.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the years

ended 31 March 2016 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —&—LAFE=H =+ —H IL4F

—

(a)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$12,746,000 (2016:
HK$10,421,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue of 520,714,521 ordinary shares (2016: 516,271,585 ordinary

shares), calculated as follows:

3. AR

(Y E YN

B TR HA g R RARTE A F A A
35 71 12,746,000 70 (—F— /N4 -
10,421,000 %5 76 ) K C 3547 3% 4 i 2
SIS 1 48520,714,52 1% (=& — N
4 1516,271,585/8) 51 > FHEAWIT ¢

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) PEAT IR FEF 4 B (AR )
2017 2016
ZR b ZENF
Number of Number of
shares shares
g ¢E| Bt e H
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning TR 2 O TS
of the year 516,300,000 515,500,000
Effect of shares issued under share option  HR 95 W EME S| HI AT 854 T 00y > 5 28
scheme (note 25(b)(i) and 25(b)(ii)) (BEE25(b) (@) K 25(b)(ii)) 4,414,521 771,585
Weighted average number of ordinary CEAT 2 il BT 34 3
shares in issue 520,714,521 516,271,585
Diluted earnings per share (b)  H B & A

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$12,746,000 (2016:
HK$10,421,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

g TR J R R AR SR A A
Tt ¥ #1112,746,00045 0C (—F— R4 ¢
10,421,000% 7C ) S 48 T 45 58 Sy e
R S R ) R R AR 1) K 2 I 2 I
FHEGHE - SR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) FF A RT3 2 ()
2017 2016
—F LA ZENF
Number of Number of
shares shares
ety B H i ¢lig 4
Weighted average number of A8 BOMARET- 2 i (B AR
ordinary shares (basic) 520,714,521 516,271,585
Effect of deemed issue of shares under AR A i R ST 3 DA AR
the Company’s share option scheme FETEATHI Z 52
for nil consideration - 479,678
Weighted average number of 38 I RE - 1o i (i )
ordinary shares (diluted) 520,714,521 516,751,263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

13.

14.

142

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued)
The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2017 did not assume the conversion of the Company’s share
options because the exercise price of the Company’s share options
were higher than the average market price of the Company’s shares

during the year.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan

vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,176,000 (2016:
HK$2,043,000) represents contributions payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 March 2017,
contributions of HK$177,000 (2016: HK$177,000) due in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2017 had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were

paid subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

Leasehold
land and
buildings
held for own Furniture,
use carried Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
atcost  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
RHARTIR
$5M A A
ML 3 RE
Rty HERE  RERES Rk i it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T T T THL THL
Cost AR
At 1 April 2015 RZE—HENA—H 14,115 5752 1,267 2992 1,201 25327
Additions NE - 2974 90 1,276 3,283 7,623
Purchase of assets through acquisition i It 23 1 B i ¥
of a subsidiary (note 27) (Mtzk27) 34,649 - - - - 34,649
Disposals & - - 3) (124) (149) (276)
Derecognised on disposal of a e I A R4 I R
subsidiary (note 29(b)) (HfzE29(b) - (1,341) 42 (125) - (1,508)
Exchange adjustments [E % - - - ?3) - 3)
At31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 R -ZF—AF=A=+—HK
ZE-AFNA—H 48,764 7,385 1312 4016 4335 65,812
Additions e - 2,267 1,318 933 280 4798
Disposals il - (752) - (75) - (827)
Exchange adjustments W i % - - - (2) - 2)
At31 March 2017 REF-LE=A=+-H 48,764 8,900 2,630 48m 4615 69,781
Accumulated depreciation and 2R E R ER
impairment loss
1 April 2015 WoZ—HENA—H 1,875 2,933 811 1,786 307 7,712
Charge for the year FERiTE 979 933 21 464 416 3015
Written back on disposals HE R - - 3) (45) (100) (148)
Written back on disposal of L
asubsidiary (note 29(b)) (H5E29(b)) - (375) (18) (26) - (419)
Impairment loss AR 1271 - - - - 1271
Exchange adjustments i3k - - - (1) - (1)
At31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 R -F—AF=A=+—HL
ZE-NERA-H 4,125 3493 1,011 2,178 623 11,430
Charge for the year ERATE 1428 1255 7 678 900 4633
Written back on disposals B ] - (548) - () - (595)
Exchange adjustments [E A - - - 1) - (1)
At31 March 2017 REF-LE=A=+-H 5,553 4200 1,383 2,808 1,523 15467
Carrying amount W T
At31 March 2017 AR EEZNE 0 3211 4,700 1,47 2,064 3,092 54314
At 31 March 2016 RoE—AEZA=—H 44,639 3,892 301 1,338 3712 54,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

15.

144

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and
buildings held for own use with carrying amount of HK$43,211,000 (2016:
HK$44,639,000) to a bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
(Note 22).

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment

The value of property, plant and equipment is assessed at the end of each
reporting period for any indications of impairment. In consideration of the
recent changes in the Hong Kong economy and the property market, the
Group assessed the recoverable amounts of the leasehold land and buildings
in Hong Kong and as a result the carrying amount of certain items of
leasehold land and buildings were written down to their recoverable amount
of HK$32,779,000 as at 31 March 2016. An aggregate impairment loss of
HK$1,271,000 was recognised in “administrative expenses” during the year
ended 31 March 2016. The estimates of recoverable amount were based on
the fair values less costs of disposal of the leasehold land and buildings,
using market comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of
comparable properties on a price per square foot basis using market data
which is publicly available, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the leasehold land and buildings. The fair value on which the

recoverable amount is based on is categorised as a Level 3 measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o1 B % i A P R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. EIEE &
Product
Club development
membership rights Total
(R 4L 4 J2E i PR BERE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T THIT THTT
Cost AR
At 1 April 2015 R oE—HAENA—H - 800 800
Additions NE - 200 200
At 31 March 2016 and Ao ENEZHA=ZFT—HK
1 April 2016 ZE—RFMH—H - 1,000 1,000
Additions NE 2,200 - 2,200
At 31 March 2017 n_F—tHF=H=1+—H 2,200 1,000 3,200
Accumulated amortisation P
At 1 April 2015 W FE—TAEH—H - 171 171
Charge for the year RN RS - 134 134
At 31 March 2016 and WEFE—NEZA=T—HK
1 April 2016 ZE—NFMH—H - 305 305
Charge for the year AN HES - 143 143
At 31 March 2017 nNoF—tFE=A=+—H - 448 448
Carrying amount MR E
At 31 March 2017 woF—-tFE=A=+—H 2,200 552 2,752
At 31 March 2016 N_FE—NFE=H=1—H - 695 695
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative NS EEA AT BB ] -
expenses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

17. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position

17. #8&&
(a) EEEMHIRUENNGF R

comprise:
2017 2016
—EF Lt RN
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THsT
Raw materials JERA R 16,475 15,940
Finished goods BB 10,708 4,369
27,183 20,309

(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income is as follows:

(b)  CHERR S BASIRE A SR A i fi B H A
AW KW SHA P

2017 2016
SELE RN
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold A BRI E 60,783 40,179
Write-down of inventories Mok & 4,961 4,386
Reversal of write-down of
inventories (note i) O AT BB 1 (ki) (2,012) (1,609)

63,732 42,956

Note: B -
@) The amount was resulted from the utilisation of obsolete inventories that (i) A B4 EEAR [ BT O 8 AR O

were written down in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. JE WO sk B L At JE Wi sk I

2017 2016

—R b ZERF

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T

Trade receivables JRE WS R R 41,810 35,015
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W R R (162) (139)

41,648 34,876

Other receivables oA B R E 4,324 3,969

Loans and receivables B B 45,972 38,845

Prepayments TS IR 5,154 6,589

Utility, trade and other deposits KB~ B 5 P HAb & 14,727 6,524

Deposits paid for potential acquisition T A 4 5,000 -

24,881 13,113

70,853 51,958

2017 2016

e S s RN

HK$°000 HK$°000

F#x T

Analysis of trade and other receivables: JRE M Rk B LA E SRR TR A AT G

Non-current portion FE BB 5 707 2,422

Current portion LB 4y 70,146 49,536

70,853 51,958

The amount of the Group’s utility, trade and other deposits and prepayments

expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after more than one
year is HK$631,000 (2016: HK$1,074,000) and HK$76,000 (2016:
HK$1,348,000) respectively. All of the other trade and other receivables are

expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

AL WK ESE - B 5 LA & R AT
RTE T A 22 — A48 i [ e R B S
A £631,000% 70 ( —F—754F 11,074,000
J6) K76,000% 70 (- — 784 1 1,348,0007
JG) o T ST A A R o3 AR S B A R ik
TE I — 4P i ] SR 2 BA S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 5 i A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

18.

148

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

18.

JARE WA B sk B L WSk JE (48)
(a) HRE@HT

TR AR - FEBCIRFCE R 352 H
HO BRI P AT I

2017 2016

ZF b TR

HK$°000 HK$°000

TH#T Tt

0-30 days 0%30H 28,758 17,556
31-60 days 31FE60H 8,036 6,451
61-90 days 61%90H 4,842 7,102
91-180 days 912180 H 12 199
181-365 days 181%365H = 2,971
Over 365 days 365 H - 597
41,648 34,876

Trade receivables are normally due within 0-90 days from the date of R A B i — A B 2 H 315 E 0 £ 90

billing. Further details of the Group’s credit policy are set out in note

4(b)(®.

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of

the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off

against trade receivables directly (see note 2(h)).

(b)

H A o AL FEEBORIE
F I HOR B EE4(D) ) ©

WE W R A A

B R G Bk (s 45005 5 P R HR A
B IR IR A S0 8 o W o OB T

PR - TAEBLAR UL T SR T
BB SR RS (SRR 2E2(h))

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts SRR B s

2017 2016

S R

HK$°000 HK$’000

T Tl

At the beginning of the year | 139 102

Impairment loss recognised CL iR e (e 18 23 42
Reversal of impairment loss recognised 8 0 O e RRI(E 18 = (5)

At the end of the year R 162 139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. W WO sk e L A g WA sk S ()

(CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued) (b) FEWCHR IR (%)
As at 31 March 2017, trade receivables of the Group amounting to MoE—LHE=H=+—H &K4EH
HK$162,000 (2016: HK$139,000) were individually determined to be 162,000% 76 (= F—754F 1 139,000
impaired. The individually impaired receivables were outstanding for V6 0 ) AT R SR 8 A B O 2 A o
over 365 days. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful debts of A8 31 9 (L JE i 3K JEL B 6 1) HE A 365
HK$23,000 (2016: HK$42,000) were recognised. H o Wk 2523000 C (%
—INAE 142,000% 70 ) 19 R IR B A E
B4 -
(¢) Trade receivables that are not impaired (c) A UAE FE WU
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually S AR ) s ] B A 2 Uk () TR i
nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: HRAK I BRES 2> BT N T
2017 2016
“R b RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Neither past due nor impaired K 4 3 7 0 ok (L 36,300 24,021
Past due but not impaired L A A R s A
Less than 1 month past due A 118 10 18
1 to 3 months past due A E 3@ A 4,838 7,268
3 months to 1 year past due B3 H 2 14E - 3,569
Over 1 year past due 8L 0 1 4 = -
At 31 March w=H=+—H 41,648 34,876

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range

of customers for whom there was no significant history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral

over these balances.

RM Group Holdings Limited 71 4% %5 £ M 2 % A R 2 W)

2R 48 7 S (L ) R Ak I LS e o
KA R & F AR -

8 A E A Bl B ) IS WSk T B T
SEFAR > BEERAEEA R AR
Bk oo REBWIEAEES > A HEANG - i
JAAE R I M E SR ) o T A5 R AT
B A AT Aol Im] > SRR R % 4 A
BT B (AR o A4 I el % 5%
KEBRFFA AL AT A
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — L= H =+ —H L4

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/BANK 19. HEKBRE%EEY FIMHE
DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY GREATER 7= H W SR AT
THAN THREE MONTHS
2017 2016
L CEAE
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x THETT
Cash at bank and on hand SRAT X FHEI 4 110,218 91,958
Bank deposits SRATAER - 10,156
Cash and bank balances W4 JRAT #5 110,218 102,114
Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than & @ I3 H 2 5 = {8 H M 8RA1T 73K
three months - (10,156)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated i %7 A BATS IR UL 32 0 Bl &2 S B S5 8
statement of financial position 110,218 91,958
Less: Bank overdrafts (note 22) W BRATIE I (MiE22) - (1,637)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated A 47 A Bl 4 i R W B4 LB &5 EY
statement of cash flows 110,218 90,321
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit SR AT B 4 EL AN H AR AT AR SR B3R i 1R B
rates. Deposits with banks are made depending on the immediate cash BUR S, o 2S5 [ 2% g L B Iy B 4 5 oK 1) 4R
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective deposit rates. FrAEx » e A BAE R R B B A S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. FEAK sk Be At E £k 35k JH

2017 2016

—R b ZERF

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T

Trade payables JREA B 3K 3,142 3,745
Salary and welfare payables JREART 37 4 B A A 5,671 5,866
Accrued advertising expenses JRE TR 45 B 2 3,533 3,310
Other payables and accruals HoAb A FH B R 4,286 3,064
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 4§ AR w158 /Y I 15 & 15 16,632 15,985

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables

based on invoice dates were as follows:

TR IR > HEAT R AR A B 5L B Y M
BTN

2017 2016

ZR b RN

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T

0-30 days 0%30H 2,442 1,253
31-60 days 312 60H 603 910
61-90 days 61%90H 26 90
91-180 days 91Z180H - 1,426
Over 365 days 365 H 71 66
3,142 3,745

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised

as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

The amount due to a non-controlling interest refers to the shareholder’s
loan taken up by Ms. Li Yung who acquired 40% equity interest in Apex
Prospection Limited during the year ended 31 March 2017 as described in
note 28. The amount due to a non-controlling interest is unsecured, interest-

free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

TECHA ST A B ARk R A % I Al A S T I —

o WEAS 5 B e i ek JE

JREART 422 TBOHE 2 FROH A8 224 20 L B R i 2
JBE AR K o W B RE28 BT R - AR KA L it
BE X -LHE=H=1—HILFE
Apex Prospection LimitedJ40% Bt o HEAT
e P2 IR HE A5 VR 2 SN~ R R P
R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

22. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 22, MITERRIE X
The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans and overdrafts is as SRAT R OB SRTHE R 23 T T
follows:
2017 2016
R ZENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x THETT
Carrying amount of bank loans and b 2587 O S SRR RSk Y

overdrafts that contain a repayment on SRAT R R S IR i
demand clause:

Repayable within one year G — SR R 3,091 7,712
Repayable after one year TR — R R

(shown under current liabilities) (BMER B & 1E) 27,474 29,186

30,565 36,898

At 31 March 2016 and 2017, the bank loans and overdrafts were analysed as W oE—RNFER _E—LF=ZH=Z1+—
follows: H » $RITHEE &iﬁfiﬁ’]ﬁﬂ‘ﬁﬁﬂ?

2017 2016

—ER—LE e SN2

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fuoe Tt

Secured bank overdrafts (note 19) B A ERTT 5 3 (B 5E19) - 1,637

Secured bank loans BRI T B 30,565 35,261

30,565 36,898
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

22. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

(CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2017, total interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts
of approximately HK$30,565,000 (2016: HK$36,898,000) were due for

repayment as follows:

. SRAT Bk R S (#)

N Z—LE=ZHA=1+—H > sFEETE
KPS R #730,565,000 85 76 (N
A 1 36,898,00035 70 ) I FHIUTT ¢

2017 2016
R ZE N
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Portion of term loans and overdrafts due for — ZE A —4F (R i 352 A9 45 300 S8 30 &%
repayment within one year i Y 3,091 7,712
Term loans due for repayment after one year — ZE i —4F & i 15 10 A WK
(note): (Bf$5E) -
After 1 year but within 2 years — AN 3,167 3,144
After 2 years but within 5 years AR HATR N 9,971 9,867
Over 5 years HAERL L 14,336 16,175
27,474 29,186
30,565 36,898

Note: The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates as stipulated in the
respective loan agreements.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants.
If the Group were in breach of the covenants, the drawn down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, all of the Group’s bank
loan agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole
discretion to demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective of
whether the Group has complied with the covenants and met the scheduled

repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to
date with the scheduled repayments of the term loans and does not consider
it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand repayment so
long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details of
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 4(b)(ii). As at
31 March 2017, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached (2016: Nil).

All of the secured bank loans and overdrafts, including amounts repayable

on demand, are carried at amortised cost.

BEFRE = A TR R T A A ] 53 T sl O o 7 2
HIFIR -

P A S8R4T B R B AT B o A AR SR
R G > PR IR R R SR R -
B > A AR [ 2 R ARAT B K Bk WA K
I 5 AR M) I 15 S AR AR ) BB
S AN i A S A RO SR R
W AT R FGRAT -

A AR T ) B LR T T R AR R [
MG 2 FEAE ) F U0 R B SRR A TE
AR T R ST % S R A DU ARAT R
R AT REAT I 1Y 7 R AR o SR A
UL B B ) R AR RO B REA(D) (i) o Y
TR EEEAE 0 AR
S B AR SR 2250 (R4
) o

JIA A AT SR AT Rk B 98 52 (LA ZE A% 2R
TR AR T F 8 8 A AR o
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22,

154

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS
(CONTINUED)

None of the portion of bank loans due for repayment after one year which
contain a repayment on demand clause and that is classified as a current

liability is expected to be settled within one year.

As at 31 March 2017, the banking facilities of the Group are secured by
the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount of HK$43,211,000
(2016: HK$44,639,000) (note 15). Such banking facilities amounting
to HK$36,465,000 (2016: HK$47,460,000) were utilised to the extent
of HK$30,565,000 (2016: HK$36,898,000). The pledged assets will be

released upon the settlement of the relevant bank borrowings.

. SRAT B R

X% (#])

A A% B T AE 0 SRAT B A S A
BURME R NSRS B ATRB &
fi5 > BN —FE R 45 -

BoE-EE=A =t —H - AEEN
SRAT L DU b R F AR AT - K

W T {E £ 43,211,000 00 ( =& — 75 4F ¢
44,639,000% 70) (Kl 5E15) o A BHERIT R E

£4536,465,0009 70 ( —F—754F ¢ 47,460,000
Wot) > HR BB A% 430,565,000 70

(= F—754F ¢ 36,898,000 70) © #Z 45 HKHH
B RE A AR B SR AT 15 B E B A T DA RR -

PROVISIONS 23. 1A

Goods return

from customers

%R

HK$’000

Tl

At 1 April 2015 W FE—TAEWHA—H 1,512
Additional provisions made B yIlIEE ) 1,947
Provisions utilised L4 A (1,888)
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 N_FE—ARF=HA=+T—H A ZF—RFMUH—H 1,571
Additional provisions made A 932
Provisions utilised 2 48 A (1,158)
At 31 March 2017 NoF—-tHE=H=+—H 1,345

The Group cannot reliably estimate the amounts that may eventually be
settled after more than 12 months from the end of the reporting period. Thus,

the whole amount was classified as current.

Note: The provisions for goods return from customers represents the present value of the
directors’ best estimate of future outflow of economic benefits that will be required
under the Group’s obligations under the goods return policy. The estimate has been

made by reference to historical goods return rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —&—LAFE=H =+ —H IL4F

24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

(c)

24, WEHLFiIE £

The deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of (Q) TG AT IR I 2 e 5 0 48 ZE 3 T8 &
financial position and the movements during the year are as follows: ERIRFE NI
Accelerated tax depreciation IR BT T
2017 2016
—F—hg RN
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x T
At the beginning of the year W) 626 366
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss B (GEA) kR
(Note 11) (BfF5E11) 37 260
At the end of the year AR 589 626
Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax losses carried forward (b) A BRI &5tk B B i 18 A R T B TE
are to be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable BEE A AR A A IRE SRR s A A A
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be HE B K B BB s PR R R -
utilised.
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the tax WEZE—LFE-H=1T—H  &4E
losses of HK$16,010,000 (2016: HK$17,080,000) for the year ended M R 516,010,000 7C ( & — N
31 March 2017 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. A1 17,080,000%5 70 ) MBS G TE R
The unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. PERERLTEE B > A A 4 TR I R 2k
Tt R AR o SR Bl 05 s 48 T i B A
it
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible TN BA SR > A 22 ] AG AT e R
temporary differences of HK$3,220,000 (2016: HK$1,216,000). No SEEH 53,220,000 00 ( —F — /N 4E ¢
deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to such deductible 1,216,000 50) = i A K ] GEAT IE
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be PR VR A AT R DA B T e R AR 22
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be B WO R % 4 W] P T IR 2 AR
utilised. A ARIEBLIHE 2 -
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (c)  ATHERD By 08 HE AL VE 1 5

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2017, temporary differences relating to the undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$4,219,000 (2016:
HK$6,706,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$422,000 (2016:
HK$671,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

RM Group Holdings Limited 7815 3% 55 8 5 1 G R 2 =]

MR B R 3E TR B > PR R
Al AR NAE— A — O ZE
it I T B 9K ) B S AR T AT o

RoF—bHE=H=+—H > HH
B Jo 7 7 2R 43 IR vk R T R 0 T
R 554,219,000 00 (. F— /84 ¢
6,706,000% 7T ) o 7 4% 3] 3lf7 M 5% ml
fiE 43 UK ¥t A1 422,000 T ( = F — N
A 1 671,000 5 7T ) FI 4 IR IE Bl IH A
18 > PR A A1 O R A 2 1 A A T g
AR B BOR > B %% IS K nT e
A A2 IR
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Reserves

25.

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of

each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes

AR B ki 1
(a) it

A T 5 R i 8 0 P A 2 A
O3 IR S ) AR A A AR AR R

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the BEFEERIINT -
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
The Company AN H]
Retained
earnings/
Share Contributed ~ Share option  (accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses) Total
TR,/
et i L AL WIUERG  (REHER) At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
T T T Tt T
(note 25(c)(i))  (note 25(c)(ii))  (note 25(c)(vi))
(B 25(0)0)  (MFRE 25(0)(i))  (HERE2S(c)vi))
At 1 April 2015 RoF—HENA—HA 123,890 38,541 8,161 1,544 172,136
Change in equity for 2016: CERNEHG 2
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (AR ZEV &S Fikk - - - (337) (337)
Dividends approved in respect DR EMEARE
of the previous year (note 12) (HsE12) - - - (12,908) (12,908)
Share options lapsed TRt - - (1,075) 1,075 -
Shares issued under share option scheme AR b BB T
(note 25(b)(1)) (HE2E25(b) ) 1,526 - ) - 1,304
At 31 March 2016 and RE-F—AEZA=+—HK
1 April 2016 ZE—ANENA—H 125416 38,541 6,304 (10,626) 160,195
Change in equity for 2017: R
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (AR ZEVEST ik - - - (77 (7
Share options lapsed [l SR - - (3,445) 3,445 -
Shares issued under share option scheme HRIEMRICHE T 17 I
(note 25(b)(ii)) (BFRE25(b) i) 23,468 - (3,419) - 20,049
At 31 March 2017 RoF—tE=A=+—H 148,884 38,541 - (7,358) 180,067
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25. SHARE
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% ~F—tHF=H =+—H IL4FE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

25. JBeAS B il o (4

(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (b) AR
Number of
ordinary shares Nominal
of HK$0.01 value ordinary
per share shares
BB A
0.013#70
A s 308 i i L
Note HK$
Ff s BT
Authorised: EE :
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016, AR —FAFEMNHA—H -
1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 ZE-ANFEEAZ+—H
ZERARENH—H K
—E—tLE=H=1T—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CETRHEE -
At 1 April 2015 WZE—HFENHA—H 515,500,000 5,155,000
Shares issued under share option scheme AR B BE A R ST 3 B AT ik @) 800,000 8,000
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 &:; —NFE=ZH=T—H K
—NFMHA—H 516,300,000 5,163,000
Shares issued under share option scheme *E#%E%Eﬁfﬁ%f%ﬂ?&ﬁ% (ii) 12,300,000 123,000
At 31 March 2017 w_E—tFE=H=1+—H 528,600,000 5,286,000

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes:

®

(i)

On 14 April 2015, share options were exercised to subscribe for 800,000
ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$1,312,000,
of which HK$8,000 was credited to share capital and the balance of
HK$1,304,000 was credited to the share premium account. HK$222,000 has
been transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium account
in accordance with policy set out in note 2(n)(ii).

On 21 November 2016, share options were exercised to subscribe
for 12,300,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of
HK$20,172,000, of which HK$123,000 was credited to share capital and
the balance of HK$20,049,000 was credited to the share premium account.
HK$3,419,000 has been transferred from the share option reserve to the
share premium account in accordance with policy set out in note 2(n)(ii).

T2 A N A HEA ORI S IR 2
ﬂx/ &ﬁ%ﬁ“&’\jﬁxﬁhkﬁiu*

—EUETRU o TR @ RO A A
ﬂZﬁ%Tﬁéﬁﬁ%i@?—ﬁlﬁl%%ﬂ o

Wt

6 AR —TAE A U HE - AT
R 1T %8 £7800,000 % 5 4 A > 1U1E £
1,312,000%5 7T © & H18,0007 TC AR £
JEAS > 8578 1,304,000 70 AR £ B4
i IR o ARG B EE2(n) ()19 B FE
BOR - 47222,00095 7T Hi 5 1 HE fof £
PR i AR

(i) AR —=RETF—H_+—H B
A7 1 B 1B BE 1T % 47 12,300,000 A 5
i 01 £ 20,172,000 # 7T > H
#1123,000 # T AR 25 A iR T
20,049,000 %5 70 A 8 £ [ Vi A5 B o
FRAR RS B 5 2(n) G PO B TR > A
3,419,000 7 Fh A ARRE foff (e W4 P 173
T B o
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(¢c) Nature and purpose of reserves

158

O]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

The share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance of shares
of the Company. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value
of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries
acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
and relevant statutory regulations, appropriations to the statutory reserve
fund were made at a 10% of profit after taxation determined in accordance
with the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC. When the balance of
statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of registered capital of each relevant
PRC subsidiary, any further appropriation is at the discretion of the
shareholders of this subsidiary. This reserve fund can be utilised in setting
off accumulated losses or increasing capital of the subsidiaries provided that
the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of their registered
capital, and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(s).

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to directors of the Company,
employees of a subsidiary and all other eligible participants recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments set out in notes 2(n)(ii) and 2(o).
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(c) ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

i)

ZMEHE K A&
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SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports which
provides information about components of the Group. Information reported
to the Board, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

focuses on brands of goods delivered.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS

8 are as follows:

—  Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of self-developed health supplements

—  Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of self-developed beauty supplements and products

—  Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of health supplements

—  Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of beauty supplements and products

—  Trading of goods comprise the trading and sales of health

supplements

—  Trading of goods comprise the trading and sales of beauty

supplements and products

Other items mainly relate to the provision of Chinese medical consultation
services and provision of health food processing services. These activities
are excluded from the reportable operating segments as these activities are

insignificant and not specifically reported to the Board.

260.
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

160

(a)

26. JrHkH i (4])

Segment results, assets and liabilities (a) ZHREL - EEMAME
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided M E —F—ANERFE—LFEEA
to the Board for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of b B R AR RS T B A 43T
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 is FEIF R T e A AR [ T 2 R
set out below: SRR T
For the year ended 31 March 2017
BEZR-LEZA=—HIESE
Proprietary brands Private label brands Trading of goods
H M A% HifH
Beauty Beauty Beauty
Health  supplements Health  supplements Health  supplements Other
supplements  and products supplements and products supplements and products items Total
S FR M FR M
fRieaE REf  RRED Rl REER R JHEA it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
T T T T Tin T Ti#n T
Revenue from external RESMTERR
customers fud 101,828 26,262 61,351 219 16,665 - 14,528 220853
Costofsles Rk 0S5 08 oy 1y o) - W)
Gross profit A 76,308 18425 51,328 106 7428 - 3,526 157,11
Selling and distribution SHE R
expenses (25,199) (3987 (12,697) (36) (1,179) - (775) (43873)
Administrative expenses iG5 (6,245) (436) (20,793) (35) (3,127) - - (30,656)
Segment results ER 44864 14,002 17,838 15 3122 - 2,751 82,592
Other revenue and Htfai i
other net loss Hfes R iF 209
Unallocated head office and FARAHR
corporate expenses VNGl b (66,385)
Finance costs B (776)
Profit before taxation Wt 1 15,640
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

26. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

26. JrakHk i (4])

(a)

orEbEs - R MR (D)

For the year ended 31 March 2016
BE-F-REZAZT—HIEE

Proprietary brands Private label brands Trading of goods
B B HmEH
Beauty Beauty Beauty
Health  supplements Health  supplements Health  supplements Other
supplements  and products ~ supplements  and products  supplements  and products items Total
KA FEH FEH
(REER RER  REER RER  REER RER HER st
HKS°000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$°000 HKS'000
THT T Ti# T Ti#x T T THL
Revenue from external KESMBEF
customers e 107,924 26452 51,964 982 982 50 1,604 189,958
Cost of sales SERA (24723) (9.027) (7405) (913) (434) 23) @) 42956)
Gross profit A 83,201 17,225 44559 69 548 7 1,373 147,002
Selling and distribution HE R
expenses (27,130) (4332) (8,205) (107) (115) 2 - (39,891
Administrative expenses B (5.824) 03 (18225) 317 (484) - - (25,053)
Segment results AHER 50,47 12,690 18,129 (355) (51) 25 1373 82,058
Other revenue and Hta &
other net loss Kb 204
Unallocated head office and FAREH R
corporate expenses AFRX (66.982)
Finance costs MERA (545)
Profit before taxation BredR Al 14735

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the CODM monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments. Segment results are evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted operating profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that head office, corporate
income and expenses and finance costs are excluded from such
measurement. No segment assets and liabilities information is
presented as, in the opinion of the directors, such information is not
key indicator provided to the Group’s CODM.

RM Group Holdings Limited 71 4% %5 £ M 2 % A R 2 W)

RS 20 R B 73 H [H] 23 e U
MF > FEAERREE RS 2
T ERREAG A S22 %S AR AR
1 B B L B S o 20 WS SRR IR B T
S A A e 1R BT e A
BB T A A e 1R AEATREAN o
K K R B U s 1R B AR SR Y
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ANELAE R > 23 A BB S Bl
PO o Sl 0 250 o B A T B
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

26. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

There are no significant inter-segment transfers or transactions.

Other segment information (included in the measure of segment

profit or loss or regularly provided to the CODM)

26. 7 #R¥HR A (45)
(a) ZrER3EAT -

R M A AR (B

N 2T PN TS

H A2 B E R (FYA 28 18 15 T 12 2
TEH] I A A )

Amortisation and Depreciation

R ATE
2017 2016
TR —EFNE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8 T
Proprietary brands: BUA
Health supplements PR AgE i 443 401
Beauty supplements and products FEHE T B 67 56
Private label brands: SPI S
Health supplements PR AgE 176 136
Beauty supplements and products A il S b 1 3
Trading of goods: FmEE -
Health supplements PRAEZE & 48 2
Beauty supplements and products FEAAH S = 1
Unallocated R EL 4,041 2,550
Total R 4,776 3,149

(b) Geographical information
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the goods are delivered and services provided. In presenting
information on the basis of geographical, segments revenue is based
on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets and capital
expenditure are based on the geographical location of the assets or the

location of the operation to which the assets are allocated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

26. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical information (Continued)

(¢

26. 7 EbHRE (4)
(b) HblEERL(4H)

Revenue from external customers AR A AN % P s
2017 2016
SR
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt THTT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) s (G A 1 B 220,620 178,936
The PRC rh - 10,559
Taiwan =R 233 463
220,853 189,958

Non-current assets FEFRENE &

2017 2016
e S ved TR
HK$°000 HK$°000
TH#IT THsIC
Hong Kong (place of domicile) Frus (Gt 2 57,635 57,227
The PRC H 121 245
Taiwan = 17 27
57,773 57,499

Information about major customer

Revenues from external customer contributing 10% or more of

(c) EEEFFHER
Al ACSE P 4B 210 % B L

the total revenue of the Group is as follows: AR PR AT IN
2017 2016
“ELE CE A
HK$’000 HK$’000
il Tt
Customer A (note (i)) B (flEEaG) 125,419 116,071
Note: P 3E
(i) The revenues were derived from the following segments: (i) A B AR TS AR B A A

Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and
sales of self-developed health supplements;

Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and
sales of self-developed beauty supplements and products;

Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and
sales of health supplements;

Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and
sales of beauty supplements and products; and

Trading of goods comprise the trading and sales of health
supplements.

BLIGBHEE - W R T B
BEOR{EE A AR

LGP 3R - RO R A 1T B
FEICEH i S S AT
LGB EE - R T PR
Ah i

BLIG PR - R G SR
b B B A R

LA LR D B DR A i ) 7
e o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

27. PURCHASE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 27, WM B AR EE S EKAE
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

164

On 23 June 2015, the Group entered into sales and purchase agreement with
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the controlling shareholder and an executive director
of the Company, to acquire assets and liabilities through the acquisition
of 100% equity interest in Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Limited, for a total
consideration of HK$19,410,000. Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Limited is
principally engaged in property investment. This transaction was approved
by the Company’s independent shareholders at the extraordinary general

meeting held on 14 August 2015 and the transaction was completed on 11

September 2015.

This acquisition has been accounted for as purchase of assets and liabilities

through acquisition of a subsidiary. The assets and liabilities arising from the

acquisition were as follows:

Mo E—TENA -+=H > A& HE
AR N T B B R R WLAT R R S A
IO EE W WEE B (B ARA
Al 1 100% f HE I BRI A UE
19,410,000 7 o 4 (F ) AR A E £
B R ERE o IS CEAR N FE T
JEHUY ZF — FAE N U H R AT 2 R
FERlR & EHOME e 32 5 it —F—HAFEJUA
F—H S

A W B L A o S A TR 2 D B R A
B o ORI AR A R BRI T

Carrying
amount at

11 September

2015
R
AT
fLH+—H
HK$’000
THTT
Leasehold land and buildings held for own use FefE B BT e S AT
(note 15) (Bff5E15) 34,649
Cash and bank balances Bl R RAT #5 8 87
Deposits and prepayments 4 J TS FOH 56
Other receivables HoAth RS K 1,459
Accruals JEEAT R (44)
Bank loans AT (16,797)
Net assets acquired W B 7 T 19,410
Consideration represented: RIS
Cash consideration Bl AUfH 19,410
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: WAL T A ) B TR AL
Cash consideration paid BT (19,410)
Cash and bank balances Bl SARAT #5 5 87
(19,323)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

PARTIAL DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 22 November 2016, Wisdom Come Medical Group Limited (“WCMG”),
a subsidiary of the Company, disposed of: (1) an aggregate of 40%
equity interest in Apex Prospection Limited (“Apex Prospection”) in the
amount of HK$3,300,000 and (2) 40% of the interest-free shareholder’s
loan amounting to HK$1,200,000 owing by a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Apex Prospection to WCMG for an aggregate cash consideration
of HK$4,500,000 to an independent third party, Ms. Li Yung, Apex
Prospection and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the distribution
of health and beauty supplements in the PRC. The Group retains 60% of
the equity interest in Apex Prospection after the partial disposal. The total
transaction cost of the partial disposal of Apex Prospection amounted to
HK$547,000.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)  On 21 September 2015, the Group disposed of the entire issued
share capital in Century Effort Limited (“Century Effort”) to M&H
Company Limited, an independent third party, at a cash consideration
of HK$1.

The net liabilities of Century Effort at the date of disposal were as

28.

29.

ik 4 B — [H] B B 2

R —REF—AZ 0 e
LHARS A (TR SR KXW
— KA ) WAL =T R
%+t & : (1) Apex Prospection Limited
(I Apex Prospection ) & 3£40% IEHE » 215
43,300,000 5C 5 }2(2) Apex Prospection(?
— [ 4 Y WA i A ) 5 R AT ks S R T Y
SR ALK 2 40% 451,200,000 7T » AL B
40 1E £54,500,000% JG ° Apex Prospection
T A Jog 2 ) A A v B A R
SR8 o AL ER o B R AR
Apex Prospection Z 60% It # o ¥ 4 b 5
Apex Prospection i #8285 A 547,000
j'E o

85 Bt & 2 W)

(@) M_F—TAFENHZF—H > AEH
DL ey Bl A0 - A A R A
AL(HAE D) AT C S T A T
M7 55 =y M&H Company Limited °

SR R REFEDT

follows:
HK$’000
Tl
Consideration received: AR -
Cash received A€ -
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control I 3 ¥ T RE 1 ¥ e £ £
was lost: S3H
Deposits and other receivables 2 435 e oAb EMCRIE (1,747)
Other payables HoAtb EAT 500H 1,886
Net liabilities derecognised O I HERR I & T 139
Result on disposal of subsidiary: Hh B B 2 m Y A5 OR
Consideration received S RAE -
Net liabilities derecognised C 4 LR I A T 139
Written off of receivables due from subsidiary disposed of Bt B BB 2 T Y IR UK (1,886)
Waiver of payables due to subsidiary disposed of B S B R 2 ) B A K 1,276
Loss on disposal A HlE 1E (471)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: H B T R 2R P B A3 A\ AR -
Cash consideration received EAETEX -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BT AR Y B 4 K B A -
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b)

166

Limited, an independent third party, at a cash consideration of

HK$1,000,000.

The net liabilities of Mutual Act at the date of disposal were as

follows:

29. Hi Bk E A~ ()
On 29 March 2016, the Group disposed of the entire issued share by HR_E—
capital in Mutual Act Limited (“Mutual Act”) to Billion Shiner

NAEZA A IH - A%
41,000,000% JC 1 B 4 AU > 1% 4 fi
HBRAT (T4 16 ]) B 230 E 8847 A

W TR =M EERAR -

AR AR AT ENT

HK$’000
THTT
Consideration received: CH AR -
Cash received R 4 1,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control e P RE R 2 M L
was lost: S3Hr
Property, plant and equipment W -~ wE st (1,089)
Prepayments and deposits TAAS FOH K A% 48 (327)
Other receivables HoAh B ik T (546)
Receipt in advance TR IA 90
Other payables FoAtbEAT 50IH 2,107
Net liabilities derecognised LA I rERR iy & A 235
Result on disposal of subsidiary: Hh B B Je 2 R A A R
Consideration received e 1,000
Expenses paid in connection with the disposal BB AH BR 1) S A 2 (122)
Net liabilities derecognised O IR ERR 1Y A R 235
Written off of receivables due from subsidiary disposed of T H 5 B RS 2 1 Y R A (2,107)
Waiver of payables due to subsidiary disposed of B AT B B g 2 BB A K 546
Loss on disposal HEREiO) 2| (4438)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: Hh 8 e AR A B i AR
Cash consideration received A€ 1,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B AR R B R Y -
Expenses paid in connection with the disposal BB AR BR 1) S A 2 (122)
878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

% o B 5 e AR W

For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

Capital commitments (a)
As at 31 March 2016 and 2017, the Group had capital commitments

contracted but not provided for in the financial statements as follows:

30. A&

BAKIE
RoE—AERF—LHE=A
SR AEEAUT R0 ER
AR R AT BT -

2017 2016
Rt ZE RN
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHoc THsoT
Contracted for G R E
— Property, plant and equipment — W3 - W KAl 125 867
Operating lease commitments (b) ZEM GRS
As lessee 1EZ25 AR

At 31 March 2016 and 2017, the Group had outstanding commitments

under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

BB AERE—LEZ
=1 —0 > AEEA R AR ST
FYTEN AR AR A P i 2 R A R
I

2017 2016

—F L E AN R

HK$°000 HK$’000

Tt Fisoc

Within one year —FR 2,197 1,150
In the second to fifth year, inclusive WAE 2 FAEN > A4 W4 1,474 917
3,671 2,067

The Group leases warehouses, office premises and shop premises
under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements with lease terms
of one to five years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms

are renegotiated. None of the lease includes contingent rentals.

7 S T AR S T B A6 AREL A4 22 B AL
B2 MAER NS =
TLAE > TR R i 4% ]
WA - RAMME S SRS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% — & — L4 =H =+ —H L4

31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31. ERBE TR S
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these o3 i B 5 ik 3 Al 5 40 B R 10 3 S M A B
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and balances A > A B8 [ BRBR 2 5 i 4F 0 RY 32 S B A R
with its related parties during the year: LI
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FEEHA B HH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including A M 3 A BN B B e TR K 9
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9, JIT B 1 O A A 2 ) 5 S ) O % B R
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10 and other senior 1097 5 8 Ak A B2 o) s v 74 B B L
management of the Group are as follows: b A5 B 1 B > T
2017 2016
S AR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T Tt
Short-term employee benefits TR B AR A 14,136 11,692
Post-employment benefits T A2 A ) 188 147
14,324 11,839
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note 8(a)). ZEFN B FEAE [ B TS 1A (LB
ik8(a))
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) PR 5
2017 2016
R TR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#5C Tt
Rental expenses paid to a related party (note i) #0453 H A5 T B Iy (B &Ei) 82 80
Rental expenses paid to Great Victor Limited 04 3¢ A5 T AH A PR 7
(note ii) (BfEii) 174 131
Rental expenses paid to Sunex Limited A SR A 7 B AT R )
(note iii) (B Eiii) 203 68
Legal and professional fee paid to SOOI T 2 A AR RS T R R A
Sidney Lee & Co. (note iv) B (KhaEiv) 700 234
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
As at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017, the Group had total future

minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating lease

falling due as follows:

31. ERBEH ARG ()

(b)

SRR L Jy 22 5 (#8)

WoF—AEEZASEARCF
LA H AR
S RO T AT LT AR

ZRARIEAT IR ARFH A
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
S S
e CENE
Z=A=Z+—H" =ZA=Z+—H
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T#EIC
Within one year —EN 346 465
In the second to fifth year MR RN 118 538
464 1,003
Notes: [tk
(i) The rental expenses were paid to Mr. Cheng Jonathan Chung Shing, a close i) FH 4 2 AT 8 S JE 04T S

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

family member of an independent non-executive director, Mr. Cheng Kwok
Kin, Paul. Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul ceased to be a related party of the
Group following his resignation as the independent non-executive director of
the Company on 6 December 2016.

The rental expenses were paid to Great Victor Limited, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.

The rental expenses were paid to Sunex Limited, a company wholly- owned
by Ms. Wong Chui Lan, senior management of the Group.

The legal and professional fees represents legal service fees charged by a
barrister via Sidney Lee & Co., a registered solicitors’ firm in Hong Kong
controlled by Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, an executive director of the
Company. Sidney Lee & Co. provided such service to the Company on a
complimentary basis.

RM Group Holdings Limited 1% % £ M #2 % A FR 2 W)

S WD T o MR L SR
HER ZF—ARE T ZARNAREA
N FSE SL IR AT B AR N T 2 AR A
BT -

Gi) A THEARAR - A —
] A R AT S R e R 2

AN AT -

(i) ST ERARAR A —
TH] phy A S5 v A A P SR B b
AR AT -

(v) IR RS A RIS A

O FIBLAT S A S A P A A
T T A i T 24 e 5 T
IR T PR R A Y o 2% A A i il =
I G 2 1) A % FR IERZ RS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

31.

170

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Balances with related parties
The Group leases office premises from related parties as detailed in
note 31(b) under operating lease arrangements with lease terms of two
to three years. The terms of the leases require the Group to pay rental
deposits to the lessors. The balances of the rental deposits as at 31
March 2016 and 31 March 2017 are detailed as follows:

31. ERBEE ARG ()

()

B 7 &

A A [ AR B 5 ST B 5 31 (b) B [
J7 1 58 T4 % PR B 2 N 2 FL
W5 8 =4 o AR E R AL
B EERETHHEA - R FE N
EZH=Z+ AR FE—LEZH

=t A B S A ERREE RS

o
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
s
ZA=+—H Z=A=t+—H
HK$°000 HK$’000
T Tt
Mr. Cheng Jonathan Chung Shing WS e A - 20
Great Victor Limited FHEA BRA 29 29
Sunex Limited B BR A 7 34 34

(d) Purchase of assets and liabilities through acquisition of
a subsidiary from an executive director of the Company
The details are set out in note 27 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 #% —ZF—E4FE = =+ —H IL4EE

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 September
2013, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme, which
has been taken effect on 11 October 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme remains effective following the Transfer of Listing
subject to certain immaterial amendments to the share option scheme and
implemented in full compliance with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme of the Company is as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the eligible
participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit
of the Group and attract and retain ongoing business relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
Group.

Eligible Participants
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a) any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an
interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

(b)  the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or

(c)  acompany beneficially owned by any director, Employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

Total number of ordinary shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued
share capital that it represents as at 31 March 2016 and 2017

51,500,000 ordinary shares, being 10% of shares in issue on 4 August
2014 (i.e. the date of approving the refreshment of the share option scheme
mandate limit).

32. DL RE &S E DB 2 A =2 B X

REARRX AR T —=4F A B
A E IR R > AN FARIERAA
T ZAR AT A R A O B R
(1B A HERT 31 1) o S F A T ) A A L vl
7 4 1A 5 (e ZECSES R P R 3 10 e 1 9
ERAEHE) - e R R IR BT 175
BUE T -

AN T HE R B

H

W P st ) 2 BB R S 4 AR 2 B
Ty 7R G T ) 4 B TR RO 5 R
G KBRS IE > i J TR 2 AN 4R B Y
M fEHER & B2 HE > SRS
HEST AR BIR -

FEMSHE
I HE 301 2 £ W 2 B (4 -

(@) AEEE R AR EDS - R
B AR B (A i e 2 T R )
(T B 1) > A A 4 B A 42 J
SRR ELIPACIE R S Al (i)
AT B AR D) Rk - B2
ANt~ & R~ A 5%
A~ B EURER 5 5

(b) AFTE FESUT AT R RERERERZ TN
A7 B A5 TR0 52 2 A S0 B 2 A
GAEX AEHPNOEES ST )N
R TES - RE - fEaA - B3
ANt~ FF - g - A 8%
A B BURER 5 5

(c) A< P B i 2 W ROAT T8 5 - f
B s SN R it
i~ AREA S B B BUR B
HaEHAR AT o

JifE st MR ) T B B AT A A R R
EHRAEBE-R-NE/R_F—L
FE=ZH=+—H1k > il CBITH
VNN 8

51,500,000 5 528 f » A i =& — U AFE A H
VU R 0 S A RO 5 ) 1) 452 A PR 4R 52
SR H ) B2 BT 10% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % — & — b4 = H =+ —H IF4F A

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 32. DAJBHE &5 5 DAy S 08 2 B 32

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the Company in any

12-month period.

Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to the

approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under a
Share Option
A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, which

shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share option.

Minimum period for which a Share Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, there
is no minimum period for which a share option must be held before it can be

exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted.

Period within which payments/calls/loans must be made/
repaid
Not applicable.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall not be less than
the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option, which must
be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the share option.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The remaining life of the scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective until 23 September
2023, after which no further share options will be granted but the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other
respects. Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain unexercised
immediately prior to 23 September 2023 shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant within the option period for which such

share options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the scheme.

Movements of the share options during the years ended 31 March 2016 and
2017 are listed below in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

32. VAJBCHE &5 5 DA Ay 34T 2 B 32

(%)

s B 3R B 200

WISt M EE —F =] =1
AR R HAR G — PR AT T
FBCHE - e S AR T 8 A€ SCHE BT A L Atk T T
AR B + R BAR T o B RT3
T AR T 30 A 2000 ] PR 52 o8 T 4 —
T NA S R RATEHA S
TR KR E B IR N T 5% S B
i sedibhidiie BUILIANIS S EPguEie ¢
AT -

WE L ANFERF - EFE=A=t
HOIRAFEBE - AR R BT R 17 2 i st
BUTE R Pros R A SE B A

BE_FELFE=ZH="1—HILFEE

Outstanding and Reclassification Exercised Lapsed Outstanding and
exercisable as at Lapsedon  of categories of on 21 November on 22 November ~exercisable as at
Category 1 April 2016 30 April 2016 grantee 2016 2016 31 March 2017 Note
1
I S 1t 1 A S vt
MA—H e N SRR ZRRE ZHER
AR MAZHE ASAREEN F-RTA-E RSN AR
L] Wik b3 EEi it K3 i i3
Directors &3
Mr. Chan Yan Tak BB s 500,000 - - (500,000) - (1)
Mr. Wong Mau Tai R 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - .0
Professor Ng Ka Ming REABK 500,000 - - (300,000) - M
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul LA 500,000 - (500,000) - - 0, (7)
Subtotal st 6,500,000 - (5,500,000 (1,000,000) -
Continuous Contracts BEAH
Employee B 12,700,000 - (4,000,000) (5,400,000) (3,300,000) - (1),(6),(7
Al other eligible Fif A Bt
participants SHE 5,500,000 (5,000,000) 4,000,000 (1,400,000) (3,100,000) - (1,2),0),0
Total ELh) 24,700,000 (5,000,000) - (12,300,000) (7,400,000) -
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32. EQUITY-S

174

‘TTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. (uﬂs;%,»u#uﬂxm YA Z B X
#

For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE EANE=ZH=1—HILFEE
Outstanding and Lapsed  Reclassification Exercised  Outstanding and
exercisable as at on7July  of categories of on 14 April  exercisable as at
Category 1 April 2015 2015 grantee 2015 31 March 2016 Note
RZF—TE it B RZFE-RE
WH—H ZEIE “E-LE ZHETH
KR THER  ERZ AR M9A 0 H FAER

Kl K iS¢ EHE iy i liFi3

Directors [

Mr. Chan Yan Tak Bl e 500,000 - - - 500,000 (1)

Mr. Wong Mau Tai HRRESE 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 (1)

Mr. Foo Chi Ming &L 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - (1),(2)

Professor Ng Ka Ming RELBE 500,000 - - - 500,000 1)

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B g 500,000 - - - 500,000 (1)

Mr. Wei Jianan RAEEE 500,000 - (500,000) - - (1,03)

Subtotal it 12,000,000 - (5.500,000) - 6,500,000

Continuous Contracts BHEAH

Employee K& 13,500,000 - - (800,000 12,700,000 (1),4)

All other eligible participants fif A Rz ag 5,000,000 (5,000,000) 5,500,000 - 5,500,000 (2),3),5)

Total st 30,500,000 (5,000,000) - (800,000 24,700,000

Notes: B ST -

1. The share options are exercisable at any time during the period from 22 November 1. WS = A S o HERE
2013 until 21 November 2016 (both days inclusive). The exercise price of the share FE—RNEF+—AZ+—H (EHEERWE) W
option is HK$1.64. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on A0 0 AT AR IR T T A 08 o T TR MEA T 48 A
which the share options were granted was HK$1.68. The options were lapsed on 22 TR 1.64HETT o IR 5% e R I HESZ 1 B iy
November 2016. P9 AT 1 25 R e 1.68 6 T © M ARE A &

—ANET—HIZ T ZHR -

2. 5,000,000 share options held by Mr. Foo Chi Ming has been reclassified under the 2. 3R W 58 26 TR 25,000,000 B R HE 3
category of “all other eligible participants” following his resignation as an executive A F—NE— A — B BHEATE R T
director with effect from 1 January 2016. The options were lapsed on 30 April 2016. YRRy [T A& ik 2B | o %I RHE

CA T E—RAENH = HRRL -

3. 500,000 share options held by the late Mr. Wei Jianan, the former independent 3. A AR R e e 2 BRI = R
non-executive director, has been reclassified under the category of “all other At — A = — BT AT R > 2
eligible participants” as the share options are still exercisable by the legal personal T 7 I AT S A T R e A 4 #9.500,000
representative of Mr. Wei Jianan until 21 November 2016. 5 W RO REE S8 0 6 5y T T oAt 5 A 2 B

#]e

4. 800,000 share options granted to continuous contract employees were exercised 4. TR A 498 B 2.800,000 193 I B HES — %
on 14 April 2015. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was — AP H Y H CATEE o AEATEE H A
HKS$2.03. HEF- 14 AR 52,03 U6 7T ©
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

5. 5,000,000 share options were granted to a consultant on 7 July 2014 and are
exercisable at any time during the period from 7 July 2014 until 6 July 2015 (both
days inclusive). The exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the date on which these share options
were granted was HK$1.77 and HK$1.74 respectively. The options were lapsed on
7 July 2015.

6. 4,000,000 share options held by an employee has been reclassified under the
category of “all other eligible participants” following the resignation of an employee
with effect from 1 June 2016. The options were lapsed on 22 November 2016.

VA B B &5 5 DA A 248 2 Bl 52

5,000,000 3 H I it —F—PU4F£ L H %
TR o %R AREAT (] A
tHERRE T —HFELHANHIE (2
HRMK) o BERHE 2 4768 &AL 5 By
52 U MR 32 L T o A e T
177870 AR 74300 - S IERLREC Y =&
—HAELH BRI -

Z AR B T4 2 4,000,000 1§ BEHE B 7%
BN FE—NENH— Hﬁﬁﬁhfﬁaﬁﬁ%@
By T A HoAth 5 ks 28U | o %I IREC it

—ANAET-HIZ T HRR

ST E S - R A AR B XA A
&G 2 % 25,500,000 45 ~ 5,400,000 1
K 1,400,000 3 8§ I HE A —F —NFE+—H
Zh— B OEATE o AT H 2 InRET ik
18 52.45MH TG ©

7. 5,500,000 share options, 5,400,000 share options and 1,400,000 share options 7.
granted to directors, continuous contract employees and all other eligible participants
were exercised on 21 November 2016, respectively. The weighted average share
price at the date of exercise was HK$2.45.

S A AT o AR R0 AT BRI (3B ~ AT AL A R A
2 AR B AT L A28 5 1 A L R o

8. The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights 8.
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

i A M RS- 34T A A T

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as
follows:

2017 2016
R LA ZE AN
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average share average share
exercise price options exercise price options
fnkEF3 Jif e A JHET-Ey T PR HE
AT gE| AT HAE #HH
HKS per share HKS$ per share
5T BT
Outstanding at the beginning of the year — 4E) R AT# 1.64 24,700,000 1.66 30,500,000
Exercised during the year ENATH 1.64  (12,300,000) 1.64 (800,000)
Lapsed during the year FEINRAL 1.64  (12,400,000) 1.77 (5,000,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year R KA = = 1.64 24,700,000
Exercisable at the end of the year R A FTE — = 1.64 24,700,000
The options outstanding at 31 March 2016 had an exercise price of HK$1.64 WoFE—NEZH=1T—H » RI7fZE

JEEHE (A7 {4 5 1.64 05 90 > A ST 34 ) i
B E0.654F ©

and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.65 year.
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32.

29
Jed.

176

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted were calculated by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited using the Trinomial Option Pricing model which is one
of the commonly used models for such purpose. The value of an option
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any
changes in the variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation of

the fair value of an option. The inputs are as follows:

. DL RE &5 5 DL By 2 A =2 B 52

(%)

Sl B 2P R Bk

L 1% SR 2 1~ (BL T 5t 8 T A A PR
FBE L PR T — AR T R B = I
SR S MR R G o SRR (R (B B A
T BB R A AN [ B B ek B o PR T A2
S A g B T B L RS IO AT
ERIGSE sz BRI A BRI R

22 November

7 July 2014 2013

R It S Xia

Grant date B A tAtH +—HZ=+=H
Share price (HK$) JEEAE (5 0) 1.77 1.64
Exercise price (HK$) ATHAE (#570) 1.77 1.64
Expected life of share option (years) TEHA W T RE A RR (4F) 1 3
Expected volatility T T 33.20% 32.32%
Dividend yield IRIE R 2.41% 4.74%
Risk-free interest rate A ol g 1) R 0.15% 0.45%
Fair value per share option (HK$) By I JRERRE 22 28 (B (M6 oT) 0.2150 0.2779

Expected volatility was derived by reference to the volatilities of companies

operating in the same industry as the Company as sourced from Bloomberg.

At 31 March 2016, 24,700,000 share options were fully vested and
exercisable. 12,300,000 share options were exercised during the year ended
31 March 2017 and 12,400,000 share options were lapsed on 22 November
2016.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2017, the directors of the Company consider the ultimate
holding company of the companies comprising the Group is Able Island
Group Limited (“Able Island”), a company incorporated in the BVI. The
controlling shareholders of the Group are Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able
Island. The ultimate holding company does not produce financial statements

for public use.
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at the end of reporting period are as

34, B 24

RE IR > ERME AR Z RN

follows:
Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FhMbRaL AL AR CEAT R AT A Principal activities
Ea TR il TR A [ EAEpid TR
Direct Indirect
% S
% %
Noble State Holdings Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$11 100 - Investment holding
MR RARAR EREARE W IIESH PR
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Sale of health and beauty supplements
KA AT Fits T 15 4 Mt and products and provision of
general administrative services
SR DR S o JE i B
RO BATEURES
CULegend Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Trading of products under the
HPKREERERAR B Ld ezl proprietary brand of “LEGEND”
AL NGE ALV e
Eastern Bright (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Providing management services to
HHE (R A R e s L 1 it other Group companies
T A 5 R 8 PSR R HE A
Good Wealth Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 - 100 Trading of health supplements
i M 5 A RA R Hils Lo ordinary shares BERAEE
10,000/ ¥ it
Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary | ordinary share - 100 License holding
Company Limited itk @ 1 FEA R
P R A R 7]
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Manufacturing and sale of health and
Medicine Factory Limited s L 15 Mt beauty supplements and products
T DR A AR IR A R He TR B R SR TR E
Kiwi Lab International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 License holding
Company Limited Hils L 1R FHA R

ARVHRBARAR
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

178

34, FEMHE A E (4)

Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FEMbRr Bl HE R [GEZEYE ¢ AR EAY Principal activities
i RE i s | BB AGER HER AL ERE 37
Direct Indirect
% iEES
% %
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary USS1 - 100 Trademark holding
FEELts  a 157 FEA TR
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment
Limited i @ B @ ES8 Y
NEBBHRAT
Rich Sunny Investment Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment and
BEREARAT Hits gt 1B investment holding
Royal Medic Chinese Hong Kong Ordinary 3 ordinary shares - 100 Provision of Chinese medical
Medicine Clinic Limited il EiE 3 B consultation services and trading of
g s R T B A LA health products
SR R LA RS R IR A E 5
Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary 100 ordinary shares - 100 License holding
Limited i &a 100/ Ml FEF IR
s (B0 HIRA T
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment
Limited it bt lieizilie VB4
T () A7 PR )
Sunny Regent (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Providing management services to
FR (R A PR A Fits gl B8 other Group companies
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

34, FEE A E (4)

Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FEbARAL B R R CET R R ) HEA Principal activities
i R i TBBAGE SR BRI )
Direct Indirect
Hik fil £
% %
Super Pioneer Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary | ordinary share - 100 Providing management services to
Limited ik LeIm 14 e other Group companies
RS ERAERAT T A 5 1 e L IR
Wisdom Come Medical Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 101 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
Limited it EE 101 A BERR
HREEIARAR
Wisdom Healthcare Taiwan Registered NT10,000,000 - 100 Trading of health and beauty
Co., Limited 78 Ckfit 10,000,0007C supplements and products
R EFEEARA R ek TRIE R AR RAEME S
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary 2 ordinary shares - 100 Trading of health and beauty
Company Limited s L5 B A supplements and products,
B R R A provision of health food processing
services and investment holding
TRIE R AR A MRS~ R4
R E G T IRRs ot e I
s (R (L) The PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 - 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements
AR T Hr it 1,000,000 7t and products
SR ORA B A i DX
il (B2 5 R 1 The PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 - 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements
BRA R H Cakf 1,000,000¥ JG and products
S DRI SR A I
i Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise. # i3 LAl bPRE FRlIP RPN ¢/ ¥ERfoe
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35. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

180

ISSUED BUT NOT YE

T EFFECTIVE FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued
a number of amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2017 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to

the Group.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments'
Leases*

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration'

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Disclosure Initiative®
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle®

35. ME-F - LEZA=| N

1k 47 B2 C AR A H W R AR B 2 1B
EZ‘ETE ~ o R R e R 2 W)

WEAMBHERTE DD g gstiis
GOEMREE - F— 4 =A=+—H
LA e A A 8 L SIS A AN B 5 R 3R v R
AV A TE T BB E R o FLrp 4R LR A]
REDEA S FA B & -

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018,

as appropriate.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of
these amendments and new standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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36. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

36. 2] i i i B IR O

2017 2016
e
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
R 5E RN T
Non-current assets IR E
Investments in subsidiaries A NEIE S <y 38,561 38,551
Prepayments TN RIE 48 79
38,609 38,630
Current assets W
Prepayments and deposits TEAT I S 4z 5,408 436
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE WA B o 2 ) K TE 64,049 52,211
Cash and cash equivalents 4 MBS EY 80,868 80,090
150,325 132,737
Current liabilities £
Accruals JEGE R 3,284 2,229
Amount due to a subsidiary JREASH 5 88 2 v 3K TH 10 3,323
Tax payable JEEATBIIE 287 457
3,581 6,009
Net assets B 185,353 165,358
EQUITY RERS
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A<\ 7 #EA A MEAL HE #2
Share capital Jil&N 25(b) 5,286 5,163
Reserves =2 25(a) 180,067 160,195
TOTAL EQUITY RE 25 Ha % 185,353 165,358

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2017.

Chan Yan Tak
e S
Director

#HH

I e Sl e VA s hVANI S 1915

BeAZHEGE A o

Lim Ming Shing, Tony
PREE TR
Director

HH
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 37. W iR IR
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary (a) WU — [l Bt} g 2 )

On 9 January 2017, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party vendor, Saffron
Production Company Limited, to acquire the entire interest of Star
Root Limited (“Star Root”), a company incorporated in the BVI, at
a cash consideration of HK$50,000,000. Star Root and its subsidiary
are principally engaged in the online advertising agency business. The
management considers that such acquisition will enable the Group
to partner with and access to an online information platform in Hong
Kong and PRC to expand the sales and advertising channels for the
Group’s products, provide an additional income and cash flow stream
for the Group and further diversify the Group’s overall business.
The acquisition was completed on 13 April 2017. As the acquisition
completed in less than three months before the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, it is not practicable to

complete the initial accounting for the business combination.

Details of the acquisition of Star Root are set out in the Company’s

announcements dated 9 January 2017 and 18 April 2017 respectively.

Memorandum of understanding of the acquisition of
the equity interest in a company incorporated in the
BVI

On 11 April 2017, the Company entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with potential vendors (the “Potential
Vendors”) for the acquisition of the entire or partial equity interest
in a company established in the BVI with limited liability (the
“Target Company”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Target Group”).
The Company and the Potential Vendors shall negotiate with one
another on the amount and payment terms of the consideration of the
acquisition in the formal agreement. The Target Group is principally
engaged in the business of service provision of the WeChat Pay
Cross-Border Solutions to Tenpay, an integrated online payment
platform, and the retail merchants in Hong Kong. Up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, there is no formal

agreement signed and the transaction is not yet completed.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 11
April 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 # % =& — L= H =+ —H L4

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Placing of convertible bonds

On 24 April 2017, the Company and Wealth Link Securities Limited
(the “Placing Agent”), entered into a placing agreement pursuant
to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed to procure,
on the best efforts basis, placees to subscribe for the convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,000,000
at the conversion price of HK$4.65 and the conversion price of any
outstanding convertible bonds on the date of the first anniversary of
the date of issue of the convertible bonds shall be reset to HK$4.00.
On 9 May 2017 and 31 May 2017, the Company and the Placing
Agent entered into a supplemental placing agreement and a second
supplemental agreement respectively to amend certain terms of the

Placing Agreement.

The placing of convertible bonds was not completed up to the date of

approval of these consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

bt 765 Bt 22

RESULTS e
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
TR TR PR DR —HAE DB —NIE B L
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TFioc T TFioo Tt SR
Revenue Wi 163,767 169,684 227,677 189,958 220,853
Profit before taxation ER IRl 46,484 447 39,915 14,735 15,640
Taxation FiIE (7,220) (6,180) (8,394) (4,314) (3,817)
Profit/(loss) for the year AL (R R) 39,264 (5,733) 31,521 10,421 11,823
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AN\ Gl #EA AJELS
owners of the Company ERNEF (ETE) 39,264 (5,733) 31,521 10,421 12,746
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & KRR
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
TR PR DB —HAE B —NIE B
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Fis o Tt Tt Tt SR
Total assets Ry 82,929 186,589 209,743 234,460 266,084
Total liabilities HAE (44,378) (18,458) (28,830) (55,080) (52,460)
Total equity T 25 HAR 38,551 168,131 180,913 179,380 213,624
Equity attributable to owners of ARNFHER N
the Company REGEHEDS 38,551 168,131 180,913 179,380 212,044

Note: The figures for the year ended 31 March 2013 have been extracted from the Prospectus.
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